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Chairman’s Statement

ERHE

The financial year ended 31 March 2012 was a disappointing one for
Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited (the “Group”) with negative financial
performance and a significant decline in the Group’s share price.

These results were due to various company specific and global market
events.

The cancellation of the tree felling project in Rondonia State, Brazil was
particularly impactful and led to a profit warning announcement on 26 June
2012.

A general and significant economic slowdown in the BRIC countries in 2012
contributed to a decline in timber prices and market demand for timber and
timber products. China is the largest market for the Group and a prolonged
economic slowdown there may continue to have an adverse affect on levels
of trading and profitability.

The acquisition of Susfor New Oasis (“Susfor New Oasis”) in Zhongshan,
China was completed on 2 August 2011 and consideration was contingent
on meeting a stipulated net profit guarantee. Susfor New Oasis incurred a
net loss for the financial year ended 31 March 2012 missing the net profit
guarantee provided by the vendor.

Management has significantly reduced staffing levels worldwide and is
aggressively implementing further overhead reduction measures. Separately,
new investments in forestry assets have been halted.

The outlook for the balance of fiscal 2013 remains challenging. The
Group will continue to trim overhead, streamline its business focus
and divest unprofitable businesses to endure the demanding times
that lie ahead. The Group’s objectives are to position its business to
improve upon its 2011/2012 results through a meaningfully leaner cost
structure and ultimately a heightened focus on core businesses.
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Financial Highlights

MBEHE

2012 2011 Changes
—E——F —2—F BIRE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Operating results reE
Continuing operations BESEER
Revenue WA 115,616 866,655 (86.7%)
Gross (loss)/profit (E8) /EF (2,807) 504,499 (100.6%)
Discontinued operations BRIEEL
Revenue WA i 2 A
Gross loss =20 3 it i
(Loss)/profit attributable to the owners  Z&A T #HEAE A B
of the Company (E8) R (2,327,909) 341,486 (781.7%)
Financial position at year end RERE B 2B BARR
Property, plant and equipment M - BB MR 213,306 231,846 (8.0%)
Biological assets EYEE 913,049 1:173,150 (22.2%)
Goodwill RS 302,118 1,686,883 (82.1%)
Cash and cash equivalents HeRESZEY 7,760 23,679 (67.2%)
Net current assets mENEEFE 6,175 726,848 (99.2%)
Total assets BB E 1,727,833 4,186,991 (58.7%)
Total interest bearing borrowings from BB RETE
independent third parties BEmEE 25,639 18,768 36.6%
Total interest bearing borrowings from A% ER K2,k RE A A
shareholders and/or related companies FREEREE 219,439 137,915 59.1%
Total liabilities wafE 852,438 930,622 (8.4%)
Equity attributable to the owners ZIN/NETEZ SN
of the Company Gz R 875,309 3,256,293 (73.1%)
Per share information FRER
Basic (loss)/earnings per share BREAR(ER) BT
(Hong Kong cents) (&)
Continuing operations FREREXT (41.27) cents 1l 10.30 cents Il (500.7%)
Continuing and discontinued FELEEEE R
operations B4R EEFE (41.19) cents il - 9.86 cents Il (617.7%)
Net asset value per share SREEFRE 13.1cents{li  72.1 cents 1] (81.8%)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE DN

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 March 2012, revenue and net (loss)/profit after tax
decreased to HK$115.6 million and HK$2,327.9 million from HK$866.7
million and HK$341.5 million, respectively from the year before. The total
revenue consisted primarily of sales of forestry and timber products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Brazil

Rondonia

The Group provided tree felling services to hydropower plant under
construction in Rondonia, Brazil since the second half of the financial year
ended 31 March 2010. On 20 October 2011 and 7 November 2011, the
Group made public announcements that it had reported to Policia Civil do
Estado de Sao Paulo (Sao Paulo State Police Department) and to Hong Kong
Police Force that it and its employees had been receiving extortion threats
in Brazil from a working party. The working party also published and/or
procured the publication on the internet and other media serious accusations
regarding its integrity. The disputes with the working party escalated to the
denial of access 1o the sites of the hydropower plant in September 2011. As
a result, we wrote off HK$335.6 million of inventory and accounts receivables
related to the sales of logs kept at the hydropower plant.

The working party continued his extortions through constant threats and
harassments to our employees and local business partners. On 19 April 2012,
articles again containing serious accusations against the Group regarding
its operation and transactions in Brazil were printed by some newspapers
and the internet. These articles were subsequently circulated via emails by
the working party to the Group’s employees as well as outside third parties.
Essentially, the threats and harassments spread beyond Rondonia to all of
our operations in Brazil.

Acre

The continued extortion threats, publication of articles and constant
disturbances to our staff made the operating environment in Brazil difficult,
adverse and hostile for the Group and our staff. As a result, the board
decided to defer its forest operations in Acre State until it is appropriate and
safe for our staff and us.

As a result of deferral, decline in market prices of timber and remeasurement
of allowable area, we recorded an impairment to the goodwill HK$1,384.8
million. In addition, there was a non-cash loss on revaluation of the biological
asset in Acre of HK$150.4 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBEN MR DN

China

China is the world’s largest consumer and importer of timber and logs and
it continues to be the primary market for our forestry and timber products.
During the year ended 31 March 2012, 95% of the total revenue was derived
from sales to customers in China.

Susfor-Oasis Timber (Zhongshan) Company Limited (“Susfor-Oasis”), is a
wholly owned subsidiary acquired in 2011 with contingent consideration of
769,230,769 shares of the Company. The consideration was divided into
three tranches with the first tranche of 100,000,000 shares issued at closing,
280,000,000 shares also issued at closing but held by the Company and to
be released to the vendor upon meeting a net profit guarantee. The remaining
balance or third tranche of the consideration shares will be issued when the
net profit guarantee is met also. The vendor guaranteed that audited net profit
after tax on IFRS basis will not be less than HK$300,000,000 for the three
years after completion, and that Susfor-Oasis would not incur any net losses
for each of three financial years immediately after completion. For the financial
year ended 31 March 2012, Susfor-Oasis had a net loss of HK$18.2 million.
As such, the net profit guarantee by the vendor was not met.

Amongst other factors, the Group was interested in Susfor-Oasis primarily
due to its extensive experience and portfolio of developers as clients. The
Group also saw potential in developing a retail franchise network selling
flooring products in China and the operation of a wholesale timber exchange
in Zhongshan. The slow down of the economy and the sharp drop in
demand for timber products in China caused Susfor-Oasis to substantially
underperform than expectations. The Group considers that the value of
the assets related to Susfor-Oasis suffered impairment and recorded net
loss of HK$41.9 million (comprising waiver. of contingent consideration
payable of HK$71.2 million, reversal of deferred tax liabilities of HK$11.9
million, recognition of impairment loss on goodwill of HK$77.4 million, and
recognition of impairment loss and amortization on intangible assets totalling
HK$47.6 million) related to this acquisition.

OUTLOOK

Uncertain market conditions and further slow down of major economies
overlay the Group’s outlook for the near future. Market demand and timber
prices dropped significantly since the beginning of the year in 2012. In the
capital market, plagued by a number of listed forestry companies that have
undergone regulatory investigations or reviews recently, forestry companies
are facing increasing challenges in raising capital.

In light of the above, the Group is carrying out aggressive cost cutting
measures and is refocusing on turning around its operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR DM

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had cash and cash equivalents that
amounted to HK$7.8 million (2011: HK$23.7 million).

The Group’s gearing ratio expressed as a percentage of total interest béaring
borrowings (including all interest bearing borrowings from shareholders and/
or related companies), excluding the interest bearing borrowings classified
under liabilities held for sale, over equity attributable to the owners of the
Company, increased from 4.8% as at 31 March 2011 to 28% as at 31 March
2012.

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had HK$25.6 million (2011; HK$18.8
million) in interest bearing borrowings from independent third parties, of which
HK$25.4 million were repayable within one year and the remaining HK$0.2
million were repayable after one year. The total interest bearing borrowings
from independent third parties consisted of HK$25.2 million in bank and other
borrowings and HK$0.4 million in finance leases payable. As at 31 March
2012, the Group’s working capital was approximately HK$6.2 million (2011:
HK$726.8 million). In addition, interest bearing borrowings from shareholders
and related companies totaled HK$219.4 million and HK$137.9 million for the
years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2012, general banking facilities granted to the Group which
were secured by property, plant-and equipment of the Group with a carrying
value of HK$0.7 million.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group’s contingent liabilities at 31 March 2012 are disclosed in Note 46
to the consolidated financial statements.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s continuing operation mainly-operates in Brazil, China and Hong
Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, revenue from continuing operations
was denominated mainly in Renminbi while its costs and expenses were
primarily in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars and Brazilian- Reais where the
Group’s continuing operations are based. The Group is exposed to potential
foreign exchange risk as a result of fluctuations between those currencies that
are not pegged.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBEN MR DN

In addition, the main operational assets of the Group are located and
denominated in local currencies in Brazil and China while the Group’s
reporting currency is in Hong Kong dollars. This also exposes the Group
to potential foreign exchange risk upon translation of those assets on each
reporting date.

The Group did not enter into any arrangements or financial instruments for
the purpose of hedging against the potential foreign exchange risks during
the year under review. Management believes that the Group’s exposure
to foreign exchange risks are minimal since Renminbi has been in strength
while Reais have been weakening somewhat against US dollars during the
current period. In the event that Reais were to rise substantially against US
dollars, the risk can be mitigated by increasing local sales denominated in
Reais. As for the operational assets of the Group, any foreign exchange gain
or losses due to translation of the carrying value of the assets to the Group’s
reporting currency on reporting dates are unrealised and non-cash in nature.
As such, active hedging activities are not considered warranted. Nonetheless,
management will monitor closely its foreign currency exposure to ensure
appropriate measures are taken promptly against any significant potential
adverse impact.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had approximately 450 employees
(2011: 100) mainly in Hong Kong, China, Brazil, Russia and USA. The total
remuneration paid by the Group to its employees (including directors) for the
year was approximately HK$50.3 million (2011: HK$53.2 million).

The Group rewards its employees according to prevailing market practices,
individual experience, performance and requirements under applicable
labor laws in the Group’s operational locations. In addition to the provision
of annual bonus, provident fund scheme and medical insurance coverage,
discretionary bonuses and share options are also available to employees.
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Report of Directors

EEEHH

The board of directors (“Board”) of Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited
(“Company”) has pleasure in presenting to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) its annual report together with the audited financial statements
of the Company and its' subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries of the Company comprise tree felling service,
sustainable forest management and investment; trading and sales of forestry
and timber products; manufacturing and sales of timber products. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 March 2012 by
geographical and business segments is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2012 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 44.

The Board does not recommend payment of final dividend for the year ended
31 March 2012 (2011: HKO.45 cent per ordinary share and HK0.084 cent per
convertible preferred share).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the results and the financial position of the- Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 188.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS AND PROPERTY, PLANTS
AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the biological assets and property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in notes 21 and 19 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the
Company (“Bye-laws”) or laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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Report of Directors

EEEHE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2012.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in note 41 to the consolidated financial statement-and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

On 31 March 2012, the aggregate amount of reserves available for the
distribution to owner of the Company calculated in accordance with the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended) was HK$492,601,000 (2011:
HK$2,111,312,000).

DONATIONS
The Group made charitable donations of HK$30,000 during the year.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors (“Executive Director(s)”)
Ms. LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine
Ms. FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy
Mr. LI Zhixiong
(appointed on 2 September 2011)
Mr. LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel
(re-designated as Executive Director on 4 November 2011)
Mr. SHIH Chiu, David
(appointed on 12 July 2011 and resigned on 30 September 2012)

Non-Executive Directors (“Non-Executive Director(s)”)
Mr. NG Tik Hong
(resigned on 11 July 2011)
Mr. LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul
(re-designated as Non-Executive Director on 6 April 2011 and
resigned on 23 December 2011)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(“Independent Non-Executive Director(s)”)
Mr. LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel
(resigned on 4 November 2011)
Mr. John Tewksbury BANIGAN (Chairman)
Mr. KEUNG Paul Hinsum
Mr. Donald Smith WORTHLEY
(appointed on 4 November 2011)
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Report of Directors

EEEHH

In accordance with Bye-law 87(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. John Tewksbury
BANIGAN shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (‘“AGM”) of the Company and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM.

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. LI Zhixiong, Mr.
LEUNG Siu'Hung, Joel and Mr. Donald Smith WORTHLEY, who have been
appointed or re-designated as Directors after the last AGM, shall hold office
until the forthcoming AGM. All the above Directors, being eligible, will offer
themselves for.re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-Executive Director
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the Company
considered all of them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Other than statutory compensation, no Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 25 t0-29.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had engaged in or were interested in any business
which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group during the year.
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Report of Directors

EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2012, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong, “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of the SFO;
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code (“Model Code”) for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the
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Listing Rules, were as follows:

Number and
class of shares
and underlying

Approximate
percentage of
issued shares

shares held HERTRSE
s R BABD
Name of Directors Nature of interest rHER M 2 (Note 1)
EEgE HEME BB XEH (Hfat 1)
Ms. LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine Beneficial owner 4,300,000 0.064%
(“Ms. Loh”) (Note 2) EnEaA
BRELL ([ R+ ])(H72) Interest of controlled corporation 1,942,274,063 28.979%
RiEHEE 2
Ms. FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy Interest of controlled corporation 31,421,710 0.469%
(“Ms. Fletcher”) (Note 3) SEEtLEE 2
EE B ([ELL D (MF3)
Mr. LI Zhixiong Beneficial owner 769,230,769 11.477%
(“Mr. Li") (Note 4) EnEaA
FEMRE ([FRE] (Ht4)
Mr. LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel Beneficial owner 2,042,171 0.030%
(“Mr. Leung”) (Note 5) BEEBEAA
RiaEeE ([ REE ) (AHaE5)
Mr. SHIH Chiu, David Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.045%
(“Mr. Shih”) (Note 6) EmEAA
meRkSEAE ([ & D) (B17E6)
Mr. John Tewksbury BANIGAN Beneficial owner 2,042,171 0.030%
(“Mr. Banigan”) (Note 7) En#EAA
John Tewksbury BANIGAN 5t 4=
([Banigan £ 4 1) (K17E 7)
Mr. KEUNG Paul Hinsum Interest of controlled corporation 15,334,820 0.229%
(“Mr. Keung”) (Note 8) AR 2 s
EZRmEE(EhE]D (HES)
Mr. Donald Smith WORTHLEY Beneficial owner 15,334,820 0.229%

(“Mr. Worthley”) (Note 9)
Donald Smith WORTHLEY 4t 4
(TWorthley 554 1) (H1a£9)
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Report of Directors

EEEHH

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Notes:

it

The percentage figures were calculated based on 6,702,364,335 ordinary:-shares
(“Shares”) of the Company having a par value of HK$0.0533 each in issue as of 31
March 2012.

Ms. Loh was beneficially interested in 100% of the issued share capital of Assure Gain
International Limited (“Assure Gain”), which held 100% of the issued share capital
of Winner Global Holdings Limited (“Winner Global”) and Splendid Asset Holdings
Limited (“Splendid Asset”) respectively. Ms. Loh was also beneficially interested
in 50% of the issued share capital of Corp Insights Holdings Inc. (“Corp Insights”)
held through Corporate Insights Limited. Assure Gain was the registered holder of
1,006,762,347 Shares and 1,208,013,390 convertible preferred shares (“CPS”) of
the Company convertible into 226,502,510 underlying. Shares; Winner Global was the
registered holder of 320,041,100 Shares; Splendid Asset was the registered holder of
331,100,463 Shares; and Corp Insights was the registered holder of 308,627,424 CPS
convertible into 57,867,642 underlying Shares. Under Part XV of the' SFO, Ms. Loh
was therefore deemed to have interests in 1,657,903,910 Shares and 284,370,152
underlying Shares. upon conversion of the CPS in which Assure Gain, Winner Global,
Splendid Asset and Corp Insights were interested. Ms. Loh was also entitled to share
options to subscribe for a maximum of 4,300,000 Shares upon exercise of the options
in full.

Ms. Fletcher was beneficially interested in 100% of the issued share capital of AMF
Vietnam Investments Limited (“AMF”). AMF was entitled to share options to subscribe
for a maximum of 31,421,710 Shares upon exercise of the options in full. Ms. Fletcher
was therefore deemed to have an interest in 31,421,710 Shares in which AMF was
interested under Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Li was the registered holder of 380,000,000 Shares. He was also beneficially
interested in an additional 389,230,769 underlying Shares which may be allotted and
issued by the Company to Mr. Li subject to the terms and conditions of an acquisition
agreement entered into between, among other party, the Company and Mr. Li on 21
March 2011 (details of which are set out in a circular of the Company dated 23 May
2011).

Mr. Leung was entitled to share options to subscribe for a maximum of 2,042,171
Shares upon exercise of the options in full.

Mr. Shih was entitled to share options to subscribe for a maximum of 3,000,000
Shares upon exercise of the options in full. Mr. Shih ceased to be a Director on 30
September 2012.

Mr. Banigan was entitled to share options to subscribe for-a maximum of 2,042,171
Shares upon exercise of the options in full.

Mr. Keung was beneficially interested in 80% of the issued share capital of Million
Great Investment Limited (“Million Great”), Million Great was the registered holder
of 81,785,711 CPS convertible into 15,334,820 underlying Shares. Mr. Keung was
therefore deemed to have an interest in 15,334,820 underlying Shares in which Million
Great was interested under Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Worthley was the registered holder of 81,785,711 CPS carrying rights to convert
into 15,334,820 underlying Shares.

All interests stated above as at 31 March 2012 represented long positions of Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2012, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model

Code.
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Report of Directors

EEEHE

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
AND OTHER PERSONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2012, the following persons, other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company, had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would be required to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

FERRKE
MR A7z fEsh
METLT S eh By e R AN E
SITBABSN » AT AR 2 7] £ 3 A8 R ik
e - BARBESRBPEGRGIEXVEE2RE
BV IGXARMARRRKE KB RELLRA
RiIEB 5 MG HRAIFE B IFAFEZERLMZ
REEIORR AT -

Hib A TR 5 K A2

Number and
class of Shares
and underlying

Approximate
percentage of
issued Shares

Shares held HERITRG
FisRo R BMABDL
Name of Shareholders Nature of interest HERBZ (Note 1)
BREREEEE EatE B RER (Btat 1)
Mr. LAU Jack (“Mr. Lau”) (Note 2) Interest of spouse 1,946,574,063 29.04%
BRE(BEE]) (HF2) fe B
Assure Gain (Note 3) Beneficial owner/ 1,884,406,420 28.12%
Assure Gain (B1:£3) Interest of controlled corporation
BEnlA AN/ ZEHEE 2 s
Ms. WU Guanwen (“Ms. Wu”) (Note 4) Interest of spouse 769,230,769 11.48%
KRB ([ Rt ) (Met4) Al
NWS Financial Management Services Beneficial owner 404,102,500 6.03%
Limited (“NWS Financial’) (Note 5) EREEA
NWS Financial Management Services
Limited ([ NWS Financial |) (A% 5)
Integrated Asset Management Beneficial owner 437,581,867 6.53%

(Asia) Limited (“IAM”) (Note 6)
Integrated Asset Management
(Asia) Limited ([1AM) (K% 6)

EnlEEA
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Report of Directors

EEEHH

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
AND OTHER PERSONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Notes:

i~

016

The percentage figures were calculated based on 6,702,364,335 Shares in issue as of
31 March 2012

Mr.:Lau, being the spouse of Ms. Loh, was deemed to have an interest in the same
parcel of the Shares and underlying Shares in which Ms. Loh was interested under
Part XV of the SFO.

Assure Gain held 100% of the issued share capital of Winner Global and Splendid
Asset respectively. Assure Gain was the registered holder of 1,006,762,347 Shares
and 1,208,013,390 CPS convertible into 226,502,510 underlying Shares; Winner
Global was the registered holder of 320,041,100 Shares and Splendid Asset was the
registered holder of 331,100,463 Shares. Under Part XV of the SFO, Assure Gain
was therefore interested and deemed to have interests in 1,657,903,910 Shares and
226,502,510 underlying Shares in which itself, Winner Global and Splendid Asset were
interested.

Ms. Wu, being the spouse of Mr. Li, was deemed to have an interest in the same
parcel of the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr. Li was interested under Part
XV of the SFO.

(i) NWS Service Management Limited (incorporated in British Virgin Islands)
(“NWS Service (BVI)”) owned 100% interest in the issued share capital of NWS
Financial, and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which
NWS Financial was interested.

(i) NWS Service Management Limited (incorporated in Cayman Islands) (‘NWS
Service (Cayman)”) owned 100% interest in the issued share capital of NWS
Service (BVI), and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in
which NWS Service (BVI) was interested.

(iii) NWS Holdings Limited (“NWS-Holdings”) owned 100% interest in the issued
share capital of NWS Service (Cayman), and was therefore deemed to have an
interest in the Shares in which NWS Service (Cayman) was interested.

(iv) New World Development Company Limited (“New World”) owned 60.10%
interest in the issued share capital of NWS Holdings, and was therefore
deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which NWS Holdings was
interested.

(v) Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited (“Chow Tai Fook”) owned 42.11% interest
in the issued share capital of New World, and was therefore deemed to have
an interest in the Shares in which New World was interested.

(Vi) Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited (“CTF Holding”) owned 100% interest in the
issued share capital of Chow Tai Fook, and was therefore deemed to have an
interest in the Shares in which Chow Tai Fook was interested.

(vii) Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited (“CTF Capital”’) owned 74.07% interest in the
issued share capital of CTF Holding, and was therefore deemed to have an
interest in the Shares in which CTF Holding was interested.

(i)~ Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited (“CYTF”) and Cheng Yu Tung Family
(Holdings 1l) Limited (“CYTF I”) owned 48.98% and 46.65% interest in the
issued share capital of CTF Capital respectively, and CYTF and CYTF Il were
therefore deemed to have interests in the Shares in which CTF Capital was
interested.

Mr. Yam Tak Cheung owned 100% interested in the issued share capital of IAM, and
was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which IAM was interested.

All interests stated.above as.at 31 March 2012 represented long positions of Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company.
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Report of Directors

EEEHE

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
AND OTHER PERSONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2012, the Company had not been
notified of any other persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company which would be required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares” above, during
the year ended 31 March 2012, none of the Director nor the chief executive
of the Company had been granted any right to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporation and none of the Directors, their respective spouses nor their
respective children under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe for the
securities of the Company or had exercised any such rights.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the Shareholders on
27 November 2009 (“Share Option Scheme”), the Company may grant
share options to the directors, employees, executive or officers, managers,
consultants, any customers, suppliers of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any entity: in-which any member of the Group holds any equity
interests (“Invested Entity”) who, in the sole discretion of the Board have
contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the Group,
to provide incentives or rewards for their contribution to the success of the
Group’s operation.

During the year, the movements in the share options under the Share Option
Scheme were as follows:
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Number of share options
BRER
Outstanding Outstanding
at 1 April at 31 March
2011 2012 Exercise
Nature of R-E--§ K=B-=F price
Name interest nA-A Granted Exercised Lapsed =A=1—-H Dateof grant Exercise period per share
i3] BiitE WA R Bt BAN WATE  RAAH (i3] BRTEE
(HKS)
(B%)
Pjrectors
Ms. LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine Personal 1,433,333 - - - 1,433,333 18 February 2011 16 December 2011 to ”HK$0‘420
ERETTL fEA —Z-—£-A+/\R 17 February 2021 042070
= R S
2 -%ZA+tA
Personal 1,433,333 = = = 1,433,333 18 February 2011 16 December 201210 HK$0420
faA —2——%_A+NH 17 February 2021 BE0.4207
ZB-CETRTARE
“2--%-A+tA
Personal 1,483,334 - - - 1,433,334 18 February 2011 16 December 2013 to ”HK$O‘420
A - S L 1N 17 February 2021 AR0.4207C
e
Z2C-%-AttA
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a
SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BRESTE
Number of share options
BhiEsA
Outstanding Outstanding
at 1 April at.31 March
2011 2012 Exercise
Nature of R=Z--& R=B8-ZF price
Name interest A-H Granted Exercised Lapsed =A=t-H Dateof grant Exercise period per share
#e R&ME WA [&5:4 Bk BAN WA RAAS fitid ] BRiKE
(HKS)
(B%)
Directors (continued)
E5(5)
Ms. FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy. - Interest of 5,105,428 - = = 5105428 13 January 2010 15 July 2010 to HK$0.940
FEFLE controled —Z-T5-At=H 12 January 2020 AE0.9407
corporation I e

%gm&sz —2-TE-A+CH

Interest of 5,105,427 o 2 - 5105427 13 January 2010 15.July 2011 to HK$0.940
controlled ~Z-%5-A+=H 12 January 2020 A5 0.9407C
corporation “2+#LA+7AEZ

REHEEZ S2oRE-RrH
{45

Interest of 5,106,427 - = = 5,105,427 .7 May 2010 15 July.2010 to HK$0.710
controlled —E-ZFRA+A 6 May 2020 07107
corporation “Z-ZELA+RRR

REHEE L ZZITFRARA
s

Interest of 5,105,428 - - - 5,105428' . 7May2010 15 July 2011 to HK$0.710
controlled Z3-F¢RALA 6 May 2020 AEOTI0T
corporation “2—=%tAtHAZE

REHEE 2 i S N
&

Interest of 11,000,000 - = — 11,000,000 14 September 2010 14 September 2010 to HK$0.375
controlled ZZ-SENATEA 27 November 2019 BE0375T
corporation “Z-ZEARTHAR

REHEE ZE-n#E+-A=TtH
i

Mr. LEUNG SiuHung, Joel Personal 680,723 = = = 680,723 - 7May 2010 7May 2011 to HK$0.710
(*Mr, Leung) A —Z2-TFRALH 6 May 2020 BEOTI0T
LR “Z-—-£RAtHE
(53] ZT-ZERARA
Personal 680,724 = - = 680,724 * 7May 2010 7 May 201210 HK$0.710
A ZZ-ZFERALH 6 May 2020 BE0T0T
“E-“ERAtAZ
“2CTERARA
Personal 680,724 = = - 680,724 - 7 May 2010 7 May 201310 HK$0.710
A “3-TERALA 6 May 2020 07107
“Z-ZERAtTHR

018 KRMEZRBRAD A
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

B RERE (e

Number of share options
BRiEsA
Outstanding Outstanding
at 1 April at 31 March
2011 2012 Exercise
Nature of R=B-—-% K=B-Z§ price
Name interest A-H Granted Exercised Lapsed =HA=1-H  Dateof grant Exercise period per share
#e R&ME WA & Bt BAN HATE  RAAH s §ﬁﬁﬁ§
(HKS)
(%)
Directors (continued)
E2(8)
Mr. SHIH Chiu, David Personal 333,333 - - - 333,333 13 January 2010 13 January 2011 to HK$0.940
(‘Mr. Shih’) (Note 1) fBA —“2-%F-A+=AR 12 January 2020 %0940
i3 B %1 =RE
(T (Wit 1) =3-Z%-A+zA
Personal 333,333 - - - 338,333 - 13 January 2010 18 January 2012 to HK$0.940
(EIN ZZ2-24-A+=H 12 January 2020 %0407
ZE-ZE-fT=HZ
=2 T4-AT=H
Personal 333,334 - - - 333,334 13 January 2010 13 January 2013 to HK$0.940
fBA =E-TE-A+=H 12 January 2020 %0940
Personal 333,333 - - = 333,333 7 May 2010 13 January 2011 to HK$0.710
fBA ZT-ZERALR 6 May 2020 B0
SATEEE
2 *Eﬂﬁ /\\ E
Personal 333,333 - - - 338,333 7 May2010 18 January 2012 to HK$0.710
(DN “Z-TERALH 6 May 2020 BEOTI0T
SRS B EER
ZRCZERARR
Personal 333,334 - - - 333,334 7May2010 13 January 2013 to HK$0.710
(EIN =2-TFHALH 6 May 2020 BEOTI0T
CE--E=At-FE
ZZZZERARA
Personal 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 14 September 2010 14 September 2010 to HK$0.375
A Z2-TENATHA 27 November 2019 BE0375T
“E-TFNATMAZE
ZE-NET-A=+tA
Mr. John Tewksbury BANIGAN Personal 680,723 = = - 680,723 13 January 2010 13 January 2011 to HK$0.940
John Tewksbury BANGAN 24~ fEA “2-TE-At=H 12 January 2020 BH0.9407T
I S )
i S
Personal 680,724 - - - 680,724 - 13 January 2010 18 January 2012 to HK$0.940
faA —Z-Z%-A+=R 12 January 2020 BEE09407
Personal 680,724 - - - 680,724 13 January 2010 18 January 2013 to HK$0.940
fEA —2-F%-A1=H 12 January 2020 09407
o= e
ZZ-%%-AtzH
Sub-total 42,806,052 - - — 42,806,052
it
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%%‘l’%ﬂ (#8)
Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
at 1 April at31 March
2011 2012 Exercise
Nature of RZB—-% R=B-Z% price
Name interest MA-H Granted  Exercised Lapsed ZA=1—-H Dateof grant Exercise period per share
#e BRitE MR BRI 2y BAM HATHE  RAAH e SRTKE
(HKS)
(%)
Employees and other 8,209,536 = - (7,313,906) 895,630 13 January 2010 13 January 2011 to HK$0.940
participants (Note) —5-T%-A+=H 12 January 2020 BE09407
EEREMSEE (Hi) S E-Aa R
ZZ-2E-A+ZH
8,209,535 £ - (7.313904) 895,631 13 January 2010 13 January 2012 10 HK$0.940
—£-T5-A+=H 12 January 2020 BE09407
St 2o e =
ZZ=25-A+=H
8,209,533 - = (7,313,900 895,633 13 January 2010 13 January 2013 1o HK$0.940
-Z2-T5-A+=H 12 January 2020 BE0940T
“E-=f-ft-HZ
“ZZZ5-A+ZH
2,000,000 = — .. (2,000,000 —  7May2010 7 November 2010 to HK$0.710
—Z-SERALH 6 May 2020 BEOHOT
—E-Z6T-RtHE
ZZCEERARE
3,348,079 - = - (2515,141) 832,038 7May 2010 13 January 2011 to HK$0.710
“Z-ZSFEHALA 6 May 2020 BEOT0T
CESESHETER
ZZCZERARE
2,191,688 - = (2046759 144935 7 May 2010 7 May 2011 to HK$0.710
“Z-ZERALH 6 May 2020 B0
ZZ--FRA+HZ
ZZZEERARA
1,646,271 - - (813,333) 832,938 - 7 May 2010 13 January 2012 to HK$0.710
ZZ2-TFRALA 6 May 2020 BEOTI0
B8R t=H%E
ZZZZERARA
2,191,688 - = (2046759 144,935 7 May 2010 7 May 2012 to HK$0.710
“Z-TFRALH 6 May 2020 BE00T
“E-"ERATHE
ZZ-ZERARR
1,646,277 - - (813,335) 832942 7 May 2010 13 January 2013 10 HK$0.710
“T-SERALA 6 May 2020 B0
et o e o
ZZ-TERARA
2,191,690 - — (2,046,755 144,935 7 May 2010 7 May 2013 to HK$0.710
“Z-SFRA+H 6 May 2020 B0
“E-FERAHAR
ZZZZERARA
57,842,500 - (190,000) - (6,100,000) 51,552,500 14 September 2010 14 September 2010 to HK$0.375
—Z-TENATEA 27 November 2019 B%03757
ZE-ZENATRAR
ZE-NET=ACTER
1,701,809 - — (1,701,809 — 18 February 2011 30June 2011 to HK$0.420
—Z--%-AtNH 17 February 2021 BE04207
“E——§XA=THE
ZZ=F-f1£R
273,529 - - (273,529) — 18 February 2011 31 July 2011 to HK$0.420
—T--#-ftNH 17 February 2021 BE04207T
S s
ZZZ-E-R++H
266,666 = - (266,666) ~ 18 February 2011 5 December 2011 to HK$0.420
—Z-—&-A+\H 17 February 2021 B%04207
2 s =)
“Z=-f-R++H
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BRESTE e
Number of share options
BlREsA
Outstanding Outstanding
at 1 April at 31 March
2011 2012 Exercise
Nature of R=B--§ R=8-Z§ price
Name interest A—-H Granted Exercised Lapsed =A=t-H  Dateof grant Exercise period per share
#E RaME WA 254 Bk BAM HATE  RUAH s ﬁ&ﬁﬁ%
(HKS)
(B%)
Employees and other 333,333 - - (333,333) — 18 Febrary 2011 2 January 2012 to HK$0.420
participants (Note) (continued) —Z--FZA+/\H 17 February 2021 BE 042078
EEREM2EE (i) (8) =T-_§-AZHZ
:2: E-AT4A
433,333 - - (433,333) — 18 February 2011 9 January 2012 to HK$0.420
ZT-—5ZAtNH 17 February 2021 04207
“E-ZE-ANHE
:2: EZATLR
1,701,809 - - (1,701,809) — 18 February 2011 30 June 2012 to HK$0.420
ZE-—£CR1NA 17 February 2021 04207
SZ-—ENAETHE
B -%-A++A
273,529 - - (273,529) — 18 February 2011 31 July 20120 HK$0.420
Z2-—%-A+NH 17 February 2021 04207
HEL SRR R
:Z: EZATER
266,067 - - (266,667) — 18 February 2011 5 December 2012 to HK$0.420
—Z-—%ZAt/H 17 February 2021 04207
“Z-—F+_fRAZ
:2: £ZA+1A
333,333 - - (333,333) — 18 February 2011 2 January 2013 to HK$0.420
ZF——%ZAt/\H 17 February 2021 04207
e
—E--F-A+tR
433,333 - - (433,333) — 18 February 2011 9 January 2013 to HK$0.420
et BRI 17 February-2021 04207
ZZ-§-AnAZ
=F-—%5_A+tA
1,701,810 - - (1,701,810) — 18 February 2011 30 June 2013 to HK$0.420
—Z-—F=f1/\H 17 February 2021 04207
Z-ZFXA=THE
—EZA++A
273,530 - - (273,530) — . 18 February 2011 31 Ju\y 201310 HK$0.420
ZZ—%ZAtNH 17 February 2021 04207
=E=—EEf-t-A%
e e |2
266,067 - - (266,667) — 18 February 2011 5 December 2013 to HK$0.420
ZZ-—%ZAt/A 17 Feoruary 2021 BE042070
ZE-=%f1-RRAZE
SR -FZATtA
333,334 = - (333,334) — . 18 February 2011 2 January 2014 to HK$0.420
Z2——FZRT/\A 17 February 2021 %0420
“2-MmE-AZRZ
ZZZ-FCA+4R
433,334 - - (433,334) — 18 February 2011 9 January 2014 to HK$0.420
ZZ2-—fZAt/H 17 February 2021 04207
“Z-RE-AAHE
—Z-—%=A+t+A
Sub-total 106,712,813 - (190,000) -~ (49,349,79) 57,173,017
i
Total 149,518,865 - (190,000)  (49,349,796) 99,979,069
5t
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

.

Mr. Shih was appointed as a Director of the Company-on 12 July 2011 and resigned
on 30 September 2012. The details of the outstanding options held by Mr. Shih during
the year ended 31 March 2012 were accounted for and described under the heading
“Directors”.

Mr..LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul resigned as a Director of the Company on 23 December
2011. The details of the outstanding share options held by him during the year ended
31 March 2012 were accounted and described under the heading “Employees and
other participants”.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which the options were
granted on 13 January 2010 was HK$0.950.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which the options were
granted on 7 May 2010 was HK$0.700.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which the options were
granted on 14 September 2010 was HK$0.385.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which the options were
granted on 18 February 2011 was HK$0.415.

Summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

022

Purposes

The principal purposes are to recruit and retain high caliber employees
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group or
any Invested Entity and to provide incentives or rewards to Eligible
Participants (as defined below) for their contribution to the Group.

Eligible Participants

Any employees (whether-full time or part time), directors (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors)
of any members of the Group or any Invested Entity, any customer,
supplier of goods and services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity and such other persons or entities (“Eligible
Participants”) who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have contributed
or will contribute to the growth and development of the Group or any
Invested Entity.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

The total number of shares (i.e. 670,236,433 Shares) which may be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme represented 10% of the total number of
issued Shares as at the date of passing the ordinary resolution on 11
April 2012 (being the date on which the mandate limit of the Share
Option Scheme was refreshed) and represented approximately 9.5%
of the total number of issued Shares of the Company as at the date of
this report.

KRMEZRRBRDT —B—— ZE2-FFH

B AESTE )

Hfet -

1. BEERZZ- - FLtATLIREERERAARE
FWRN =T -—FNA=STHEE  EEEREE
TE-CE=A=+ - BULEFEMBAZRARTE
BREFEFER[ESFIREML -

ol RNTEE M= B = o =l = PR R
T A e St P ey et = W o0
WA ZHARITEBREFBERN [EERAEM
2HE | IR KM o

&, BRONBEEBRER-_Z-ZF - A +=AKREE
B AT YT E &8 0.950 7T ©

4. BRONRBEEEREN T ZFHEALEREEH
Al Z YT B A8 0.700 7T °

5, BRONEEEREN-—"FT-ZFNATEHAREE
A A2 T {8 &7 #0.385 T ©

6. BN BEBRER-_ZT——F£ -+ \BRHE
HATZ KW ERB¥E0.4157T ¢

B BRI R T

(@ B
TEEMDEERERBEESEERRK
MEAEB AN EEREERONAN
ER - WREkbEEERSEE (EER
TIOEAREE 2 5B ©

(b) EEKSHE
B2 RRBERAYKRBEHAEE
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AEB(THEBKER) B (0EH
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EERKENREERHTS  BHER
RISz HEEREBEMA T ER(A
BigLmE]) o

(c) FIHBITRABE LR
FERETEETE HZE R R ER
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— =S A+— B (AERE S 2 RER
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

U

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
options (whether exercised or outstanding) granted in any 12-month
period to:

(i) each Eligible Participant must not.exceed 1% of the total number
of Shares in issue; and

(ii) a substantial shareholder of the Company or an Independent
Non-Executive Director must not exceed 0.1% of the total
number of Shares in issue and not exceed HK$5 million in
aggregate value.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under
an option

An option must be exercised within 10 years from the date on which it
is granted or such shorter period as the Board may specify at the time
of grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an option must be
held

No minimum period for which the option has to be held before it can be
exercised is specified in the Share Option Scheme.

Period open for acceptable of an option and amount
payable upon acceptance

An offer of grant of an option may be accepted by an Eligible Participant
within 28 days from the date of the offer of grant of the option. A
consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptable of the offer of grant
of an option.

Basis of determining the subscription price of an option
The exercise price must be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on
the date of grant; (i) the average closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of a Share.

Validity of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on 27
November 2019 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During the year, no contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed.

B ESTE )

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

U]

BEERSHEEIES LR
PME A A B 2 B (PR e
Tk ARTTIE) AT (R ) T HA LB 3
TR TETZBRNABETSEBATR
#

) FPEREERZEERKZEMAR
TSHBBED B TRMNERZ1% &

(i) AARAEBRBRRIEIFNITES
BLZ 5B T FEAE ETRN
RE201% BETTHERER
5,000,000 7T ©

BARBEREABRD 2HE
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SRR LA BB A AEAT A 2 8E B
AT °

VEAFEBREZREHE (MA)

BRI BT B EEETRAARBBER
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for approximately 40.5% of the total sales for the year and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to 24.1%. Purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 74.3% of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier amounted to
28.6%.

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates or any
Shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and/or five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The subsequent events are set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012
were audited by Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe Horwath”) who
retire and, being eligible, offer itself for reappointment at the forthcoming AGM
of the Company.

Due to the merger of business between Messrs. CCIF CPA Limited and PCP
CPA Limited, Messrs. CCIF CPA Limited resigned as auditor of the Company

with effect from 25 March 2010. Following the resignation of CCIF CPA
Limited, Crowe Horwath was appointed as the auditor of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there were no change in the Company’s auditors in
the preceding three years.

On Behalf of the Board

LOH JIAH YEE, KATHERINE
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 December 2012
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREEEEAEBERE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine

Ms. LOH Jiah Yee; Katherine, aged 48, joined the Group in December 2010
as the Chief Investment Officer of the Group and was appointed as the
Chairman, the Managing Director, an Executive Director and a member of the
executive committee (“Executive Committee”) of the Board of the Company
and acted as the chairman of the Executive Committee since 17 December
2010. Ms. Loh was appointed as a member and acted as the chairman of
the remuneration committee (“Remuneration Committee”) of the Board of the
Company since 6 April 2011. She resigned as the Chairman of the Company,
the chairman and a member of the Remuneration Committee on 27 March
2012. She is also a director of some of the subsidiaries of the Company. Ms.
Loh has a Master’s degree in Business Administration from the University of
Toronto and a Bachelor’s degree in Computing Engineering from Imperial
College of Science and Technology, University of London. She has more
than 25 years of experience in finance and investment banking industry.
Save as disclosed above, Ms. Loh did not hold any other directorships in
any other publicly listed companies in the last three years and does not have
any relationship with any other Directors, senior management or substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Ms. Loh is not a director or
employee of a company which has an interest in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, “SFO”).

Ms. FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy

Ms. FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy, aged 41, joined the Group in August
2009. She is the Chief Financial Officer of the Group and has been appointed
as an Executive Director and a member of the Executive Committee since 17
December 2010. She is also a director of some subsidiaries of the Company.
Ms. Fletcher holds a Bachelor’s degree of Science from St. Johns University,
United States of America. She is a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). She has over 19 years of experience
in financial and accounting matters including auditing, corporate finance and
asset management. She worked in Ho Chi Minh City in 2006 to focus on real
estate investments. Prior to that, Ms. Fletcher was the managing director
of the Asia Pacific office of a private asset management company with
headquarters in New York, specializing in structured equity investments. She
has worked for 10 years in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in their audit practice in
New York and subsequently their corporate finance practice in Hong Kong.
Save as disclosed above, Ms. Fletcher did not hold any other directorships in
any other publicly listed companies in the last three years and does not have
any relationship with any other Directors, senior management or substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Ms. Fletcher is-not a director or
employee of a company which has an interest in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

S

HITES

REXELZL

SRERT 485 RZT—FF T _AMAR
S8 HEAKEEFRELE ¥YHE-_FT-F
FH AT ERBREZERARARILIRE EFE
RE - RTEERARAEFTEATEEE (A
TEEEDKE WEERTEZEERLF < %X
TETE-—FHOANAREZERTRAES
BFMEE S ([FMEEE DKE @ W
ZERIR KRNI ESHO R
RARARERFE  FMEB ST FEREKE BN
RARRZHMBARIZES - ERLHEE R
SABTHERBELTEU R RHARTFRIETES
REMTIZELEM - FRERMIRERTHEE
B_THhFERER - FREXRBEN  LxLtNB
E=FUENEAEM LT ARMEEAEME
ER - BRAQREMEMES SEEEA
Sl F BRI E(TRER - LW IE—
BRAR B RO BT - EEREES M
HAE GO (BB AR B E - [ B REEEG)
EXVERF 2 R B30 Z RXBRIAR B HERE
BIARIZEEHET o

EEELL

=E5B4at M RZEZAFENAMNAE
S8 - HAASEERIKHAE WHE-_T—F
F+ A+ HRABEZEARNTESERATEZE
EXE - BMBARAZENBARIZES - =
ZEEEERBHHALIBEEFEN - A
EHEHMASACPAEE - ZLEHRZE
EMEEEETRE AU RS EEA
Ha+NEER - BRI NFEHEATI
1B BERHERSE - L5l =T AR
BB E BRI ECAAEEER AR
DAENERECESALIE - BB EEY .
BEMR A SRR TR A ERT S R BB XA 5
THE+HF - BR EXHTEEIN  ZERITRBE=F
12253 ] =l IR/ = w0 ] =L ==
fii » BEAARMEREMES  SETREABNK
FEFIERBREEFMAR - L LWIE—HERN
AARRMEBARN T HEREESERHPE
IEBISEXVED 2 R 3D ZIEX AR A A A
BRESZARIZEETRET -

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011/2012 025



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEEEEAERERE

DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. LI Zhixiong

Mr. LI Zhixiong, aged 39, joined the Group as an advisor to the Group in
March 2011 and has been appointed as an Executive Director since 2
September 2011. He is also a director of three subsidiaries of the Company
for the Zhongshan operations. Mr. Li has over 22 years of manufacturing
and sales experience of wood products in China. He specializes in wood
flooring, and has developed the patent of ‘curve flooring’ in China. Mr. Li
found a'company. specializing manufacturing and sales of wood products
and flooring products in the PRC, namely New Oasis Wood Industry Co.,
Ltd.* in Zhongshan, China in 2001. He also created the brand name “New
Qasis” which has succeeded to become one of the highest quality flooring
products in China. The brand ranked 3rd in, flooring category, by “Top Ten
Brands in China” in May 2011 and was awarded “China’s 500 Most Valuable
Brands” of the year 2010 by the World Brand Laboratory. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Li did not hold any other directorships in any other publicly listed
companies in the last three years and does not have any relationship with any
other Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders
of the Company. Mr. Li is not a director or employee of a company which has
an interest in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel

Mr. LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel, aged 48, joined the Group as an Independent
Non-Executive Director in August 2009 and was re-designated as an
Executive Director on 4 November 2011. Mr. Leung graduated from the
University of London, University of Hong Kong, Chinese University of Hong
Kong, Beijing Normal University and China University of Political Science
and Law with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics & Accounting, Master’s
degree in Urban Planning, Chinese Business Law and double Doctor’s
qualification in Finance and Laws respectively. Mr. Leung is a Fellow of The
Hong Kong Institute of Directors, Fellow of American Academy of Financial
Management, Royal Chartered Town Planner, Certified Management
Accountant, Chartered Risk Analyst, Chartered Asset Manager and Chartered
Trust & Estate Planner. He is also serving as a senior town planner in China
City Development Institute. Mr. Leung has over 10 years of professional
experience in law enforcement agencies, such as Hong Kong Police Force,
Correctional Services Department, and Equal Opportunities Commission
where he was mainly responsible for. investigation and operational work. Mr.
Leung is currently the principal financial planner of Prudential Assurance Co
Ltd, a company listed on the Main Board of the:London, New York, Hong
Kong and Singapore Stock Exchanges. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Leung
did not hold any other directorships in any other publicly listed companies
in the last three years and does not have any relationship with any other
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Mr. Leung is not a director or employee of a company which has
an interest in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the proyisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO.

* “For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREEEEAEBERE

DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. SHIH Chiu, David

Mr. SHIH Chiu, David, aged 65, joined the Group in August 2009 and
has been appointed as an Executive Director since 12 July 2011. He is
the president of China operations of the Group. He is also a director of a
subsidiary of the Company for Manzhouli operation. A forest engineer by
training, Mr. Shih has over 28 years of experience in the forestry industry
including harvesting, processing, production and sales and marketing of
timber products in China, Taiwan and Indonesia. He is responsible for the
Group’s overall processing operations and integration in Russia and China.
Mr. Shih worked in the forest products industry in Taiwan and Indonesia
before joining.China Chungchun Glory Wood Company in China in 1994. He
was a graduate of National Taiwan Chung-Xin University. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Shih did not hold any other directorships in any other publicly
listed companies in the last three years and does not have any relationship
with any other Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Shih is not a director or employee of
a company which has an interest in the Shares and underlying Shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. John Tewksbury BANIGAN

Mr. John Tewksbury BANIGAN, aged 63, has served as an Independent
Non-Executive Director since 23 November 2009 and has been appointed
as the Chairman of the Company on 27 March 2012. He is also the chairman
and a member of each of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”), the
Remuneration Committee and the nomination committee. (“Nomination
Committee”) of the Board of the Company. Mr. Banigan graduated from the
School of Foreign Service at Georgetown University with a Bachelor’'s degree
in International Economics. Mr. Banigan engages in international -investment
banking and corporate advisory services to private and public operating and
fund management companies. He has had extensive senior management
experience related to corporate and trade finance and investment banking
operations in Asia, Latin America and the United States of America. Mr.
Banigan has managed mature financial services operations, formed start-
up businesses and consummated foreign-based joint ventures. He currently
serves as a director of the general partner of a real estate investment vehicle
in the People’s Republic of China. He is also a director of a China-region
oriented hedge fund based in Hong Kong. Additionally, he is the sole member
of a company which acts as managing member of an affiliated Japanese
hedge fund. The latter company engages in investment management of
long and short positions and equity derivatives, and securities and other
financial instruments, respectively, in the Japanese market. Mr. Banigan was
a senior vice president of HSBC, responsible for corporate and trade finance
in the eastern U.S.. He earlier spent 15 years with Chemical Bank where he
held diverse positions. He was the Hong Kong-based Regional Corporate
Officer of China, Hong Kong and Taiwan, Mexico City-based Mexico Country
Manager, and manager of the bank’s U.S. West Coast-based Asian corporate
and financial institution relationships from San Francisco. Earlier assignments
included client management, business development, and risk-management
positions in New York. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Banigan did not hold
any other directorships in any other publicly listed companies in the last three
years and does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr.
Banigan is not a director or employee of a company which has an interest
in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company. under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEEEEAERERE

DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. KEUNG Paul Hinsum

Mr. KEUNG Paul Hinsum, aged 42, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director since 27 July 2010. He is also a member of each
of the Audit. Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Keung holds a Bachelor’s degree of Science from Cornell
University and a Master’s degree of Science from New York University. He is
the chief financial officer of Taomee Holdings Ltd., a listed company on New
York Stock Exchange (NYSE: TAOM). Prior to joining Taomee, Mr. Keung
was the managing director and head of Oppenheimer’s Asia Investment
Research team, responsible for a team of analysts focused on various sectors
including technology, media and telecommunications, consumer, industrials,
health care and alternative energy. Prior to that, Mr. Keung was the chief
information officer at Wyndham Hotels & Resorts, where he facilitated a
US$3.5 billion recapitalization and financial restructuring. His career spans
equity research, investment banking and consulting positions at CIBC World
Markets, Deutsche Morgan Grenfell, Paine Webber, Salomon Brothers and
HVS International. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Keung did not hold any other
directorships in any other publicly listed companies in the last three years and
does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior management
or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Keung is not
a director or employee of a company which has an interest in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Donald Smith WORTHLEY

Mr. Donald Smith WORTHLEY, aged 62, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director since 4 November 2011. He is also
a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. He holds a Bachelor’s degree of Business
Administration majoring. in Finance from St. Bonaventure University and an
advanced educational degree from the Wharton School of the University
of Pennsylvania. Mr. Worthley has over 30 years of experience in providing
advice and consultation concerning strategic planning, asset management
and corporate governance. He is the principal and general manager of a
private company specializing in offering capital and asset planning and
advices to corporates. Prior to forming his own company, Mr. Worthley held
senior management positions with various reinsurance companies, including
as senior vice president of General Reinsurance Corporation and Arthur
J. Gallagher Intermediaries, Inc. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Worthley
did not hold any other directorships in any other publicly listed companies
in the last three years and does not have any relationship with any other
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of
the Company. Mr. Worthley is not a director or employee of a company which
has an interest in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREEEEAEBERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jairo Alfonso RAMOS SUAREZ

(Vice President of Field Operations)

Mr. Jairo Alfonso RAMOS SUAREZ, aged 41, is the vice president of field
operations of the Group. He joined the Group in November 2009. Mr.
Ramos Suarez is a trained mechanical engineer, has more than 16 years
of experience in production, maintenance programming, quality control,
mechanical design, marketing and procurement in tropical timber products
and other materials. Mr. Ramos Suarez was in charge of trading of forest
products for a private Columbian company in Shanghai, China from 2006 to
2008. Mr. Ramos Suarez is responsible for the field operations in-Rondonia
and Acre. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ramos Suarez did not hold any other
directorships in any other publicly listed companies in the last three years and
does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior management
or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Ramos
Suarez is not a director or employee of a company which has an interest in
the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO.

Mr. YIP Kam Kuen

(Head of International Sales and Procurement)

Mr. YIP-Kam Kuen, aged 62, is the head of international sales and
procurement of the Group.-He joined the Group in this capacity in April
2011. Prior to that, Mr. Yip acted as an adviser to the Group on mergers and
acquisitions and strategic planning matters. Mr. Yip had over 15 years of
investment banking experience and has assisted a number of U.S. companies
successfully be listed in the United States and overseas, and carried out
investments in various financing projects and planning. Based on many years
of work experience in the United States, Mr.. Yip has a good investor and
professional network in the United States, Europe, China and Hong Kong to
assist various companies to solve their financial problems. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Yip did not hold any other directorships in any other publicly listed
companies in the last three years and does not have any relationship with any
other Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders
of the Company. Mr. Yip is not a director or employee of a company which
has an interest in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Company has applied the
principles of, and complied with, the applicable code provisions of the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (“Former Code Provisions”) as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (prior to its amendments effective from 1
April 2012), except for the deviations mentioned below:

Former Code Provision A.2.1

Under the Former Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate -and should not be performed by
the same individual. The roles of the chairman (“Chairman”) and the chief
executive officer (“CEO”) of the Company are segregated and are clearly
defined to ensure their respective independence, accountability and
responsibilities. The Chairman is responsible for the formulation of the Group’s
overall business development policies while the CEO is responsible for the
implementation of major decisions of the Board and overall management of
the Group’s businesses.

On 6 April 2011, Mr. LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul was re-designated from the
position as an executive director of the Company to a non-executive director
and resigned as the CEO. Since then and to up the date of this report, the
position of the CEO has not been appointed. Since the beginning of the
current financial year and up to 27 March 2012, Ms. LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine
acted as the Chairman. On 27 March 2012, Ms. LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine
resigned as the Chairman and Mr. John Tewksbury BANIGAN was appointed
as the Chairman. During the current financial year when no CEO was
appointed, the functions of the CEO have been performed by the executive
Directors with the assistance of the management of the Company. The
Board considers that such structure does not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the management of the Company.
The Board will however regularly review the effectiveness of this structure to
ensure that such structure is appropriate in view of the Group’s prevailing
circumstances.

Former Code Provision E.1.2
Former Code Provision E.1.2 stipulates, among others, that the Chairman
should attend the annual general meeting.

Due to another business engagement, Ms. LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine, the
then Chairman was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 25 August 2011. However, Ms. FLETCHER Yurk Nam,
Sandy, an executive Director, took the chair of that meeting. The then non-
executive director, namely Mr. LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul and one of the then
independent non-executive directors, namely, Mr. LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel (who
was also the then chairman of audit committee of the Board and a member of
the remuneration committee of the Board) were also present at the meeting
who were available to answer any questions from the Shareholders.

The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance practices to
ensure that it continues to meet the requirements under the Code Provisions.
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Corporate Governance Report
SEERTE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2012, the Board comprised eight Directors in total, with five
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Executive Directors:
Ms. LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine
Ms. FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy
Mr. LI Zhixiong
(appointed on 2 September 2011)
Mr. LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel
(re-designated as Executive Director on 4 November 2011)
Mr. SHIH Chiu, David
(appointed on 12 July 2011)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. John Tewksbury BANIGAN (Chairman)
Mr. KEUNG Paul Hinsum
Mr. Donald Smith WORTHLEY
(appointed on 4 November 2011)

On 30 September 2012, Mr. Shih Chiu, David resigned as an Executive
Director.

There is no family or other material relationship (including financial and
business) among members of the Board. Composition of the Board
including the names and categories of Directors, is set out on page 2. The
brief biographical details of each Director are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 25 to
29. Each Director possesses the necessary expertise and experience and
provides checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the Group
and the Shareholders as a whole. The Company has during the year ended
31 March 2012 maintained a balanced board composition.

During the year, the Independent Non-Executive Directors provided the Group
with a wide range of expertise and experience. Their active participation in
the Board and committee meetings brought independent judgment on issues
relating to the Group’s strategy, performance and management process,
taking into account the interests of all Shareholders.

During the year under review, the Company has three Independent Non-
Executive Directors representing not less than one-third of the Board. One of
the Independent Non-Executive Directors, being Mr. KEUNG Paul Hinsum,
has the appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules. The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors a written confirmation of his independence and has
satisfied itself of such independence up to the approval date of this report in
accordance with the independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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Board Meetings

The Board conducts meetings on a regular basis and on an ad hoc basis
of at least four times a year to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review and approve
the Group’s annual and interim results. Board members are provided with
all agendas and adequate information for their review at least 3 days before
the meetings. After the meeting, draft minutes are circulated to all Directors
for comments before confirmation and sign-off. Minutes of board-meetings
and meetings of board committees are kept by the company secretary of
the Company (“Company Secretary”) and are available for inspection by any
Director at any reasonable time on reasonable notice. Each Director is entitled
to seek independent professional advice under appropriate circumstances
at the expense of the Company. During the year, 4 physical Board meetings
were held by way of telephone conference and 16 written resolutions for
separate matters signed by all Directors were passed. Attendance of each
Director at the Board meetings is set out in the paragraph headed “Board
Committees” below.

Responsibilities of the Board and Delegation of Work

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders for the development of the
Group with the goal of maximizing Shareholders’ value in the long run. The
Board also takes the responsibility for the overall strategies and policies of the
Group, approves and monitors the strategic plans, investment and funding
decisions, and reviews the Group’s financial and operational performance.
The Group’s day-to-day operations and administration are overseen by the
Executive Directors and the management.

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction and policies of
the Group and supervising our management. Some functions including the
monitoring and approval of material transactions, matters involving a conflict
of interest for a substantial Shareholder or Director of the Company, the
approval of the interim and annual results and other disclosures to the public
or regulators are reserved by the Board for consideration and approval.
Matters not specially reserved to the Board and necessary for the daily
management and operation of the Company are delegated to the Executive
Committee and management of the Company.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

The Directors are fully insured under the directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance policy for indemnification against costs, charges, losses, expenses
and liabilities that may be incurred by them in the execution and discharge of
their duties.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package from the
Company Secretary on the first occasion of his/her appointment, including
materials briefly describing the operations and business of the Company
and the latest published financial reports of the Company. Directors will be
continuously updated on any major developments of the. Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of
good corporate governance practices.

All Non-Executive Directors of the Company were -appointed for a specific
term of 2 years but subject to the relevant provisions of the Bye-laws or any
other applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their
office but eligible for re-election.

According to the Bye-laws, each Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall be subject to re-election at the next following general meeting or until
the next following AGM in case of an addition to the Board and shall then be
eligible for re-election at such meeting. Moreover, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not greater than one-third), shall retire from office
by rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term but excluding those holding office as Chairman or Managing
Director) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. Every Director holding the office of Chairman or Managing Director
shall be subject to re-election once every three years. The rotating Directors
who are subject to retirement and re-election at the forthcoming AGM are set
out on page 12.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established four board committees, namely the Executive
Committee, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs and to assist in the execution of the Board’s responsibilities. All board
committees have clear and specific written terms of reference and they report
their work to the Board after each meeting. Copies of minutes of all meetings
and resolutions passed at the board committees are kept by the Company
Secretary.

Executive Committee

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprised Ms.
LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine (chairman of the Executive Committee) and Ms.
FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy. The Executive Committee was established
with ‘specific written terms of reference to, among other duties, implement,
review and give recommendations to the Board on the daily operation of the
Group from the time to time. The Executive Committee held 70 meetings
during the year under review, attendance records of each member are set out
on page 36.

Audit Committee

As at 31 March 2012 and the date of this report, the Audit Committee
comprised three members, namely Mr. John Tewksbury BANIGAN
(chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. KEUNG Paul Hinsum and Mr. Donald
Smith WORTHLEY (appointed on 4 November 2011)-and all of them are
Independent Non-Executive Directors. Mr. LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel ceased to
be the chairman and a member of the Audit Committee on 4 November 201 1
upon his re-designation as an Executive Director. The:-Audit Committee was
established with specific written terms of reference to, among other duties,
review and supervise the Company’s financial reporting and internal control
systems. The Audit Committee -also provides an important link between the
Board and the Company’s external auditors in matters within the scope of the
financial audit of the Group.

During the year, the Audit Committee held 2 physical meetings by way of
telephone conference together with management and the external auditors.
The attendance details of each member are set out on page 36. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group, reviewed the financial statements for the interim and final
results for the year ended 31 March 2012 and discussed the internal controls
together with the management.

The Audit Committee and the Board have not taken a different view regarding
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors of
the Company.
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Remuneration Committee

As at 31 March 2012, the Remuneration Committee comprised Mr. John
Tewksbury BANIGAN (chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr.
KEUNG Paul Hinsum and Mr. Donald Smith WORTHLEY (appointed on 4
November 2011). Mr. LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel ceased to be a member of
the Remuneration Committee on 4 November 2011 upon his re-designation
as an Executive Director. On 27 March 2012, Ms. LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine
ceased to be the chairman and member of the Remuneration Committee
and Mr. John Tewksbury BANIGAN was appointed as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee was established
with specific written terms of reference to, among other.duties, review
and give recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy of the
Directors and senior management. The remuneration of all the Directors
and senior management is. monitored by the Remuneration Committee. To
determine the emoluments of Directors, the Remuneration Committee takes
into consideration factors such as salaries of directors paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors. The
Remuneration Committee ensures that no Director is involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration. During the year, the Remuneration Committee held
1 physical meeting by way of telephone conference and passed 3 written
resolutions for separate matters signed by all committee members, the
attendance records of each member are set out on page 37. During the year
under review, the Remuneration Committee had reviewed service contracts
or appointment letters of newly appointed Directors, and reviewed the
existing remuneration policy and packages of all existing Directors. Details of
the Directors’ remuneration for the year under review are set out in note 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

On 27 March 2012, the Company established the Nomination Committee.
As at 31 March 2012 and the date of this report, the member of Nomination
Committee comprised Mr. John Tewksbury BANIGAN (chairman of the
Nomination Committee), Mr. KEUNG Paul Hinsum and Mr. Donald Smith
WORTHLEY. The Nomination Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference to, among other duties, give recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment, re-appointment
and succession planning for the Board members. The Nomination Committee
has the responsibility to consider and access candidates for directorships
on the Board based on their characters, qualifications and experience
appropriate for the business of the Group.
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The individual attendance records of each Director at the physical meetings of
the Board, Executive Committee, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 March 2012 are set out

below:

BE-T-—H-A=t-ALEE SEFH
FESE WIZEE EUIZAS FMEA

ekRAZE e E 2 ERHELEETINAT

Number of physical meetings attended/held during his/her tenure

R/ REEHET eEEA
Executive Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination
Name of Directors Board  Committee = Committee =~ Committee =~ Committee
Esps EEg HTEEE BNZEE FMEEE REZES
(Note 1)
(Bt 1)
Ms. LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine %%Eﬁi 4/4 67/67 N/A 1A N/A
(resigned as the chairman and member N B e R R R TEA NEA
of Remuneration Committee ﬁ%&%ﬁ@@ B2 ERERME)
on 27 March 2012)
Ms. FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy s P 4/4 69/70 N/A N/A N/A
TER NiEH TR
Mr. LI Zhixiong TEELE 3/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A
(appointed on 2 September 2011) (R=E——FNA_REZE) A A TER TiEF
Mr. LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel (Note 2) DBIETHE (H22) 4/4 N/A 11 11 N/A
TERA iR
Mr. John Tewksbury BANIGAN (Chairman) John Tewksbury BANIGAN 04 (£/%) 4/4 N/A 2/2 /1 0/0
Ak
Mr. KEUNG Paul Hinsum ZBHREE 4/4 N/A 2/2 1/1 0/0
i
Mr. Donald Smith WORTHLEY Donald Smith WORTHLEY %t 4 2/3 N/A 1A 0/0 0/0
(appointed on 4 November 2011) (RZZ——F+—-ANBEZA) i f
Mr. SHIH Chiu, David kL 3/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A
(appointed on 12 July 2011 and resigned (RZF——FtAT-HEZER A A A A
on 30 September 2012) RZT=ZFNA=1HEE)
Mr. LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul (Note 3) DL (H723) 2/2 11 N/A N/A N/A
TER NER TER
Mr. NG Tik Hong S[HEE o/ N/A N/A N/A NA
(resigned on 11 July 2011) (RZZ—FtAT—HEL) TiEA A A A
Notes: Kt -
i The Nomination Committee was established on 27 March 2012 and no meeting was 1. REZEEN T _F=R=ttHKZ BH
held since its establishment up to 31 March 2012. REZE=F——F=A=1T—-HIEWERTES -
25 Mr. LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel acted as an Independent Non-Executive Director from 1 2. RERIEERZTE——FNA—HET-—AMNAE
April to 4 November 2011 and an Executive Director since 4 November 2011. EABINTESERE ST ——F +—AEABARE
HERRITES -
3. Mr. LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul acted as an Executive Director from 1 to 6 April 2011 3. AMEREH T ——FHA—BESBHERT

and a Non-Executive Director from 6 April to 23 December 2011. He ceased to be a
member of the Board on 23 December 2011.

036 KRMEZBRERAR =T

ek Lt

—EER

TEEMRN-_ZE——FNMA~NBRE+ZA=-+=H
EEAERATEE BN F+ A= H=
H&HETESEEMKE -



Corporate Governance Report
SEERTE

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiries of all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31
March 2012.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2012, in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Listing Rules. In preparing the financial statements, the
Directors have adopted IFRSs and suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistency, made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.
No material uncertainties relating to any events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern
were identified by the Directors during the course of preparing and reviewing
the financial statements for the year under review.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditors of the Company on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 39 to 42.

External Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the fees in respect of audit and non-
audit services provided to the Group by the external auditors amounted to
approximately HK$1,326,000 (2011: HK$1,518,000) and HK$600,000 (2011:
HK$485,000), respectively. The non-audit service fee mainly consisted of fees
in relation to reviewing the interim report and results of the Group for the six-
months ended 30 September 2011.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is-responsible for maintaining a sound and effective system
of internal control. The internal control system helps to ensure effective
measures are in place to protect the Group’s assets and maintain the
accounting records and the compliance with relevant legislation and
regulations.

During the financial year under review, the Board has reviewed operational
and financial reports in order to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of the
internal control system through the Audit Committee.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavors to provide its Shareholders accurate, clear,
comprehensive and timely information of the Group via the publication
of annual reports, announcements and circulars as- well as through the
Company’s website.

The AGM is a useful forum for the Board to communicate directly with the
Shareholders. The Directors, senior executives and external auditors make

their best effort to attend the AGM of the Company to answer any questions
from the Shareholders.

On behalf of the Board

Ms. LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 December 2012
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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A\ Crowe Horwath.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SUSTAINABLE FOREST HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sustainable Forest
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
set out on pages 43 to 187, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 March 2012, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Member Crowe Horwath International
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for-our qualified audit opinion.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

(@) Scope limitation — Disposal of the subsidiaries
As set out in notes 15 and 43 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group disposed of its entire shares in Ally Rise Limited (“Ally Rise”)
on 30 March 2012 for a total consideration of HK$208,000,000. The
major assets of Ally Rise and its subsidiaries (the “Ally Rise Group”)
were concession rights of Chita forest in Russia.

On-the date of disposal, one of the subsidiaries of Ally Rise in Russia
had already declared bankrupt and a concession right previously held
by that subsidiary expired without renewal and another concession right
had been expropriated by the State Forest Agency due to concession
fees not being paid for on due date. The other subsidiary of Ally Rise in
Russia declared bankrupt after the date of disposal.

The directors of the Group represented that as at the date of disposal,
the Russian Government has already agreed to reserve the concession
rights for the buyer and will grant the rights to buyer as soon as the
applications for resumption of the concession rights are submitted. The
Group is assisting the buyer to get back the two concession rights.
On this basis, both sides mutually agreed to complete the disposal on
30 March 2012 and incidentally, the Group recorded a receivable of
HK$208,000,000 from the buyer and a gain on disposal of Ally Rise of
approximately HK$8,819,000. The Group also agreed to extend the
payment term of the consideration which shall be paid for one lump
sum no later than 30 March 2013. As a security for the payment, the
buyer executed a share charge of the entire issued share capital of Ally
Rise in favor of the Group. With the assistance of the Group, the buyer
is currently preparing the documents necessary: for the applications to
resume the concession rights.
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B % SR

According to the regulation, the Russian State Forestry Agency can
conduct an auction to sell the abovementioned concession rights
or to grant them to other entities meeting certain criteria and we
are not provided with documents corroborating the reservation of
the abovementioned concession rights to the buyer. Due to lack
of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we were unable to satisfy
ourselves as to whether the consideration receivable of approximately
HK$208,000,000 and the gain on disposal of Ally Rise of approximately
HK$8,819,000 should be recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. If the transaction was not completed, then the carrying
amounts of the net assets value of the subsidiaries that declared
bankrupt amounting to approximately HK$199,181,000 should be fully
impaired and charged to the income statement of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2012. In addition, in the ‘absence of sufficient
information to assess the financial position of the buyer, we were
unable to ascertain that the consideration receivable amounting to

HK$208,000,000 can be collected.

We were not able to carry out alternative audit procedures to satisfy

ourselves as to the matters set out above.

(b) Scope limitation — Inventory

Included in inventories of approximately HK$65,628,000 in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2012
was a sum of inventories amounted to HK$29,989,000 which do not
have subsequent sales up to the date of this report, and no reliable
information about the net realizable value of these inventories was
available. We were therefore unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether
the carrying amount of these inventories amounting to HK$29,989,000
was fairly stated in the consolidated statement of financial position and

free from material misstatement as at 31 March 2012.

Due to the severe climate condition in Acre State, Brazil, we did
not observe the counting of physical inventories amounting to
approximately HK$1,425,000 at the end of the year. For the part of the
stock held by the third parties of HK$2,946,000, direct confirmation
from consignee has not been obtained. There were no other
alternative audit procedures that we could carry out to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the existence and conditions of

these inventories.

In addition, since we did not observe the counting of physical
inventories, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to verify the existence, accuracy and completeness of the
amount of approximately HK$2,951,000 transferred from the biological
assets to inventory during the year and the amounts of inventory
HK$1,781,000 being written down in the consolidated income
statement and included in other operating expenses during the year.

Accordingly, we were unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether these

amounts were fairly stated in the financial statements.

(b)

BIERG - BETBERFALEI AT AAE
ARALE LT RRAFES TIRGEZ
HM BT - MBEMRERMEX
HUBEE FRE LT - AR
T RABEBEZER  BRAEEERER
KA 4975 8 208,000,000 L R HEA E 2
Uy 25 #4975 ¥ 8,819,000 7T f& B R 4R & B 1%
MEER - MR IARETK  BEESHE
ZHBRARZEEFERAESLNBE
199,181,000 TLIE 2 EUR BN AT A EEE
B Eme A e e S e el
mace b AL BHEHFTEER Z
AR - BRFIRAEE T RER U@ A 8
& 208,000,000 7T Z FEUR R AB ©

BAIREEETHEMBEREHETUSRMA
EMLLEER -

HERRH — 78

VS 29,989,000 TEEEARZE —=
FZA=T—HAZGEUBMRARETZ
& 45 %65628000 L 2 FEH &
EABREHPEEVELRHE BV E
EZEFEZAERFEIARER -
Hit - BRI R ENZEFEZRAES
B 09,089,000 TRENR =T ——_4=8
=+ —HREAEUBEHRARATFIERZE
BN FA A E AR o

SEATREMNZ RinRETE - B
EER B E A F A B E XS 81,425,000
TR EBRGEE - RFE =B FEEEE
2,946,0007C * MK BEFEABERGRE
R BMWEETHMERBNEF - N
BEBRZEEEREGEAEREMRAZE
HEE R EZBR ©

AN EREMTESREREE 2 HE
B2 FAILRAEEREHEE NERBE
ZEFANBENEEBRERE ZHBE
2,951,000 7T LA R FF A & s = MUR I
FTAHMEER Y 2 FEHE1,781,000 7T
EEREFR  ERERTE -

Bt - HPIRGEERZSEHIAR
HREQNTIIER -

o

b
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B SRS

(c)

Scope limitation — Trade and other payables

Included in the trade and other payables of approximately
HK$212,310,000 in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2012 was trade payable of approximately HK$44,663,000
which was subject to an interest of 1% per month for overdue
payment. During the audit of the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2011, the related trade creditor confirmed
that no interest was billed to the Group. Therefore, the Group did not
accrue interest for overdue payment. For current year audit, the Group
represented that the trade creditor did not bill any interest for the
overdue payment. However, due to the. non-reply to our confirmation
requested, absence of new information of the trade creditor, and no
sufficient supporting document to prove that no interest was required
to be accrued. There were no other alternative audit procedures that
we could carry out to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
verify the existence, completeness and valuation of the trade payable.
Accordingly, we were unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether these
amounts were fairly stated in the financial statements.

QUALIFIED OPINION

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the consolidated. financial statements
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 March 2012, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and have been- properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 20 December 2012

Alvin Yeung Sik Hung
Practising Certificate Number P05206
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Consolidated Income Statement

RGeS
For the year ended 31 March 2012 HE =T ——
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA&# 271))

Sre e LS

2012 2011
—E-—=fF —T——fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HiaE B¥TT BT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREEL
REVENUE LN /i 115,616 866,655
Cost of sales SHERAR (118,423) (362,156)
GROSS (LOSS)/PROFIT (£8)/EA (2,807) 504,499
Other income H A 8 4,124 501
Other net loss H hE518 558 8 (274,484) (145,927)
Selling and distribution costs HE RO A (18,543) (3,352)
Administrative expenses T (107,175) (88,009)
Loss on business disruption E¥BETEZEER 9 (335,641) -
Other operating expenses Hfth & @A % 10 (1,519,271) (179)
Change in fair value of biological assets EEERTEZER
less costs to sell SHE KA 21 (150,419) 250,243
(LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS e (FE)wA (2,404,216) 517,782
Finance income BB YA 486 63
Finance costs HEER (15,790) (10,831)
Net finance costs MEBRFHE 11(a) (15,304) (10,768)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION BRBLAT (B1R) BT T (2,419,520) 507,014
Income tax FriSHe 14(a) 87,105 (150,482)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM BREEXE
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FE(FR)wA (2,332,415) 356,532
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BRIEER
Gain/(loss) for the year from discontinued BRIEEBZFE
operations Wz (E18) 15 4,503 (15,039)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FE(BR) 87 (2,327,912) 341,493
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: L
Owners of the Company NARFEEA (2,327,909) 341,486
Non-controlling interests FEEIR AR R R 3 i/
(2,327,912) 341,493
(Loss)/earnings per share BR(BR) BA
From continuing and discontinued operations REFBICEEBREKLIEES 18
— Basic = ﬁ$ (41.19) cents 1l 9.86 cents lli
— Diluted — B (41.19) cents 1l 5.30 cents lli
From continuing operations REFECEED 18
=t Basic — HAK (41.27) cents fili . 10.30 cents L
— Diluted — s (41.27) cents 1l 5.53 cents i
The notes on pages 52 to 187 form part of these consolidated financial 2552 B £ 55187 B 2 i st Btk S45 A B S E
statements. e
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

LeEEHElER

For the year ended 31 March 2012 HiE - ——F=A=+—RHILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (VA& # 271))

2012 2011
= SERREE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BtaE BET T ST T
(Loss)/profit for the year EE(FR) B5F (2,327,912) 341,498
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hh2m (FR) s
Exchange differences on translation of BEGING B A B TSRS
financial statements of overseas subsidiaries &4 7 [E 3 =58 41 (68,659) 86,014
Reclassification adjustment for exchange EALEEINKHIB A R 2 &K =5
differences relating to disposal of overseas WA=% 3o b b
subsidiaries 41 (6,364) =
(75,023) 86,014
Income tax relating to components of BREEM 2B ESAEKE D
other comprehensive income ZFTEE 14(c) = b
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FEREMEME (EE) kS o R
for the year, net of tax g (75,023) 86,014
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FREME(EFAE) WEEH
for the year (2,402,935) 427,507
Total comprehensive (loss)/income UTALTEERE (FE), RS
attributable to: W
Owners of the Company RARHEE A (2,402,945) 427,493
Non-controlling interests RN R A 10 14
(2,402,935) 427,507

The notes on pages 52 to 187 form part of these consolidated financial %

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R R

At 31 March 2012 R=F——%=A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA&# 271))

2012 2011
—B—=F S et
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Biat BET T BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE
Property, plant and equipment I -~ S KR 19 213,306 231,846
Intangible assets BmILARE 20 = o
Biological assets VB E 21 913,049 173,460
Goodwiill 5k 22 302,118 1,686,883
Deposit for purchase of property,
plant and equipment WHEMZ - BEREHE 22 24 - 30,336
1,428,473 S22 15
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories =& 25 65,628 241,980
Trade and other receivables U 5 7k N EoAth e U R I8 26 17,972 519,289
Consideration receivable EUARE 43 208,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEED 27 7,760 23,679
299,360 784,948
Assets classified as held for sale DERREHERE 28 - 279,828
299,360 1,064,776
CURRENT LIABILITIES REIAE
Trade and other payables JE{I B 5 3R IE K E At & 3KI8 29 212,310 199,286
Loans and borrowings BERLEER 30 25,289 18,230
Consideration payables JERRAE 32 = =
Finance leases payables JERTRLEFE LY 3 100 100
Provision for taxation T TE R 34(a) 49,456 49,456
Financial liabilities MIsEE 35 6,030 =
293,185 267,072
Liabilities associated with assets BOE AR IEREEE
classified as held for sale BAZAE 28 — 70,856
293,185 337,928
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 6,175 726,848
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERTDESE
LIABILITIES 1,434,648 3,849,063

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BN R

At 31 March 2012 R —F—=%=HA=+—8H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (VA& # 271))

2012 2011
= SERREE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Wi st BET T BRI
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Loans and borrowings BERRIEE 30 e 88
Amounts due to shareholders e R ER 208 36 210,874 11315527
Amount due to a related company BN —REEBARIFIEA 8¢ 2,048 =
Finance leases payables FETREE AL 31 250 350
Promissory notes EEE 38 6,517 6,388
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE 34(b) 339,564 454,341
559,253 592,694
NET ASSETS BEEFE 875,395 3,256,369
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARR#E
Share capital N 39 384,328 359,324
Reserves s 41(a) 490,981 2,896,969
Total equity attributable to the owners of A F#HEH A LA
the Company 875,309 3,256,293
Non-controlling interests R R R E R 41(a) 86 76
TOTAL EQUITY RS 875,395 3,256,369

Approved and authorised. for issue by the board of directors on 20 December

2012.

On behalf of the board

LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine
BRE
Director

EE

The notes on pages 52 to 187 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Statement of Financial Position

B EEIR R 2R

At 31 March 2012 R=F——%=A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA&# 271))

2012 2011
—E—_—F ZE—=%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt BET T BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE M &RE 19 22 690
Interest in subsidiaries B BB A Al RE R 23 936,925 2,504,694
936,947 2,505,384
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Trade and other receivables FEULE 5 3k T8 K At i U sk IE 26 3,011 1,435
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEFEY 27 2,166 1,423
5,177 2,858
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables BB 53/ IE R H A BT IR 29 7,918 1,907
Loans and borrowings BERMEE 30 25,206 e
Financial liabilities M aE 35 6,030 =
39,154 1,907
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS e (BE) EEFRE (33,977) 951
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERABAERE
LIABILITIES 902,970 ?.6065385
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBEE
Promissory notes AENNERE 38 6,517 6,388
NET ASSETS EEZEE 896,453 2,499,947
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXREE
Share capital AR 7R 39 384,328 359,324
Reserves i 41(b) 512,125 2,140,623
TOTAL EQUITY AR 896,453 2,499,947
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 December HEZ 2R -_T——F+ - A=+ B & RFEE
2012. FliT -
On behalf of the board RREZE

LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine
HRE
Director

EE

The notes on pages 52 to 187 form part of these financial statements.

FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy
=EE
Director

Ex
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #;

e ]

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (VA& # 271))

ZHEZA=Tt-HIFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

YN =PN
Distri- Capital * Exchange Share Non-
butable redemption  fluctuation option controling
Share Share - Contributed resenve reserve reserve reserve Retained interests Total
cdpital ~ premium suplus - AEAE  RARE © EXES ke profits  Sub-total  FEERKER equity
BE - ROEE - EHRR i B 1 BE REEN gt En s
Notes HK§'000  HK$'000 ~ ~HK$'000 ~ HK$000 ~ HKS000 ~ HK§'000 - HK$O000  HK$000 - ~HKS000  HKS'000 - HK$'000
Wit - AT ERTr . BETm o A%Tr. BETr. AETn  B%Tn  BETR AETr AETn o A%t
At 1 April 2010 R-E-ZENA-R 322,855 2,009,852 54,770 2,216 8,000 667 2,005 106,203 2,506,568 62 2,506,630
Change in equity for 2011 BN
Profitfor the year FERF = e g - - - — . 341486 © 341486 7. 341493
Exchange differences on BERINHEAR
translation of financial statements BERLE
of overseas subsidiaries ERER L e =S - - 86,007 - - 86,007 i 86,014
Total other comprehensiveincome -~ EH 2 ERA 85 & = o = - 86,007 & e 86,007 7 86,014
Total comprehensive income TEREEEBEE
for the year - - - - - 86,007 - 341,486 427,493 14 421,507
Transactions with owners HEEAETIRS
Placement of new shares REHMRA 39) 21973 || 184,027 - - - - - ~ || 206,000 -1 206,000
Shares issue expenses RAE(TRR - (15,450) - - - - - - (15,450) = (15,460)
Issuance of convertible BAARELR
preferred shares 39(b) 14,020 127,934 (48,021) - - = = - 93,933 = 93,933
Deemed capital distribution SHANFREEZ
arising from settiement of RIERAAIR
promissory notes 38 % T (1,746) £ = = = P (1,746) . (1,746)
Deemed capital contribution —ZIZRRHEEE
arising from waiver of liabliies by~ AEEZBIETE
a sUbstantial shareholder 41(a)f) - - 5,000 - - - = - 5,000 - 5,000
Equity-setled share-based payment  SAIRIEEE 2[R 3% e - - - - - 31,154 = 31,154 - 31,154
Forfeiture of share options IR RE = = £ = < ! 231 2,311 L d 3
Shares isstie upon exercise of i RRERETRN
share options 390) a6 || - 440 ¥ = A =15 fsa £ 3341 X 3341
Totaltransactions with ovners BEE ARG X508 36469~ 300913 (44767) L ¥ A A e a1 A 95 009
At 31 March 2011 R RSt Aorr=H 359,324 2,310,765 10,008 2,216 8,000 86,674 29,311 450,000 - 3,256,293 76 3,256,369
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREER

For the yearended 31 March 2012 B E =2 —_—F=A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA&# 271))

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ADTREARE
Shares held by
the Company
for settlement
of acquisition Distri- Capital Exchange Share Non-
consideration butable  redemption ~ fluctuation option controlling
Share Share  AAFFEN  Contributed reserve reserve reserve reserve Retained interests Total

capital premium HERE surplus TEAR RARE EXRE BRE profis.  Subtotal  FEREF equity

i BBRE - FRRG | RéEH % Eid i #E ke gt L3 fL

Notes HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS000 HKS$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HKS$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
i AT R8T 4T ERIR 8T 4T 8T ¥R I %I AT R¥TR

At1 Apr 2011 350,324 2,310,765 - 10,003 2216 8,000 86,674 29311 450,000 3,266,203 6 3,266,369
Change in eqity for 2012
Loss forthe year - - - - - - - - (2327,909)  (2,327,909) Q (2321912
Disposalof subsiares HERBAR 2 - - - - - - (6:377) - - (6377) 13 (6,364)
Exchange diferences on AERIEAR

trenslton offnencel stelements BifsREL

of overseas subsidiaries B8 - - - - - - 68,659) - - 68,659) - (68,659)
Total other comprehensive loss A 2EERSE = = - = = = (75,036) = 5 (75,036) 1 (75,028)
Total comprehensive ogs for the year IEELEEEEE - - - - - - (75,036) - (2321,909)  (2,402945) 10 (2402935
Trensacfions i owners BREALTZRS

Consideration sharesfssue for HUENRLE

acquistion of subsidiaries EIRERG 396 20,267 137,083 (115,920) = = ) = = - 41,400 - 41,400
Issuance of shares pursuant o he BERARELRD

equity ine facilty 3 4121 10,772 - - - - - = = 15499 - 15499
Didends declared nespect of HEAEHEERE

previous period 16 - - - - - - - - (31,996) (31,996) - 31,9%)
Forfeture of share options RAERE - - - - - - - (6,751) 6,751 - - -
Sheres issue pon exercise of iRBREREGRE

share options 39 10 8 - - - - - 23 - n - il
Eauity-setfled share-based payment IREER 2 ROAT - - - - - - - 8,013 - (3013) - (3,013
Total ransactions with owners EERARTIRAMEE 25004 147,909 (115,920 - - - - (9,787) (25,245 21,961 - 21,961
At31 March 2012 i S 384,328 2,458,674 (115,920) 10,003 2216 8,000 11,638 19,524 1,903,154) 875,309 86 875,395

The notes on pages 52 to 187 form part of these consolidated financial =~ 52 BE % 187 B 2 Mz K It S 454 B HRE
statements. Pl i
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2012 HiE - ——F=A=+—RHILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (VA& # 271))

2012 2011
S e
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mz BT T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES &% #7538 & i &
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRALAT (E51R) A
— Continuing operations e e (2,419,520) 507,014
— Discontinued operations —BARIEET 4,503 (15,634)
Adjustments for: BB FHEE
Impairment loss of goodwil A REEE 1,462,118 =
Change in loans and borrowings due to FMETBRSERK
decrease in interest rate BEEZE) (2,932) ==
Finance costs & &R 11(a) 15,790 10,831
Finance income BEUWA 11(a) (486) (63)
Gain on disposal of discontinued HE BRI 2 s
operations 43 (8,819) B
Loss on disposal of property, LEYE - BE K&
plant and equipment 2 B8 10 733 151
Amortisation b 5| 2,389 =
Depreciation e 1,654 1,450
Waiver of consideration payable EEMRE (71,183) 7
Issuance of warrants BATRIRERE 8,730 =
Change in fair value of financial liabilities HaBEATESH (2,700) 2
Write down of timber logs R R A AN 10, 25 1,781 1,000
Write off of timber logs 88 R AR R M 9,25 233,572 272,482
Waiver of liabilities by creditors BREAREEE 8 - (108,274)
Write off of deposit paid to a supplier fsEm — R HEES N 25T % 11(c) = 44
Write off of intangible assets MEsHER EE 10 = 9,926
Impairment loss of intangible assets EEEREER 10 45,205 =
Write off of other receivables i 55 H i i W B 10 9,434 424
Write off of trade receivables M EE U E 5508 89 413,360 =
Rental expenses Gicknaiia 8 13,745 =
Exchange difference, net HEHERHE 22,112 (5,475)
Share-based payment LARS 5 S 1 11(b), () (3,013) 31,154
Change in fair value of biological assets EYMEEATEZER
less costs to sell SHE AR 21 150,419 (250,243
Operating (loss)/profit before changes in ~ FKFH&EE S BB F 2 K&
working capital (B’|) = (123,108) 454,787
Increase in inventories FEEN (60,761) (239,871)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and FEUWE 55038 & H Ath fE Gk IR
other receivables W (35 0) 77,357 (500,067)
Increase in trade and other payables JEHE 53R IE & E b e 5108
3 17,380 167,416
Cash used in operations BEEERHES (89,132) (117,785)
Income tax paid B ETEH
— Hong Kong Profits Tax paid — BRBESMER = S
— PRC Enterprise income tax paid — BB EMER (20) =
(20) =
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REXBRE R
ACTIVITIES (89,152) (117,735)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2012 HE =T ——
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA&# 271))

Sre e LS

2012 2011
—B——fF SR
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BiaE BEET T BT TT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREZEHELSAKE
Payment to acquire property, AP « BB MR
plant and equipment PANE- 19 (6,728) (1,531)
Proceeds from disposal of property, ﬁ’%%% s B E R E
plant and equipment 5708 2 90
Deposit for acquisition of property, g ﬁﬁ%% 5 Kk tE
plant and equipment a0 — (19,908)
Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiaries % %{EE‘F NalZRE
Vi 43 (1) e
Net cash inflow from acquisition of WEEM B AR 2B &R AFEE
subsidiaries 42 897 —
Interest received EAE 486 63
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETER ST HFEH
ACTIVITIES (5,344) (21,286)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES @& ;ZHIRELRE
Proceeds from placement and subscription of -~ it & & 2R AR 5 2 Fr 155538
shares (net of expenses) (RS 39(a) - 190,550
Repayment of promissory notes EEEARNEE 38 — (20,822)
Loans and borrowings raised FIERERKEER 42,800 16,359
Repayment of loans and borrowings BEEINES (7,191) (15,874)
Advance from shareholders R% R = 2k 111,688 137,387
Advance from a related company —XEE QAT BN 2,015 =
Repayment of amounts due to shareholders 1812 FE N IR R FRIE (46,735) (130,057)
Repayment of amount due to BEEN —RAERFIFRIE
a related company - (54,809)
Interest paid EAAFE (1,068) (719)
Proceeds from issue of shares upon the TR BB AR A IR BE T T AR (D
exercise of share options Z 1S 5kIA 4l 3,341
Proceeds from finance lease payables FERTRVE A2 TS ?X i 500
Interest element of finance lease payments FEAR LY TAIEZ FLE (13) 6)
Capital element of finance lease payments =R OE é{K‘B (100) (50)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders BEAR $¥ % AR R 2 IS
of the Company (22,691) 5
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RMETERESTAEH
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 78,776 125,800
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ﬁﬁ&iﬂﬁ%ﬁ%
CASH EQUIVALENTS B F (15,720) (13,221)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FNREREASEEY
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 23,680 36,822
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE Exgm o wE
RATE CHANGES (200) 79
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRAESRASEEY
AT END OF YEAR 2F 7,760 23,680
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH REeERBEEEYEREIMN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 27 7,760 23,679
Cash and bank balances classified as DA EFE}T—M’E%%Z%%&
held for sale fETT 28 — 1
7,760 23,680
The notes on pages 52 to 187 form part of these consolidated financial =~ 2552 B =5 187 B 2 i sE B L E4R A B 5 RE

statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 HiE - ——F=A=+—RHILFE

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and its ordinary shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“Stock Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company comprise tree
felling service; sustainable forest management and investment; trading
and sales of forestry and-timber products; manufacturing and sales of

timber products.

2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These consolidated financial statements had been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual International Financial Reporting Standards, International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provision of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. A summary of the significant
accounting policies adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries

(collectively the “Group”) is set out below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs which are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group and the: Company. Note 4 provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated

financial statements.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$2,327,909,000 (201 1:
profit of approximately HK$341,486,000) and had negative
operating cash flows of approximately HK$89,152,000 (2011:

approximately HK$117,735,000) for the year.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the impact of the
current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group and the
ability of the Group to attain positive cash flow operations in the

immediate and longer term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the yearended 31 March 2012 B E =2 —_—F=A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

@

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

In order to strengthen the capital base of the Group and to
improve the Group’s financial position, liquidity and cash flows in
the immediate foreseeable future, and otherwise to sustain the
Group as a going concern, the Group has adopted the following
measures.

On 7 June 2012, the Company and its wholly own subsidiaries
entered into a loan agreement with the lender, an independent
third party. Under the loan agreement, the Group may borrow up
to HK$50 million within a 12-month period commencing the date
of the loan agreement. As of 20 December 2012, the Group has
drawn down HK$30 million under the loan agreement, of which
HK$15 million is in escrow.

On 27 August 2012, the Group obtained a waiver from the lender
to waive their claim in relation to an event of default about the
suspension of trading of the Company on one off basis, and to
relax the Group’s undertake on the ratio of total liabilities to net
assets value of the Group for the period of one year.

On 19 December 2012, the Group obtained a second waiver
from the lender to waive their claim in relation to an event of
default about the suspension of trading due to the delay the
annual results announcement for the period ended 31 March
2012 and interim results announcement for the period ended 30
September 2012.

On 26 June 2012, the Group entered into a supplementary
agreement with the lender providing the Group further loan facility
of HK$40 million in the event if a trade creditor in Brazil lodges
any official claims against UTRB for payment of fees accrued.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, in light of the
measures taken to date, together with the expected results
of other measures in progress, the Group will have sufficient
working capital for its current requirements. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company consider that it is appropriate to
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to restate the values of
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to classify non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively. The effects
of these potential adjustments have not been reflected in the
financial statements.

3. FEEHHEHBE®)

(@

PR BB ()

AREE A R ARRZEANEE 2 &R
EE M EAREE 2 BEAR ~ TR
B RREME  UNBEAEERFE
B8 AEEERMATRES -

il g o s S [ ol S Bt AN R
2EMBAREERA (ABYE=
BRI E R ek - MEBEER D
AEB R EFKEH R 12E
A B R & Afx % 7% # 50,000,000
s P e =y A iy o =
AEEEREBEERHHIRIUSE
30,000,000 + H A &% 15,000,000
TTHEEAFA -

REE—SE A B2 REE
BERAESHRE  —REREEH
ARRBNEEEEMEBELNSMN
ZHR  URREAEERASER
—FHHz e EEEEFELEAM
VERGE °

TN e e ) R AN B ]
BEXRHESE _BRE Heh
BMREERMRE-_T——F=F1
=+ HIEEZEFEEAERE
BT _—FhA=+HIEHEZS
HEBEAENBEIEEEMEIUELD
EHZHR -

A= S Sy = B w7 = B 1 |
BERA AT - MREEZ
—Z B EREA—BRUTRBRL X
FEAERELEMERRER .
MAEEREE-SERBE B
40,000,000 7T, ©

ARRIEZERR  FMERES ML
RIEETHME R BRNER - A58
ERABEHEEERRERRER
2Rl ARRESRR  HFE
RERERUGEMGEREBIGE
5o

AR ERBER AR = 275 RIZAIE
hHEESIHEEEBEEETKESE
78 BLAREE A 2 (EfERINAERTIR
B URKIFRBEERBED R
DEBRBDEEREE - AV
SRUBRRIFEERARZZE -

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011/2012 053



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2012 HiE - ——F=A=+—RHILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(continued)

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

March 2012 comprise the Group.

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency that best reflects the
economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances
relevant to the entity. These financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), rounded to. the nearest thousand
except for per share data. Hong Kong dollar is the Company’s

functional and presentation currency.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the biological
assets are stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting

policies set out in Note 3(g).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities; income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results

may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods

if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and
estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next

year are discussed in Note 5.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated- into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealized profits arising from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in_a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those-interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at their proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the owners of the company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of the
total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the owners of
the Company. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance (effective from 1 January
2010 onwards). Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards ‘these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

056

(b)

()

KRMEZBRER AR

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do-not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling
and non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect
the change in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a .disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (Please
refer to Note 3(i)), unless the investment is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale).

Business combinations

Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are recognised at their acquisition date fair
values, except that:

o a deferred tax asset or liability arising from the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination
and the potential tax effects of temporary differences and
carry forwards of an acquiree that exist at the acquisition
date or arise as a result of acquisition are recognised and
measured in accordance with IAS12 Income Tax;
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

3. FEEHHEHBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Business combinations (continued)

° assets or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance
with IAS 19 Employee Benefits;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (Please refer to the
accounting policy below); and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are' classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is- measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
of acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognized
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests may be initially measured either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis.

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the “measurement period”
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

058

()

KRMEZBRER AR

Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is
classified as-equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an assets
or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in
accordance with |IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the
Group obtains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognized in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or
additional assets or liabilities .are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
on the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised on that date.

The policy described' above is approved to all business
combinations that take place on or after 1 January 2010.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any, as established on the
date of acquisition of the business (Please refer to the accounting
policy above).

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. A cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently. when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. If some or all of goodwill allocated to a
cash-generating ‘unit was 'acquired in a business combination
during the current annual period, that unit shall be tested for
impairment before the end of the current annual period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each-asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income/income statement. An
impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the:relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit
or loss on disposal.

Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land are measured on initial recognition of cost. The
cost of freehold land acquired in a business combination is the
fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Freehold land and construction in progress are not depreciated.

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses
(Please refer to Note 3(i)):

—  furniture and fixtures, machinery, engineering and other
equipment, and motor vehicles
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

060

(e)

KRMEZBRER AR

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on-which they are
located, and an appropriate proportion of production overheads
and borrowing costs.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimate
useful life as follow:

Furniture and fixtures 5-10 years
Machinery, engineering and other equipment 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers
from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of
foreign currency: purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised
in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net proceeds and the carrying amount
of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is
transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained profits andis
not reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
Intangible ‘assets, other than goodwill, identified on business
combinations are capitalised based on their fair values.

Intangible assets acquired by.the Group are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite)
and impairment losses (Please refer to Note 3(i)). Expenditure
on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of patent with finite useful lives is charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over its useful lives of 6 years
which will expire on 2 August 2017.

Amortisation of outstanding sales contract is charged to profit
or loss based on the percentage of revenue recognised on the
contract.

Trademark has an indefinite useful life.

Amortisation of timber concession rights with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over its estimated
useful lives of 5 to 25 years, which is based on their estimation
of the economic benefits of units of production of forestry and
timber products from the harvest of timber during the period
of concession rights, or the expected useful life of the rights if
shorter. Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Biological assets

Biological assets are living plants involved in the agricultural
activities of the transformation of biological assets into agricultural
produce for sale or into additional biological assets. Biological
assets and agricultural produce are measured at fair value less
costs to sell at initial recognition and at each reporting date. The
fair value less costs to sell at the time of harvest is deemed as the
cost of agricultural produce for further processing, if applicable.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

062

(h)

KRMEZBRER AR

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series. of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines that
the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets
for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of
payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether
the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

U]

(i)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards
of .ownership are classified -as being held under finance
leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified
as operating leases, with the following exception:

Land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair
value of which cannot be measured separately from the fair
value of a building situated thereon at the inception of the
lease, is accounted for as being held under a finance lease,
unless the building is also clearly held under an operating
lease. For these purposes, the inception of the lease is
the time that the lease was first entered into by the Group,
or taken over from the previous lessee, or at the date of
construction of those buildings, if later.

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the
leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum
lease payments, of such assets are included in property,
plant and equipment and the corresponding liabilities,
net of finance charges; are recorded as obligations under
finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which
write off the ‘cost or valuation of the assets over the term
of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the Company
or Group will obtain ownership of the asset, the life of
the asset, as set out in Note 3(g). Impairment losses are
accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy as
set out in Note 3(j). (Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments are charged to profit or loss over the period. of
the leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period.)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged as'an expense in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

() Impairment of assets

U]

Impairment of receivables

Current and non-current receivables that are stated at
cost or amortised cost are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the-attention of the
Group about one or more of the following loss events:

—  significant financial difficulty of the debtors;

=i a ibreachiof . contract, “such-as:acdeftault:or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and

— significant changes in the technological market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtors.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

064

(i)

Impairment of assets (continued)

()

Impairment of receivables (continued)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

For investments in subsidiaries, the impairment
loss is measured by comparing the recoverable
amount of the investment with its carrying amount in
accordance with note 3(i)(ii). The impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
in accordance with note 3(i)(ii).

For trade receivables and other financial assets
carried at amortised cost, the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial- recognition of these
assets), where the effect of discounting is material.
This assessment is made collectively where financial
assets carried at amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status, and
have not been individually assessed as impaired.
Future cash flows for financial assets which are
assessed for impairment collectively are based on
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decrease and the decrease can
be linked objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Impairment of assets (continued)

U]

(i)

Impairment of receivables (continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding
assets directly, except for.impairment losses recognised
in respect of trade debtors included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but
not remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful
debts are recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable is written off against trade
debtors directly and any amounts held in the allowance
account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance
account are reversed against the allowance account.
Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly are
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the
case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment (other than properties
carried at revalued amounts);

—  intangible assets;

— investments in subsidiaries; and

—  goodwill

3. FEEHHEHBE®)

@i

BEZRE )

(i)

(i)

FEW I8 2 BifE (4R)

MEBEERAREEREM
35 MERL R E 5 IR (R B
YE 5 308 B B At B W IR
SIE) R 2 R EE R
LU EHSBERA/T
SEEILIETATREMR @ - FE LI
o RERZBEBEEREER
FRACER - M AKER /KBS
AR IEEN - AR TAKE
ZEBREREEEZRETE
EHH - MEBERABRZE
B EMEREERED - BE
REERARZ S BHERR
Wm - e EERARD - &
Bz HmEE RN ERID
ERERMEZER  GRE

e
3¢ gy
THER o

HtEEZ Bl

KA REE R SNERZ BB RIRTS
REREHEEER TR
A AR T I B ER BEHE
BES (REREE. BRI

BN REBERZRERE
THEFEEXAEERD 28
Fms

- BE BERERHBA
EfHSRINKRZMER
)

- EBAE:

— RMBAFRIZEKRE &

iy s [

I

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011/2012 065



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R MR

For the year ended 31 March2012 2 —Z——F=A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

066

(i)

KRMEZBRER AR

Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher
of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount' of any goodwiill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then,.to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying amount
of an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs to sell,-or value in use, if
determinable.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

— Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an‘impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment: loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with IAS 34, Interim
Financial Reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(Please refer to notes 3(i)(i) and {ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill and available-for-sale equity securities
carried at cost are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would
have been recognised had the impairment been assessed
only at the end of the financial year to which the interim
period relates.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

068

0)

(k)

()

KRMEZBRER AR

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where
applicable, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition,
is determined on the first-in first-out basis. Net realisable value
is the ‘estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write down
of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period the write down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write down
of inventories-is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised-as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts,
except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to
related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables
are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts
(see Note 3(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially ‘at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised
cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees
payable, using the effective interest method.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m) Preferred share capital

(n)

(0)

(P)

Preferred share capital is classified as equity if it is non-
redeemable, or redeemable only at the Company’s opinion, and
any dividends are discretionary. Dividends on preference share
capital classified as equity are recognised as distributions: within
equity.

Preferred share capital is classified as a liability if it is redeemable
on a specific date or at the option of the shareholders, or
if dividend payments are not discretionary. The liability is
recognised in accordance with the Group’s policy for interest-
bearing borrowings set out in Note 3(l) and accordingly dividends
thereon are recognised on an accruals basis in profit or loss as
part of finance costs.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with Note 3(r)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are
also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows. Cash
equivalents include investments and advances denominated in
foreign currencies provided that they fulfill the above criteria.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to

defined contribution plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans:and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

070

(P)

KRMEZBRER AR

Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

(i)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a-percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with rules of the
central pension scheme.

Share-based payments

Share options granted to employees

The fair value -of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the binomial option pricing
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options, the total
estimated fair value of the-share options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability that the
options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any. adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as
an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share
options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market price
of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is recognised
in the capital reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is transferred to the share premium account) or
the option expires (when it is released directly to retained
profits).

Share options granted to consultants

Share options granted to consultants in exchange for
goods or services are measured at the fair values of
goods or services received, unless that fair value cannot
be reliably measured, in which case the goods or services
received are measured by reference to the fair value of the
share options granted. The amounts are recognised as
expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
option reserve), when the Group obtains the goods or
when the counterparties render services, unless the goods
or services qualify for recognition as assets.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the years, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also
arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
that those differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is,
those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the-case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

3. FEEHHEHBE®)

(a)

FRig®t

RER 2 FiSHi G FEEERIE - AR
BEMEEENBEAN 2 EE) - A1
HBNEER AR EREENEET
R S RNE M EERERE
BERERERZEE EIBERT
ERRRSED IRt EE RS
BEER AR o

AR ARRIBE ARERBIA - 12
HE RS HERMIARE R
ZHEGTEZ ARENTIE - WA
EFENRMNTEEL AR -

BERAEER BB R B AT H
MEERRE RS Z58 - NEERRE
RPBHRERNZ2T 2 REE - EE
B2 28R o BT RIAE E TN A DR
B R R B A TR TS 1R MOR B A 2 7
B BRTEL -

BRETARZPIIMERIN - FIBEIE
MEBBERABREHRBEEI R

R WELAR IR AT BEEE A 2 FERRBE
m A EE AT B A B ERIR © Al X
FRER P M E R ERELRLER
HEEZ HRERM @A B OE
BERANERZHEMELSE - EZS
E MR — RIS R & R — &R
MERERM - WEHAREL T
BMEREZR R —HRSGRERRE
EMEEREERAN TRERGEE
HIFAEE - EREREERNE R
EEER BAXFFERBAEAHRIEA
BE R R ELRIERIAEER -
e mAE—2E8 - BIZAE Kk HEE—
BIGHREANE - ERTERA BN E
72 W TR HAFE BESE M TR A R iR
% —BHREEMEAED -

HRELERIREERBBEZERHIHN
BABERKREBEZTAMBER
Z8 TR ESTHERBEN (W
BEBA G —E D RIRRIN) BEX
BEZEHER - AR ERHEAE
REAHERER  MARRTE
B RPRIAZNSR B2 8 0 B i i
AATREER TR R A RO 2 258 3k
B AR ERR - AR RIS AT K2R
O ZERE °

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011/2012 071



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2012 HiE - ——F=A=+—RHILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

072

(a)

KRMEZBRER AR

Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting-period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at end
of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred.tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred: tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group-has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

—  different taxable entities, -which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle
the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

0]

(i)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for
a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with the terms of
a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee (being the transaction price, unless
the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade and other
payables. Where consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration
is recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset, Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition
of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over
the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are recognised
in accordance with Note 3(r)(iii) if and when (i) it becomes
probable that the holder of the guarantee will call upon
the Group under the guarantee, and (i) the amount of that
claim on the Group is expected to exceed the amount
currently carried in trade and other payables in respect
of that guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.

Contingent liabilities assumed in business combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
which' are present obligations at the date of acquisition
are initially recognised at fair value, provided the fair value
can be reliably measured. After their initial recognition at
fair value, such contingent liabilities are recognised at the
higher of the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation where appropriate, and the amount that would
be determined in accordance with Note 3(r)(iii). Contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination that cannot
be reliably fair valued or were not present obligation at the
date of acquisition are disclosed in accordance with Note

3(r)(iii).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
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(s)

KRMEZBRER AR

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

(i)

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value -of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

()

(i)

Tree felling service income

Revenue from provision of tree felling services is
recognised when services are provided. The amount of
revenue recognised is based on the fair value of logs
harvested during the tree felling process or any cash
consideration received-or receivable.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered at the customers’ premises or-agreed
point of delivery which is taken to be the point in time when
the customer has accepted the goods and the related risks
and rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value added
tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

Sre e LS

3. FEEHHEHBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

(s) Revenue recognition (continued) (s) WARERE @

(iii) ~Interest income (i)~ FILEYEA
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the FEWAZER A E LR AR
effective interest method. RFHERR o

(iv)  Rental income from operating lease (iv) HEEHEXNZHEZKA
Rental income receivable under operating lease is R & & 70 49 AT Uk BY 2 FH & U
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the ARERRER - WHHBR
periods covered by the lease term, except where an E7HBEATHES  HEHE
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of HtEEFRERAREARESE
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset. E TS Fles 2 R =0 BIE RIS ©
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss ERZEHNEBERREBZRE
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments R ERBREKESNFFE
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in H 3y o B SR TH & M BRELAS
which they are earned. BRBWA

(v)  Service fee income () HRBEEWA
Income from provision of services is recognised at the time TR AR P15 U0 A 3% BR SE AR B
when the services are rendered by reference to the stage ER AR AR 75 I T LARERR ©
of completion.

(t)  Translation of foreign currencies t IhEmE
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated FRETZINER GRS H 2 #E B

at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. ltems of statement
of financial position, including goodwill arising on consolidation
of foreign operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005, are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign
operation acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated at the
foreign exchange rate that applied at the date of acquisition of
the foreign operation.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
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(t)

(u)

(v)

KRMEZBRER AR

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents
a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose
of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as
held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs when the operation is
abandoned.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

(w)

Discontinued operations (continued)
Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount
is presented on the face of the profit or loss, which comprises:

—  the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation;
and

—  the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement
to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly
probable and the non-current asset (or disposal group) is
available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management
must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from
the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell.

If the Group has classified non-current assets (or disposal group)
as held for sale, but the criteria described above are no longer
met, the Group ceases to classify the asset (or disposal group)
as held for sale.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

078

POLICIES (continued)

(w) Non-current assets held for sale (continued)
The Group measures a non-current asset that ceases to be
classified as held for sale (or ceases to be included in a disposal

ZF=A=1T-HItFE

group classified as held for sale) at the lower of:

(@ . its carrying amount before the asset (or disposal
group) was classified as held for sale, adjusted for any
depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have
been recognised had the asset (or disposal group) not

been classified as held for sale, and

(o) its recoverable amount at the date of the subsequent

decision not to sell.

The Group includes any required adjustment to the carrying
amount of a non-current asset that ceases to be classified as
held for sale in profit or loss in the period in which the criteria

described in above are no

(x) Related parties

(@ - A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is-a member of the key management pefrsonnel of

the Group or t

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

(i) .~ Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

longer met.

if that person:

he Group’s parent.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Sre e LS

(x) Related parties (continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies: (continued)

(iv). - One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group.

(v The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over thezentity tor issa member of .the. key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent

of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(y) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of

these criteria.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(2)

(aa)

Shares held by the Company for settlement of
acquisition consideration

The Company issued shares and held them on behalf of the
vendor for the settlement of acquisition consideration payables to
the vendor in future years upon meeting of net profit guarantee
by the vendor in connection with acquisition of its Zhongshan
subsidiary. The shares, valued at HK$0.414 per share, including
any directly attributable incremental costs, are presented as
“Shares ‘held by the Company for settlement of acquisition
consideration” and deducted from total equity. As a result of
the failure to meet net profit guarantee by the vendor as per the
acquisition agreement, these shares are held by the Company
awaiting- disposal by the Company. Proceeds recovered from
the disposal of these shares shall be returned to the Company.
Details of the acquisition and net profit guarantee are outlined in
Note 42.

Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by other
than a fixed amount of cash or a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments are derivative financial instruments.
Warrants classified as derivative financial instruments are
recognised at their fair-values at the date of issue: Changes in
fair values in subsequent periods are recognised through profit or
loss.

4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has adopted the following new and revised Standards,
Amendments and Interpretations (“new and revised IFRSs”) that are
first effective for the current accounting period.

IFRS 1 (Amendments)
IAS 24 (Revised)
Amendments to
IFRIC—nt 14
IFRIC-Int 19

Amendments to IFRSs

Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of IFRS
Related party disclosures

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
Requirement

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments

Improvements to IFRSs issued in 2010
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4.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Except as described below, the application of new and revised IFRSs
in the current year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current or prior accounting period
and/or on the disclosures set out in these financial statements.

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (as revised in 2009)

IAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has revised the definition of a related party.
As a result, the Group has re-assessed the identification of related
parties and concluded that the revised definition does not have any
material impact on the Group’s related party disclosures in the current
and previous periods. IAS 24 (as revised in 2009) also introduces
modified disclosure requirements for government-related entities. The
disclosure about the Group’s related parties have been conformed to
the amended disclosure requirement.

Improvements to IFRSs issued in 2010

Improvements to IFRSs issued in 2010 omnibus standard introduces
a number of amendments to the disclosure requirements in IFRS
7 Financial instruments: Disclosures. These disclosures about the
Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments in-note 44 have
been conformed to the amended disclosure requirements. These
amendments do not have any material impact on the classification,
recognition and measurements of the amounts recognised in the
financial statements in the current and previous periods.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies which are
described in Note 3, management has made certain key assumptions
concerning the future, and other key sources of estimated uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a -material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, as described below.

(@  Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group management determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where. useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives, or it will write off or write down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold.
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

(®)

(©

()

(€

KRMEZBRER AR

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses on trade and other
receivables resulting from inability of the customers or debtors
to make the required payments. The Group bases the estimates
on the ageing of the trade and other receivables, customer or
debtor credit-worthiness, and historical write off experience.
If the financial condition of the customers or debtors were to
deteriorate, actual write off would be higher than estimates.

Write down of inventories

Inventories are written down to net realisable value based
on an assessment of the realisability of inventories. Write
down of inventories are recorded where events or changes. in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be realised.
The identification of write downs requires the use of judgements
and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount
of inventories and write down of inventories in the periods in
which such estimate has been changed.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has been
impairment of goodwill in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in Note 3(j). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units are determined based on value in use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions made
by management on the future operation of the business, pre-tax
discount rates, and other assumptions underlying the value in
use calculations.

Amortisation of intangible assets

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. The determination of the useful lives
involves management’s estimation. The Group reassesses the
useful life of the intangible assets and if the expectation differs
from the original estimate, such a difference may impact the
amortisation in the years and the estimate will be changed in the
future period.

—E—— /2 _FFRH

St R R H B )

fhEt THABEE 2 EERIF (5)

(b)

()

@

(e)

FEW B 5 558 R B At FE L 5 T R 1E
AEEBREPHEHAE DA
PR s IA M S BRI E 5 3UA R EAb
FEWCRIA IR 2 RUERTE - NEETY
Hzﬁil&féf% OB N L b e KR IR 2 B

CBRPHBEBAZEERBEZM
ﬁﬁéﬂﬁzi&fﬂéﬁ HEPHEHAZ
MEAREE - BIR 2 MARE SRS
ABERE

fﬁéﬁﬁﬁ“‘ﬁ 5 Z A1 =B BE N HIREHR
ﬁﬁ?ﬂﬂﬂiTmfﬁaﬂﬁ 1Hﬁ*$$1¢‘2
/R EMBTNSBEARELIEE
E'JQW?JEXT?%T o R 2 BRI T 2
ﬁﬁﬁ‘#ﬂ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ fis 5 TR HR R R S 1
AR R ENEERGE ARG

B2 REERFE ZHOR

A& RE

7N 6 B & F AR B P AL 3() AT 8 2 5T K
FOETROA - AR EE BRIE
REEEBM 2 AIRE S BIRIEE
REEAELEE -5t EE B2

FEHEB 2 RREEBR LA
BERER G IR - WERERE
REBEFEEZHEMBERR -

B EE#E
BREENERERGIAIERFES
B BTEUERAFHSIREEELZ
et - ARBEMAGEELEEZA
ERFH  ERMARIRERLME
ERERAETEFAME - MibsT
R AR AR E L -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R M EE

For the yearended 31 March 2012 B E =2 —_—F=A=+—HILFE

5.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

®

©

()

()

Impairment loss of intangible assets

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has been
impairment of intangible assets. In the event that the carrying
values of the intangible assets are higher than their recoverable
amounts (i.e., the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value
in use), impairment loss is recognized. The recoverable amounts
of cash-generating units are determined based on value in use
calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates and
assumptions made by management on the future operation of
the business, discount rates, and other assumptions underlying
the value in use calculations.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based-on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that are initially
recorded, such. differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination
is made.

Fair values of biological assets

Management estimates at the end of the reporting- period the
current market prices less costs to sell of biological assets
with reference to market prices:and professional valuations.
Unanticipated volatile changes in market prices of the underlying
agricultural produce could significantly affect the fair values of
these biological assets and result in fair value re-measurement
losses in future accounting periods.

The Group’s forestry business is subject to the usual agricultural
hazards from fire, wind and insects. Forces of nature such
as temperature and rainfall may also affect harvest efficiency.
Management considers adequate preventive measures are in
place and the relevant legislation under forestry laws in Brazil will
assist in minimising exposure. Nevertheless, to the extent that
un-anticipated factors affecting harvestable agricultural produce
may result in re-measurement or losses in future accounting
periods.

Consideration receivable

Consideration receivable is carried at its net realizable value
as of 31 March 2012. Management assumed it will be able to
assist the Buyer of its Chita Operations in obtaining two lost
concessions back. The consideration receivable will be subject
to review at least at each reporting date to determine whether
impairment has occurred.

S AR Y B 2)

AT THABER 2 E2HRR ()

®

©

(h)

()

BIEE 2 BiERR
REBEEETRA - LA HETE
ERBLRE - MEVEEZEEES
RE AT B 258 (VA FERHEEK
AEFEHAEERERZE®E) > Al
BREARESE HEELSM LA
WEegEIREEREBEELE
E e s EE BEEFEHEBK IR
KEES IR RE IR AR I 5 BB
& WERAREREEFEEZH
b fRa% o

Fris#

AEBAXNSERDEERZ TG
B o BLAT{STAEER] 2 BRI B R IF L
BARHE - BT R KA BIANE

AIARMEZHET AR —REBFT
HEETARERE - AEERRE)

PRGN A5t BLERREE
ZEEEREE - MIEFEEIRE
MIEA RN T ez 28 - QA
EHENER] A AR IAEZ SRR
EER BB BB E

EYRELFE

BEEERNSRESHRAER2RME
REXRGEGFTENEEZERNTE
G HERA - HEREMTEN
W2 BINKB AL - AlRE R H% T4
MEBEZAVEELEEATE  WE
gf%@ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ&?ﬁi%ﬁ%

8 o

AEEMEXEBRZ -BREXEXRY
8 A B KR - FOR ME
NEFRARNZTAIEFERLK
o BIEERA  REEMEHED
e - BE IR A REMEED 5B
REBRERE - A1 FERIEVK
X2 AR ARt R A RE S BUR K & 5T
HRIEH SRS RHREREIE

FEUIEE

UGB s e T ==
B2 Al #IRFETR - EEERRKE
15 8E 175 Bh B 75 ph HL IR ZR MR E TS B[]
MIBRE 2 - BIKRERKZD
NEE2RBHHETEZ  UBERS
HIRRE -

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011/2012 083



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2012 HiE - ——F=A=+—RHILFE

5.
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies

Certain critical .accounting judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies are described below.

Going concern basis

As mentioned in note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are confident that the Company will be able
to meet its financial obligations in full as and when they fall due in the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

If the going concern basis is not appropriate, adjustments would have
to be made to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities respectively, to reduce the values of assets to
their immediate recoverable amounts and to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise. Such adjustments may have a significant
consequential effect on the loss for the year and net assets to the
Company

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines (products and services) and
geography. In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the board of directors (“Board”) of the Company
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment,
the Group has presented the following reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments.

Continuing operations
Tree felling service: provision of tree felling and clearing services.

Sustainable forest management: sustainable management 'of and
investment in natural forests; timber and wood processing; trading and
sales of forestry and timber products.

Zhongshan operations: manufacturing and sales of timber products
including but not limited to wooden doors, furniture and wooden
flooring.

Discontinued operations
Chita forests operations: logging, timber and wood processing, timber
trading and timber sales and marketing.

In accordance with IFRS 8, segment information disclosed in this
consolidated financial statements has been prepared in a manner
consistent with the information used by the Board of the Company
for the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources among segments. In this regard, the Board of the Company
monitors the results and assets attributable to each reportable segment
on the following bases:
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6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6.

Segment assets include all non-current assets and current assets with
the exception of certain unallocated corporate assets to an individual
reportable segment.

All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than current,
deferred tax liabilities and unallocated corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with
reference to sales generated by those segments and the expenses
incurred by those segments or, which otherwise arise-from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities
An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment is reported below:

i )
ABAEOERBIIRDEERRDEE -
BEFROEAES RSB RES B E
ThPRALERE -

S

4\

EBBEIDREAHRE DAL - AN
HEE ELHRARBERAIELEAR
BRAN o

WARRXTI2EREZED R ZHER
ZENBMAEERX AN ELEHEZET D
MEGEEMELEZHAXMAEEAHRE

D EB

(@ 7HMEE BEREE
AR B A2 WA D25 AT

SR
2012
—BE-CF
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
FRERERY BRILER
Sustainable Chita
Tree forest forests
feling management  Zhongshan operation
service A#E  operations Sub-total bidS Total
KRR AMER eSS et AW @5t

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
fit BETT BETT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BETT BETT BT BRTT

Revenue from external customers REIREEZHEA 5,396 30,702 79,518 115,616 = 115,616
Inter-segment revenue AEREBA - 58,389 - 58,389 - 58,389
Reportable segment revenue AHREFBRA 5,396 89,091 79,518 174,005 - 174,005
Reportable segment loss before taxation DEBRBATEE (223,220) (2,080,650) (72,004) (2,375,874) (4,316) (2,380,190)
Change in fair value of biological KW EENTEEE

assets less costs to sell ISR A - (150,419) - (150,419) = (150,419)
Amortisation B - - (2,389) (2,389) - (2,389)
Depreciation e - (1,332) (91) (1,423) L (1,428)
Write off of other receivables isH E fth PR FRIR - (7,434) - (7,434) = (7,434)
Write off of timber logs WSHRAAM 9 (233,572) - - (233,572) - (233,572)
Write down of timber logs WORRAAM = (1,781) = (1,781) - (1,781)
Rental expenses Hem% 8 - (13,745) - (13,745) - (13,745)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE « BE LB

plant and equipment ZE#E 5 (296) = (29%) = (296)
Impairment loss of intangible assets BRAERERE - - (45,205) (45,205) - (45,205)
Write off of trade receivables RS 5508 89 o (413,360) 2 (413,360) & (413,360)
Waiver of service fee payables BRENREE 9 12,205 - - 12,205 - 12,205
Impairment loss of goodwil HERESE - (1,384,765) (77,353)  (1,462,118) - (1,462,118)
Interest income FEWA - 485 1 486 - 486
Interest expense FlERX - (9,780) - (9,780) - (9,780)
Reportable segment assets UHESNEE - 1,449,834 64,686 1,514,520 - 1,514,520
Additions to non-current FRBAMEERE

segment assets - 3,847 2,881 6,728 - 6,728
Reportable segment liabilities AREAPER = (390,465) (27,138 (417,609 - (417,603)
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

086

@

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) () PEXEFE BEEREEH)
An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment is reported below: ANEBFERAIRE DI 2D
(continued) T (#&)
2011
—ET——F
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
B TS B IEER
Sustainable Chita
Tree forest forests
feling  ‘management operation
service ATHEHE Sub-total TR Total
BN AMEE et FRIRZETS e
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT B FIT BB T BETT BE T
Revenue from external customers REIRERE Z KA 343,671 522,984 866,655 = 866,655
Inter-segment revenue DEBREUWA 52,542 - 52,542 - 52,542
Reportable segment revenue A ED LA 396,213 522,984 919,197 - 919,197
Reportable segment profit/(loss) AR E D EBRRFL AT
before taxation wA(E1E) 32,253 503,896 536,149 (15,634) 520,515
Change in fair value of biological EYEENTES
assets less costs to sell TEHE A - 250,243 250,243 - 250,243
Depreciation e (5) (1,119) (1,124) L (1,124)
Write off of other receivables e E At FE R K18 == (28) (28) (396) (424)
Write off of timber logs 88 R AR (272,482) = (272,482) - (272,482)
Write down of timber logs O SRR A = — - (1,000) (1,000)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BEK
plant and equipment Bia ) oF | i (45) (45) T (45)
Write off of intangible assets M ER & E - - — (9,926) (9,926)
Waiver of liabilities by creditors BERAREEE 108,274 - 108,274 = 108,274
Interest income FBUA i 62 63 - 63
Interest expense FEHAX — (9,985) (9,985) - (9,985)
Reportable segment assets WREIDEE 240,841 3,662,618 3,903,459 279,828 4,183,287
Additions to non-current
segment assets FRBABEERE 116 21,323 21,439 o 21,439
Reportable segment liabilities ARESBEE 50,546 297,106 347,652 70,856 418,508
KEMEZRERAR —T—— /- —FFH
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,

profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

(i) Revenue

(b) AT¥RE DAY A - B W
B EEREBBEZHK:

(I
2012 2011
—E—_fF TE——5F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T PRI
Reportable segment revenue AIERE D FURA 174,005 919,197
Elimination of inter-segment revenue - %449 2RI A (58,389) (52,542)
Consolidated revenue LA MBA 115,616 866,655
(i) (Loss)/profit (i) (EHE) TEF
2012 2011
—EB—__fF e s
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T B TTT
Reportable segment (loss)/profit Al 2R 45D B BRFLRT
before taxation (E8),/ =7
(continuing operations) (BESEET) (2,375,874) 536,149
Unallocated corporate income RAOBBERA 2,703 -
Depreciation e (231) (326)
Unallocated corporate expenses AOBEDEML (40,108) (27,963)
Unallocated interest expense FOEFEFRAS (6,010) (846)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BERT(EE) R (HERE )
(continuing operations) (2,419,520) 507,014
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DEPEE @

AHEDTBBA /ﬁile?.Es
B EEREBZHE: (

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, (b)
profit or loss, assets and liabilities: (continued)

088

(i) - Assets (i) BE
2012 2011
e St e
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Segment assets for reportable —i;% KR SIS A S 5 EB
segments from continuing operations  Z 5 2l & &= 1,514,520 3,908,459
Segment assets for reportable ERIEEBAHRE S
segment from discontinued Z D ESEEE (Hfat28)
operations (Note 28) — 279,828
Reportable segment assets ARG DA EE 1,514,520 4,183,287
Unallocated: RAHL
— Unallocated corporate assets — KO EEE 213,313 3,704
Total assets per consolidated R ISR RET 25
statement of financial position EERE 1,727,833 4,186,991
(iv)  Liabilities (iv) B
2012 2011
=F—=F S e
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Segment liabilities for reportable FEQEER A HRE DT
segments from continuing operations ~ Z 5 &P E (& 417,603 347,652
Segment liabilities for reportable EARIEER A HRE DT
segments from discontinued 2D EaE (K 28)
operations (Note 28) - 70,856
Reportable segment liabilities AsREDEEE 417,603 418,508
Unallocated: b 2N
— Provision for taxation — FTEEE 49,456 49,456
— Deferred tax liabilities — BEFHIBAE 339,564 454,341
— Unallocated corporate liabilities — RAOBEEEAE 45,815 8,317
Total liabilities per consolidated AR ERZES
statement of financial position BiEHER 852,438 930,622

KRMEZBRER AR
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SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, b) AHREDTBUWA - & F R E

profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other items:

B BEERAERAEMERZ

(continued) iR (&)
(v)  Other items ) EmEF
2012
-k
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RELEER BALER
Sustainable Chita
Tree forest forests
feling ~ management  Zhongshan operation
service T#E  operations  Unallocated Sub-total ##  Unallocated Sub-total Total
HARRE ANEE RUER AR it RHER AR gt &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
L Eo EBTT BRI AT AETT EBTT BRI BRI R8T
Depreciation i - (1,332) (o1) (281) (1,654) - = - (1,654)
Interest expense flERx - (9,780) = (6,010) (15,790) = ! = (15,790)
Wrte off of other receivables - i3 E A GHIE - (7,434 - (2,000) (9,434) - - - (9,434)
Loss on disposal of property, £ E%% - FiEs
plant and equipment HEBE - (296) - 437) (733) - - - (733)
2011
IF—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT ERFL AETT BT AT AT bt S BETT ABTT
Depreciation ik () (1,119 = (326) (1,450) % - 2 (1,450)
Interest expense HEHR - (9,985) - 846) (10,831) - - - (10,831)
Loss on disposal of property, - HEWIE  HER
plant and equipment By - (] - (108) (151) - - - (151)
(c) Revenue from major products and services: (c) REFEERREHEZWA :
Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
BEREXH BALER &RE
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
—ELoF R CE-CfF S8 F CE-CEGDR R
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
BT AT BEIx - BETT O B%Tr  A%Tn
Tree felling service income RARBRFE A 5,396 343,671 - o 5,396 343,671
Sales of forestry and timber SHEARM AR
products Em 110,220 522,984 - = 110,220 522,984
115,616 866,655 - = 115,616 866,655
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6.

090

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6.

Geographical information

The following is an analysis of geographical location of (i) the Group’s
revenue from external customers and (ii) the Group’s non-current
assets. The geographical locations of customers refers to the locations
at which the customers reside. The Group’s non-current assets include
property, plant and equipment, biological assets, intangible assets and
goodwill. The geographical locations of property, plant and equipment
and biological assets is based on the physical locations of the asset
under consideration. In the case of intangible assets and goodwiill, the
allocation is based on the location of the-operation.

DEHRE @

ih & & ¥

UTROIAKERBINAFTEZIA © R i)
AEBERBEEZIELNT - TR ME
BEPMEZME - AREZIFRDEE
BREME BERREG £VWEE  BY
BENEE -VE BERRKBARLEY
BEZMRRBHEEERF IR 2 -
B/ AENBEBRMBEENRDE -

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

REMREEZIBA EREBEE
2012 2011 2012 2011
d, drems e S S el et SRR L
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T BT T TR T
Continuing operations BERE R
Europe BN - 1,756 - -
North America SIE) 111 2,562 = =
South America M 5,921 346,314 1,422,778 3,119,965
Asia Pacific (other than Hong Kong) DARERMBEES) 109,584 516,023 3,049 101
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B (E#EHE) - - 2,646 2,149
115,616 866,655 1,428,473 83,122:215
Discontinued operations BRIEER
Asia Pacific (other than Hong Kong) DKECEEEES) - — — =
Hong Kong (place of domicile) 575 (EEEh2h) — = = =
115,616 866,655 1,428,473 34220215

KEMELZRERAT —B—— “E—_FFRH
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of the total revenue

of the Group are as follows:

Continuing operations
Customer A — revenue from tree felling
service — Brazil
Customer B — revenue from sales of forestry and
timber products — China
Customer C — revenue from sales of forestry and
timber products — China
Customer D — revenue from sales of forestry and
timber products — China
Customer E — revenue from sales of forestry and
timber products — China

6. DEHmE @)

FREERFZEH

WAL ¢

BEPA— RAEKAREZ
WA —Ef

EPB— REHEARMK
AHERZBA —H
EPFC— REBHEAM R
AHERZBA — B
EFPD— RBHEAM R
AMERZBA —F
BEFE— RBHEAMR
AHERZBA—

e

2012
et

HK$°000
BT T

27,910

KELEAEEBAWAI0% TN EZEFZ

2011
ST
HK$’000
BT T

343,671

174,634

170,653

165,407

7. REVENUE 7. WA
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after WABEIRRE R ETNEEELHE
allowances for returns and trade discounts and revenue from tree felling BEmZEZFEAREARRBEZHA o
service.
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WAL
Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
REREXR BRIEEK =&
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
RS R SRR S e T e T B
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
BRTT A Tm 0 R%¥TIx  BETT 0 B%TR  A%TR
Tree feling service income SRR A 5,396 343,671 - - 5,396 343,671
Sales of forestry and timber products $5E ARH RAKE R 110,220 522,984 - = 110,220 522,984
115,616 866,655 - — 115,616 866,655
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8. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET LOSS 8. HMtWARHEMERFHE
Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
BECEER BRIEER e
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
SR T S e e T e L e T e T
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BT BETT
Other income Hetrg A
Rental income HEWA 29 23 451 529 480 552
Others Hith 4,095 478 - 783 4,095 1,261
4,124 501 451 312 4,575 1,813
Other net loss HUBETE
Net exchange (loss)/gain B (B haFE (85,536) 18,281 (1,284) 671 (36,820) 18,952
Write off of trade receivables WIHEWE 5508
(Note i) (Hiati) (299,086) - - — (299,086) —
Write off of timber logs (Note i) WS B AAM (H7ti) - (272,482 - - - (272,482)
Waiver of liabilities by creditors ERABLAE
(Note i (Hrztii) - 108,274 - - - 108,274
Rental expenses (Note iv) Y (Hativ) (13,745) e = = (13,745) =
Waiver of consideration payable RNRENNE W)
(Note v) 71,183 — - — 71,183 —
Change in fair value of BHaELATLEED
financial liabilities (Note 35) (fiz#35) 2,700 o - = 2,700 -
(274,484)  (145,927) (1,284) 671,  (275,768)  (145256)
Notes: HifaE

092

KRMEZBRER AR

In March 2011, the Group purchased logs and timber from independent
suppliers in Democratic Republic of Congo (“DRC”) and Virginia, USA .and
sold them at a total sale prices of approximately HK$396 million to some PRC
customers who are independent to the Group and its directors on an ex-yard
basis. Ex-yard means the seller was required to deliver the goods to its yard. All
other transportation costs and risks are assumed by the buyers. The customers
inspected and accepted the goods sold at the respective designated yards
in DRC and USA. The sales contracts were signed under Hong Kong laws.
According to the terms and conditions of the sales contracts, the. customers
were responsible for arranging transportation after inspection and acceptance
of delivery.

In-April 2011, China placed a ban on importation of logs from Virginia, USA.

No one could move any logs origined from Virginia to China. The ban was only
lifted, on a test basis, beginning 1 June 2012.

—E—— /2 _FFRH
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8. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET LOSS

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

0

The Group understood that Chinese customs places ban on importation
of products and goods from time to time. These bans may be politically
motivated as retaliations to discriminatory policies against Chinese goods by
foreign countries. Bans based on such motivations may be difficult for market
participants to predict the duration. The Group was not aware of any similar
rationale behind the April 2011 ban which stemmed from pests being found in
some shipments from those selected states involved. Pest problems in general
should be easily addressed by proper fumigation. Based on public information,
the US government from those states involved seemed to be working actively
and immediately to resolve the problem with the Chinese customs. In addition,
the views of the Group’s sales in the PRC and market views collected by them
indicated that the concerns could be resolved quickly. As such, the Group
believed that the ban would be short-lived.

Concurrently, the customers began looking for vessels to transport the African
logs and timber from DRC to China since signing of the sales contracts. It
proved to be very difficult to secure vessels as there are limited choice of
shipping lines due to the perceived security risks associated with DRC, the
limiting conditions of the port and the lack of proper port facilities for loading.
The Group tried to assist the customers out of courtesy but was also not
successful.

Timber prices in China began to soften in the second half of 2011 and
continued with a downward trend for the rest of the year. Demand and prices
dropped significantly after Chinese New Year in February 2012 generally due to
poor housing market and negative economic outlook in China.

The sales contracts required payments be made in five installments by the
customers with the last of the installments paid by 31 August 2011. Up to 20
December 2012, only a total of approximately HK$84 million was collected from
the customers. No further payments were received from the PRC customers
since July 2011. The Group requested the customers to settle the outstanding
payments due to it numerous times while understanding the unusual
circumstances surrounding the delays in shipment of the goods sold both
from the USA and DRC to China.- When considering to allow the customers
to make deposit payments slower than the original plan, the Company took
into consideration amongst other factors that it may physically block the
movement of the logs and timber if payments received were not adequate to
cover the quantity of logs and timber that the buyers ship. The physical block
would be feasible as the Brazilian logs sold were stored inside the hydropower
plant at our log yards; and the African logs and timber sold were stored at our
supplier’s warehouse at the port which we helped to arrange.

Timber prices began decreasing during the last quarter of 2011 and dropped
significantly and suddenly during the first quarter of 2012 due to slow down
in the Chinese housing market and economy. The customers notified the
Group its intention to default on the contracts in May 2012. After repeated
unsuccessful attempts in collecting the outstanding receivables from the PRC
customers, the Group agreed with the African and US suppliers to terminate
its purchase agreements with them on 31 May 2012. The African and US
suppliers took back the logs and timber with no further liabilities due from the
Group. The Group understood. that the supplier sold the logs in the domestic
market with some profit after taking back the logs.

8.

HtW AR HEMWERFE @)

Hret - (&)

0

AEETHRE hEEBHEESTHMAEDNER
REMTERES - ZEESA R HNBUAT
HRE N BB R 2 AR BOR © 52
EETRHEATRINENZ SR T E S
SRXFBEER - ARRYTHAE_F——F
MRz HELEREEMBRLERE  HERZE
BRBEMND ZETHREhEREES -

B REARER  ARXBNBENA-ER
BT {E - WANKS B rh BB RARR R B RERE
IO ERARASEETBEHEEZER R
Hpp e mSER - URREREBRR
RIGLOERR - Bt AEEBEZES KB
REEE -

HpER - BE AR HEANRARKS
R REXIFMRARARAMERE - A
REHIERREEzZ2EAR - BAZR
R R R 2 TE R SRR - AT R
ZMEARTE  WEFHABSME - &
SELRFERE R ES - EIENNE

HFEAMEBRR T -—FTH+FRHEMQ
o UYRFRAR THRHEZ THBE - F
KREBNRZE-—F-AREBENFEANRE
TR REESER MR RAEESRE
PRk -

HEANBEREFASTHNAR MK —
HARIBE s e S S e e
Mo =l S R
F 7z & £ 4978 84,000,000t B =%
—— St ARBERIBBEEEZER A
EEZRERBEFEERNAEBZ R
HEREABZTEF BRI B EE R R
HECEERETRZER - EERREL
NEB R R Z BB TSR - BREA
EZ=SN - NA RIS BRI AT EGRET R
NENMERRERARAMZEE - BlFA]
BEPR BB A RN AR o AR FTE BAERA
TR EMNREA S Z K HEERA - Al
g IR A RS - MATS IEMRA KA
AT R B M BB BN B N 2 B A
BEA -

AMBRRN_ZF——FFMTRHK B B
ERPEBHTREBERENN T4
F-F2BETR - R-T——F77 %245
EFAGAERERREN HEZRERR
PEEPERERKATRRE  AEEEZE
MEEEzZHEFANRZE——FH A
= BERGZ - RIEASEEFEHRAT
ZBE W o BN RSB R = R AR
A BEEMREASEEZBE  BAE
BT HERNKERARERBEATS
HERARLAERER]

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011/2012 093



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2012 & —ZE——

H=H e SR RS

8. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET LOSS

(continued)

094

Notes: (continued)

0

(i)

KRMEZRAMRDT

The Group is consulting legal advice from its Hong Kong lawyer and is
preparing to take legal actions against the PRC customers for breach of
contract and loss of profit. At present, it is uncertain as to the amount that
may be recovered from the PRC customers and whether the courts of Hong
Kong will be the convenient forum to handle the claims against these PRC
companies. As such, the Group considers that the value of the total receivable
outstanding with these PRC customers of HK$299 million is impaired and the
amount should be written off.

In hindsight, the customers may have underestimated the difficulties in sourcing
transportation for such volume of timber and logs. Also, the slowdown of the
housing market and the drop in timber prices in China that began in the fourth
quarter of 2011 was not anticipated by the customers or the Group. These
factors together contributed to the default by the customers eventually.

At the time of publishing the 31 March 2011 results on 29 June 2011, the
intention to default by the customers was not known to the Group and as
mentioned previously, there was no objective evidence of impairment. In June/
July 2011, while it might have been difficult, the Group did not consider that it
was impossible to secure vessels. The Group’s senior logistic manager went to
DRC in July 2011. After his trip, for the Group’s other purchases, he was able
to arrange one vessel that departed in July 2011 and one vessel for departure
in September 2011. Accordingly, the Company did not consider the business
of the Group at the time would be adversely affected, and on disclosure,
impairment or announcement was considered necessary.

In December 2009, a decree was issued by the state government of Rondonia,
Brazil, allowing round logs relating to the tree felling service contract for the
construction of hydropower plant in Rondonia to be exported overseas without
any processing. The Group planned to export the round logs overseas.
Contrary to the decree by the Rondonia state government, during the year
ended 31 March 2011, Instituto Brasileiro do Meio Ambiente e dos Recursos
Naturais Renovaveis (“IBAMA”), the Brazilian Ministry of the Environment’s
Enforcement Agency, notified the Group that logs of all sizes obtained from
the abovementioned tree felling service contract must be processed before
export citing forestry laws in connection with restrictions on exportation of logs
from sustainably managed forests. The Group disagreed with IBAMA’s position
and contested. However, after numerous attempts and negotiations, IBAMA
maintained its position. After the assessment of the higher processing costs,
management believes that the estimated net realizable value of certain logs
should be zero and therefore, the Group decided and wrote off those logs with
a total carrying amount of approximately HK$272 million in the year ended 31
March 2011.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, upon notification by IBAMA of the
export restriction described in note (i) above, the Group negotiated with the
contractor and the subcontractor which carried out tree felling services for the
Group to waive the accrued related fees. The total accrued fees waived were
HK$108 million.
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8.

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET LOSS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iv) On 1 January 2012, Universal Timber Resources Do Brasil Participacao
LTDA (“UTRB”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company in Brazil, entered
into an agreement with Berena Business Corp (“Berena”) to terminate an
acquisition memorandum of understanding dated 1 June 2009 and its related
supplemental agreement dated 28 March 2011 (Please refer to Note 24 for
details).

V) On 2 August 2011, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of
Originate Tech Global Investments Limited (“Originate Tech”) for a total
consideration of 769,230,769 shares. Originate Tech is an investment holding
company and its Hong Kong and PRC subsidiaries are collectively referred
to as “Zhongshan Operations”. Consideration shares are payable in three
tranches with the second and third tranches contingent upon meeting net profit
guarantee. Consideration payable represented the fair value of tranche 2 and 3
shares valued at the time of acquisition, and the amount is extinguished at the
end of the financial year ended 31 March 2012 as the net profit guarantee was
not met. Details of the acquisition and the net profit guarantee are outlined in
Note 42.

LOSS ON BUSINESS DISRUPTION

HtW AR HEMWERFE @)

Hret - (&)

vy~ R=ZT——F— A8 AAFRREBZE
& Kt B 2 7] Universal Timber Resources Do
Brasil Participacao LTDA ([UTRB.) & Berena
Business Corp ([Berenal) 8] iha% » LAKLE
B E-ZTAFNA—BZ2RBEREES
BRERABA-T——F=A=+/\BZHH
T e BSR4 -

) RZF-——F/\AZH AEERBRE
769,230,769 % A% 15 Ue B B B IR IR IR E B IR
REEIR ) 2MWEHTRA - IR A —
RBRERBRDF] - EEERTEMBARS
M RILER ] KERDD XN £
BN B = AN ERFER AN RER
HEEE - BRNREBERKRBRE_HRE
SRR 2 R E - M B AER R B AR B E
K BZeERBE=S—ZF=A=1—
HIEBIERE R R « fERIRFR 428 -

EBRTRZER

2012 2011

ke R

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Write off of trade freceivables i SH FE IR & 5 5RIH 114,274 =
Write off of timber logs 58 R AN 233,572 o
Waiver of service fee payables NERBERESFIE (12,205) 5
335,641 —

In November 2009, UTRB and a main contractor being an independent
third party of the Group (“Main Contractor”) entered into a service
agreement, pursuant to which the Main Contractor engaged UTRB to
provide tree felling services in the hydropower plant in Rondonia, Brazil.
The main contract was signed between the operator of the hydropower
plant and the Main Contractor.

In May 2010, the alleged agent (“Alleged Agent”) of the Main
Contractor’s owner started negotiation with UTRB for the proposed
sale of the equity interest of the Main Contractor to UTRB (the “Proposed
Deal”). UTRB was not satisfied with the results of due diligence exercise
on the Main Contractor and the Alleged Agent failed to provide proper
authorization document from the equity-owner of the Main Contractor
to proceed with the Proposed Deal. As such, the Proposed Deal did
not materialize.

R_ZEZEANF+—H UTRBEE&BMHE
((E=&BRE] AAEBZ2EBIE=H)F]
SRS B TABEEEUTRBE
BEEAZ EEM 2 KD ERIEEEAR
e KNBERZLEEEHERBDEIERE]
ES= ok

R-ZE—ZTFEAA - TABRABEAZ
EEAE(EREARRE]) R EUTRBEL M
UTRBEZHE EABME 2 ks ([ 13
X5 1) #E1THER - UTRBS A B/ 2 &5
BEHERTmE  MERREEERE
HEAPRAZB=EEASL ZHERE
NHELETERR S - At BB 5E
EREH -
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LOSS ON BUSINESS DISRUPTION (continued)

Since around February 2011, UTRB and some of the senior officers
of the Company have been receiving threatening emails and phone
calls from the Alleged Agent extorting money including that payable
under the Proposed Deal. It is also believed that the Alleged Agent has
published or procured the publication on internet and articles posing
serious accusations against the Group on its integrity and manner of
doing business. The Alleged Agent has also harassed the Group’s staff
with constant emails, phone calls, sms and numerous personal visits to
UTRB’s office premises.

As a result of the above events, (“Events”), UTRB made a police report
with the Sao Paulo State Police Department on 10 October 2011. The
alleged accusations against the Group and its business have adversely
affected the reputation, business and operations of the Group in
Rondonia. Further, since the occurrence of the above Events, the
relationship between the Group and the Main Contractor deteriorated.
In-August 2011, unrelated to the Events and the operations of the
Group in the power plant, hydropower plant operator terminated the
main contract with the Main Contractor. Thereafter, UTRB was rejected
access to the hydropower plant. During the year, inventories amounting
to R$51 million (or approximately HK$234 million translated at the
relevant average exchange rate for the year ended 31 March 2012)
kept inside the hydropower plant.

In March 2011, the Group sold logs located inside the hydropower
plant at total sale prices of approximately HK$114 million to some
PRC customers who are independent to the Group and its directors.
The customers inspected and accepted the goods sold at the
respective designated yards in DRC and USA. The sales contracts
were signed under Hong Kong laws. According to the terms and
conditions .of the sales contracts, the customers-were responsible for
arranging transportation after inspection and acceptance of delivery.
The abovementioned sold logs at the hydropower plant were part of
the goods sold under sales contracts that also included other timber
products from Africa and USA. The sold logs remained inside the
hydropower plant up to the time when UTRB was denied access to
the hydropower plant in September 2011. For goodwill with these PRC
customers, the Group negotiated and agreed with PRC customers that
it will not demand for payment of the outstanding trade receivables in
the sum of HK$114 million relating to the logs kept at the hydropower
plant. The Group arrived at the decision to write off the trade
receivables of approximately HK$114 million after considering: (1) that
the denial of access to the hydropower plant where the sold logs were
kept was completely unrelated to the buyers and not their fault. After
all, the Group, as seller, was not able to enter into the hydropower plant
site itself; (2) approximately HK$396,420,524 was still outstanding on
the sales contracts relating to African and US logs and timber; (3) that
Group believes there would be continued and additional businesses
with these customers; and (4) that the Group did not believe it
could collect the sum of HK$114 million from the customers without
jeopardizing the remaining portion of the contracts particularly under
the circumstances of the denial of access to the hydropower plant.

KEMELZRERAT —B—— “E—_FFRH

9. XX TEZEE®W
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RIETEHME BEEREEBRESZS
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ZBERERFIRIREBREEZ - BEA
BHATEHAEE FE FHREMERS
RBEAEFUTRBZHAEREALEEE
I o

EREMEHCEHD  UTRBRZZE——
F+ATHRABRELRERE - ZZHA
EEREEBEL 2 BEIEZEEHAEER
REZ RNz BE  EBEREEBKT
Ao ttoh BRBEAFREH  AF
BEFABDHZEERELL RZB——F
JNA EREHRAEBEEEERAET
ZEBEBZEBRT  KNBERZLEE
ERITEFRBEIINZEAN - Hig
UTRB#WIEEEAK BB « RERN &
51,000,000 FRR (R IEFEE T ——F
A=+ —HIEFEZRBEFEIERRE
#9751 234,000,000 7T ) Z 17 E1F IR IK 71
ZETBA o

MNZZE——F=F AEBUNREBLE
# 114,000,000 STTIAIE TR A E B R E
BEEVHEEPHETHRRAKDEERA
RN BE DRI IR REE 2 5 EH
ERBIEWREER - HES O IRE
EBEDIZRET - BIEBEHE A 2GR RAF
B BREEAERBRNEBETLHEE -
LR R EFERNKNBERZ BARBHE
EANATZE P HESESR  BINNERE
IEMEER 2 HMWAMER - B ZEUTRB
RZE——F N AWERBEAKRNESE
&+ P& 2 BRARTERAIK B ERA °
AERENERREREBEER  A5EHE
FREEEHEEREASEF TS ERE
ESNERPKNBEERZ BARE LB
114,000,000 0 Z FEWE ZERFK - I&E & ¢
()AL BHIEEAFREERAZK 2
ER—SEx2BEREANTUIIEFZZHA
K-BE AEEEABERAT REEEA
IKDEER - (28 BIEMNRFEEREAR LA
M ZSHE A #ITE | 478 % 396,420,524 7T
KEF  OAKEEGESTHRAZERF
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10.

LOSS ON BUSINESS DISRUPTION (continued)

The Group is consulting legal counsels for the possible civil legal actions
against the Alleged Agent and/or the Main Contractor in relations to
the above Events and the blockage on the Group to operate in the
hydropower plant. In light of the above matters which may adversely
affect the Group’s operations and prospects in Rondonia, the Group
decided to write off R$51 million (or approximately to HK$234 million
translated at the relevant average exchange rate for the year ended
31 March 2012) for the full carrying value of the logs and the trade
receivables with PRC customers of HK$114 million during the year.

The Group has also retained criminal lawyer to assist UTRB and its staff
(including its departed staff) with the ongoing investigations by police in
Brazil into the Events and various filings by our staff against the Alleged
Agent.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

EBRTEzZ2ER®
AEEREZREZEZBEBZER - e
ZEEHERANEEBWBENKDETHE
EREBREE HTIAROBRERESE
BRI EEE LMEEAREHAEER
BAZERMNZEB KA SBRTF L
AEEBRFARRATEMBERAE BREE
51,000,000 F i/ (HIEEE T ——F =
A=Z+—BILEEZHBAEHERRE
4785 % 234,000,000 7T) R EWFRERFE 2
Z 5 FI8/8 % 114,000,000 JT °

BRAERERE EREGHETAETURK
SEETMEBEREBEHZEE  A5E
ME S ERMBUTRBREE T (8
FEEBBET) -

10. EthEER

Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
FEREEH BRIEER RE
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
B Al s g s e R T e e e T
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT T BT BETT BT
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BELRE
plant and equipment ZE#E 733 151 - - 733 151
Write off of intangible assets WisER AE
(Note 28(3)) (Hi#28(@) - - - 9,926 - 9,926
Write down of timber logs (Note ) HsRAAM (H1) 1,781 <t - 1,000 1,781 1,000
Write off of other receivables (Note i) 5 E{th FE UGB (Hi7tii) 9,434 28 - 396 9,434 424
Impairment loss of intangible assets /B E 2 R(EEE
(Note 20) (B2 20) 45,205 = - = 45,205 =
Impairment loss of goodwill (Note i)~ B RIEE B (#/7ii) 1,462,118 £ - — 1,462,118 =
1,519,271 179 - 11,322 1,519,271 11,501
Notes: Hist:

(i) After the financial year ended 31 March 2012, UTRB entered into a sales
agreement with a third party to purchase its logs inventory located at the yard
inside the Brazil forest. The amount represented the estimated net loss on sale
of logs inventory. The access road to the yard was destroyed during the rainy
season and is being repaired as of the date of this report. Once completed, the
Group will begin delivering the logs inventory to the buyer and receiving sales
proceeds.

(i) Write off of other receivables included primarily prepaid service fees paid
to vendors, advanced deposits paid to suppliers and other miscellaneous
receivables that the suppliers, vendors defaulted on or were unable to return
upon termination. Particularly, included in the amount is the write off of an
advanced deposit of R$840,000 (or approximately to HK$3,869,000) paid to a
third party under a Partnership.Harvesting Agreement in Brazil. Please refer to
Note 46(d) for more details.

(iii) Impairment loss on goodwill is a non-cash item resulting from the annual
revaluation of the cash-generating unit of the segments of sustainable forest
management and Zhongshan Operations. Please refer to Note 22 for details.
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11. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 11. BB (B1R) %A
The Group’s (loss)/profit. before taxation is arrived at after charging/ AREBRBRBA (EE) 5T &k /(5
(crediting): A) RIIBIEER
Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
BRCEER DRILER sy
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
ot 1 S S St et et g, e S s
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fiaE  E%Tm o AETE  BETn  A%Tr o B%Tx A%Tx
(a) Net finance costs () REBRFE
Finance income on financial WIEHATFEA
assets not at fair value Bk 0%
through profit or loss BEZBERA (486) (63) = = (436) (63)
Finance costs BMEER
Interest on loans and other BRAFNEE
borrowings wholly repayable EBRET R
within five years EfpfE 2 A8 5,973 4,338 - - 5,973 4,333
Interest on promissory notes ENEEZFIE 38 129 847 - - 129 847
Interest on amounts due to ERRRRE
shareholders 278 48(b) 8,463 4,937 - - 8,463 4,937
Interest on amount due to E—REERR
a related company TS 48(b) 48 708 = = 48 703
Interest on loan from B —RBELA
a related company BERZHE 48(b) 1,164 = = 5 1,164 il
Finance charges on obligations = B ATRAIEEZ
under finance leases MERY 13 6 - - 13 6
Total interest expenses on WIERATFEA
financial liabilities not at B2 0%
fair value through profit BBz HBHRY
or loss k) 15,790 10,831 - W 15,790 10,831
15,304 10,768 - = 15,304 10,768
(b) Staff costs (including (b) EIEA (B
directors’ remuneration) EEHE)
Salaries, wages and other e TBEREM
benefits &F 51,260 29,570 - - 51,260 29,570
Pension scheme contributions NESEEIES 1,444 360 = i 1,444 360
Equity-settled share-based PB4 S 2 B fn
payment D 40 (2,426) 23,319 - - (2,426) 23,319
50,278 53,249 - — 50,278 53,249
098 KEMEZRERAR —T—— /- —FFH
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(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 11. BBiA (BE) 57
Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
BREESEER BRIEER e
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
et e Sl ey et ok e S e S
Notes HK$000  HK$000 ~ HK$000 ~ HK$'000 ~ HK$000  HK$'000
ffa+ BETT AT o BETR B%Tn  B%Trn - A%Tr
() Other items (c) £fuER
Cost of inventories® FEMA" 25 347,436 = 521,384 - 1,000 =~ 347,436 522,384
Amortisation e 2,389 = - - 2,389 -
Depreciation e 1,654 1,450 - - 1,654 1,450
Minimum lease payments T REF
under operating leases (BEEZESR)
for land and buildings ik =y
(including directors’ quarters) e R 4,483 3,170 27 72 4,510 3,242
Auditor’s remuneration o
— audit services — E%RA 1,072 1,203 254 255 1,326 1,518
— other services — HAbMR% 600 485 - = 600 485
1,672 1,688 254 ol 1,926 2,003
Write off of deposit paid to MR —RtEs
a supplier SHZEl® - 44 - = - 44
Equity-settled share-based I AR S {2
payment for-consultants REEE 2
R 40 (587) 7,885 - - (587) 7,835
¢ Cost of inventories includes depreciation of HK$306,000 (2011: HK$412,000), 4 FERKA B4 E A% 306,000 (=ZF——

and-staff costs of HK$Nil (2011: HK$4,605,000), the amount of which is also
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately above.
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to Section 161 of the

12. EEEHS

RIEB B AN % 32F A A& 161 155

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of Laws of Hong Kong) is as BIZESMESHT -
follows:
2012
—E--E
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Share-
benefits contributions based
Fees ek BiKE payment Total
He Hit &R SEMS  URGXA Bt
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000
BET T BEBTT BT T BET T BT T
Executive Directors HTES
LLOH Jiah Yee, Katherine HRE o 1,400 12 337 1,749
FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy 58 = 2,200 12 802 3,014
SHIH Chiu, David (Appointed on K (RZE = —F
12 July 2011 and resigned on +tA+-HEZER
30 September 2012) A e
NAZ+HER) 5 433 = = 433
LI Zhixiong (Appointed on PEH(R=F——F
2 September 2011) NA-—BEZT) - 375 5 - 380
- 4,408 29 1,139 5,576
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
NG Tik Hong RER(NZZE——F
(Resigned on 11 July 2011) tAT-BE) 28 - - - 28
LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul PRE(RZT——F
(Re-designated as Non-Executive mANBHATA
Director on 6 April 2011 and EHTEER
resigned on 23 December 2011) NEE o
FoH = HEE) 87 - - (4,095) (4,008)
115 - - (4,095) (3,980)
LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel (Re-designated as. 4R (RS ——4F
Executive Director on 4 November 2011) - +— BB HTA
NTES) 68 - - 256 324
John Tewksbury BANIGAN John Tewksbury BANIGAN 131 - - 297 428
KEUNG Paul Hinsum ZBH 129 - - - 129
Donald Smith WORTHLEY Donald Smith WORTHLEY
(Appointed on 4 November 2011) (e B et
+—AMBEZE) 61 - - - 61
389 - - 553 942
504 4,408 29 (2,403) 2,538
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 12. EEMS )

2011
TR
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Share-
benefits  contributions based
Fees HeK RIS payment Total
fiokn H R FEMER | ARG RA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BT BETT
Executive Directors BTES
LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine HEXE(MNE-TF
(Appointed on 17 December 2010) T A+tHEZE) = 349 2 44 395
FLETCHER Yurk Nam, Sandy ZEBE(MNZZ—ZTH
(Appointed on 17 December 2010) +-A+tHEZE) = 394 4 795 1,193
LEUNG Chau Ping, Paul PRFE(RZE—=F
(Re-designated as Non-Executive MASERAEAR
Director on 6 April 2011) FRITEE) - 1,020 12 9,376 10,408
Leandro Dos Martires GUERRA Leandro Dos Martires
(Resigned on 24 February 2011) GUERRA
(R=F——%
ZAZ+HBEE) - 2,740 - 1,963 4,703
CHIU Raymond Yim HAC(R=ZE—ZF
(Retired on 31 August 2010) gl s GG - 379 3 51 435
— 4,882 23 12,229 17,134
Non-Executive Director FHTES
NG Tik Hong RER(R_Z-ZF
(Appointed on 8 October 2010) +ANBEZE) - 48 - ~ 48
Independent Non-Executive BUEHITES
Directors
LEUNG Siu Hung, Joel PR 100 - - 436 536
John Tewksbury BANIGAN John Tewksbury BANIGAN 100 = = 704 804
KEUNG Paul Hinsum ZER(RIZ-TF
(Appointed on 27 July 2010) +A-++BERMT) 68 - - - 68
CHU Kin Wang, Peleus AEE(MRZZ-TF
(Retired on 31 August 2010) NA=-HRE) 42 = S = 42
310 - - 1,140 1,450
310 4,930 23 13,369 18,632

There was no arrangement under which a director has waived or

agreed to waive any remuneration.

BEESHRLUFRBRETMB AL

P e et S e i | 7
AEENERNESEHME  UEAKRSE
HIAGERA I AN £ (B R 2 A58 ok Bl B i 5 o

During the year ended 31-March 2012, no emolument was paid by
the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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13. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

102

The five highest paid individuals during the years included two (2011:
four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 12
above: Details of the emoluments of the remaining three (2011: one)
non-director, highest paid individuals were as follows:

13.

REHAL
FARERBHEALTEBEMEB (T ——
FOREF ARERSEZHMSFBEEN
ExEi2e R NE=R(—FmaF
F)BRSHHEEFALZMEFBENT

The Group
AEH

2012 2011
o o] e e
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T PRI IT
Salaries and other benefits e RHAEF 3,757 603
Retirement scheme contributions RN EI R 14 12
Share-based payment LAPRAD 32 £+t 81 833
3,852 1,448

The remuneration of the non-director, highest paid individuals fell within
the following bands:

BEFHEFALZMEN FUTRE :

Number of individuals

EE®E
2012 2011
AL e
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = F 7% 1,000,000 7T 2 =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 7B 1,000,001 7T 2% 1,500,000 7T = 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 7B 1,500,001 7T 248 ¥ 2,000,000 7T =t =
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 B 2,000,001 JLE ¥ 2,500,000 7T 1 Ve
3 il

During the year ended 31 March 2012, no emolument was paid by the
Group to such individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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14. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 14. FREWRERZAEHR
INCOME STATEMENT
(@) Income tax in the consolidated income statement () HEWBERZFEHRAR:
represents:
Continuing
operations Discontinued operations Consolidated
BRESEER DRIEER Re
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
2§ ' T——§ ZB--fF “T-——F ZB--§ “T——F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000
BETT AT BETn  B%Tr  B%Tr AT
Current tax B BE
— Hong Kong Profits Tax =~ — &#&FI%8
— Provision for the year - KEERE - 42,102 - = . 42,102
Current tax BERBiR
— PRC Enterprise — HEREMEH
Income Tax
— Provision for the year — AEERE 20 = = = 20 =
Deferred tax BEBE
— (Reversal) and origination — (BE) RFEE
of temporary differences Lt ] (87,125) 108,380 - (595) (87,125) - 107,785
(87,105) 150,482 - (695) (87,105) 149,887

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for in the financial
statements as the Group has no assessable profit for the year.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2011: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong for the year ended 31 March 2012.

Brazil income tax has been provided at the rate of 34% (2011:
34%) of the estimated assessable profits arising in Brazil.

PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at
25% (2011: 25%).

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

HRAEEEAFEL EERTUEN - &
W ER BRI ABBNE AR -

HEET-—F=A=t—-HIEE ' &
RSB EBEREASEL 2 G5 RS
TR R EA16.5% (= F ——F : 16.5%) &t
IR -

EEMAERAREN B E L 2 5 ERE
mAIEB R B4% (ZF ——4F : 34%)&T1R
it

BB A R R 25% (=T ——5F
25%) PR PRISHT ©

REMBDAERELS 2 IR AR BEE
B EAHEAE -
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e e S e

4. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 14. HREWERZFTE
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and b) KABAREHEZHRERE
accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates: BREs (F18) HF 2R :
2012 2011
—B-=F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T ST IT
(Loss)/profit before taxation BFiLRT (E51R), @
— Continuing operations — BERGET (2,419,520) 507,014
— Discontinued operations (Note 15) — BARIEER(HaE15) 4,503 (15,634)
(2,415,017) 491,380
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation, BRAEBEZERR (ER) S5z
calculated at the rates applicable to TR E 2 RFL AT (B518), S5
(loss)/profits in the countries concerned ZHFEBIA (732,414) 139,428
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEZRMBAZ B TE (43,256) (826)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TRAIFH A 2 B2 503,624 11,795
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised  ARFERARB AR IBEE Y RIS L 184,941 878
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses &) i@ AR IEEE - (1,388)
Actual tax expense BERHIERS (87,105) 149,887
(c) Tax effect relating to each component of other (0 H#Z2mE(ER) WESAR
comprehensive (loss)/income oz BB eE
2012 2011
SR =T ——F
Tax Tax
Before * (expenses)/  Net-of-tax Before  (expenses)/ Net-of-tax
tax benefit amount tax benefit amount
amount BE  HRBEE amount WE  HRTEE
BREAEE (Fi%)/ B2 BE REEE (AR)/E= g
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT A%Tx BETT AT AETT o BETn
Exchange differences on BEBINIB AR
translation of financial WS REMES
statements of overseas X EE
subsidiaries (68,659) - (68,659) 86,014 — 86,014
Reclassification adjustment for ~ B H&/&4)
exchange difference relating  HB AR ZER
to disposal of overseas ERSHAEAE
subsidiaries (6,364) - (6,364) = = —
(75,023) - (502 86014 2 86,014

104 KEMEERARAR —FB——/ZF-"FFH



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R M EE

For the yearended 31 March 2012 B E =2 —_—F=A=+—HILFE

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 15. ER LXK

In February 2010, the Group' commenced negotiations to dispose of
the Chita forests operation in Russia as part of its ongoing strategy
to seek forest assets or operations with better return on investments,
hence improving the return to shareholders.

On 6 October 2011, the Group entered into a disposal-agreement
(“Disposal Agreement”) with Source Bright Limited (“Buyer”) to dispose
of the Group’s entire equity interest in issued share capital of Ally
Rise Limited, which held 100% equity interest in OO0 Zabaikalskaya
Lesnaya Kompaniya (“ZLK”) (and which in turn held 99.95% equity
interests in OOO Novoles (“Novoles”) (collectively referred to as “Ally
Rise Group”).

In January 2012, Novoles was declared bankrupt and one concession
right previously held by it expired without renewal. In the same month,
one concession right previously held by ZLK with carrying amount on
30 March 2012 of HK$144,231,000 was expropriated by the State
Forest Agency due to concession fees in arrears. The Company
is assisting the Buyer to get back the two concessions and obtain
additional concessions from the relevant State Forest Agencies. The
parties mutually agreed to proceed with the completion of the sale and
purchase of Ally Rise Limited.

On 30 March 2012, in-light that it will require some time for the Buyer
to get back the two concessions from the State Forest Agency and
restructure the assets of the Ally Rise Group from the bankruptcy, the
Company: agreed to extend the payment term of the consideration.
The total consideration of HK$208,000,000 shall be paid in one lump
sum within nine months upon Completion (see below for definition). All
conditions precedent outlined in the Disposal Agreement (including all
of its supplemental agreements) were fully satisfied and the disposal
was completed on 30 March 2012 (“Completion”) pursuant to the
Disposal Agreement and its supplemental agreements.

On 18 December 2012, the board approved a further extension of
the due date for the Consideration upon the request by the Buyer as
more time is required to complete the procedures to get back the
two concessions. In granting the extension, the board has consulted
Russian lawyer. Based on the legal opinion obtained, it is common
that such investment application may take up to a year and in the
opinion of the Russian legal counsel, the three-month extension period
is adequate to obtain the final approval from the forest agency for the
above two concessions. After the extension, the total consideration
of HK$208,000,000 shall be paid no later than 30 March 20183. In
consideration of further extending the payment date, the Buyer will pay
interests equivalent to 9.25% p.a. to the Company on the consideration
outstanding from the above date until the amount is fully settled.

RZZE-FF_F A&EFERHER
RATTERMEBETER - ERBRKEA
FEREORZIAMEEXEL 25ES
A% —&b7 - MR AR @R o

R=F—— T+ A-B  AEEEER
BERAREAR DI LHEBE(TLS
Bl LHEXAEBRERBRAF
BEBITRAMBEEXIBRAER - 583 F
R A A # B 000 Zabaikalskaya Lesnaya
Kompaniya ([ZLK]) 2 100% % 72N # & -
i ZLK Bl & 000 Novoles ([Novoles |) 2
90.95% gAML (SfE [A R ER ) -

N_E——F—H ' NovolesE EWE * H
NEHEz—EEHEERMAAES -
BA ZKUAAREZz—EHR=_Z—=4F
= A=+ HEREEABE 144,231,000 T2
5 BT R R B X RE BT RE B T A B SR AR
SR o AR RIR IE W BY B 5 M 48 BE B K #*
MW RAER 2] 5% PR TR R T hE R RIS B 215 ET
B ESUVREBEEZKEEARSARA
RZRS o

e o e B el el S e e T
B P [ (B 2K o R B B (o] 3% P L 4% R A
FEWEEAAFEEZEE AR A
BEEERREZNRER BREBK
208,000,000 TZER A (EE R TX) &
NEAR— KB - HEWZ (BIEEET
EHAHR)IRLZFTE LRIEHEE RS
EER MEESEER_ZE——F=7
=+ERBEERZEREGTE R ETK (5T
BJ) e

A S e e o S R S AN = s
BB RETKERE ZMIBES T EZFE
EEeHERE FERE—THEES K
BREA - LEFLTERIPH BEFE2E
BABRERZE - BEMSEEER A
MIRETRERERE G MEBEENER
BRRA ZEANEESREE 2B M
EHBIES E R IB S R 2 AR o
EERHA B & - BB 208,000,000 7T
BATEBR_ZE—=9=A=1+H#H: =
BIE—FTENZBEH  BEXBRARA
AAMEERE LI BHEESE2EH
NEHBERRENREEENEI25%TH
LB e
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15.

106

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The Company has obtained two separate legal opinions in Russia
regarding the feasibility and legality of the steps proposed by the
Company and the Buyer in obtaining the two concessions back. The
legal counsels had also met with the relevant State Forest Agency to
confirm that those concessions were reserved for the Buyer and that
such arrangement is within normal industry practices for forestry sector
in Siberia. Based on their independent analyzes, they both concluded
that the plan proposed by the Company and the Buyer to obtain the
two concessions back are legal, reasonable and feasible.

While the Company is confident in its ability to assist the Buyer in
obtaining the two concessions back, it-is not possible to predict the
future or outcome of its assistance relating to the concessions with
hundred percent precision. The deferred nature of the consideration
payable under the above disposal may cast some uncertainties in the
collectability of the amount in the future. At Completion, ‘the parties
executed a charge on the entire shareholdings of Ally Rise Limited in
favor of the Company. In the event of default of payment by the Buyer,
the Company may exercise its right and repossess Ally Rise Group.

The operations of Chita forests were classified as discontinued
operations and the gain/(loss) arising from. discontinued operations are
analysed as follows:

BARIEER®

15 R A SR B 5 ShER (B % AR S P
REEN T SE S ATHERA RN AR
AERBENNEREB L ERER %
AERTEEEER KBS T AR
ZERTED AR IER - IABEHR
AT ALY —BTLE - R
BEY BTN REHRAKATIHE
FRMOREE SR S AE AR
AT -

BEARNRAEOEENREE D BREZ
IR RTIE - ENAIBEE 9 2 B TR TE R
HipB A2z BRBERHAR - £
AHERR BRNKEZREEE RS
BB KRB BERREAFES T AHBAE
o mAE FIR B —HER KA
ABRRARZ 2 HMBEERTAQE - 4
BHHRER  AARAATREENED
BAEE-

TERMEBOBAERILER  MER
EEBEEZ RS (BR)DITAT

2012 2011

—E-—F —TE——%F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BT T BT
Loss after tax BEiEER (4,316) (15,039)

Gain on disposal of discontinued HEB K IEE 2 Was (B1aE43)

operations (Note 43) 8,819 —
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations ERIEEB 2 mH(EE) 4,503 (15,039)
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15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 15. ERLEEK @)

The results of the discontinued operations which have been included in HEHEBHIE: Bt AGAkERZE

the consolidated income statement up to the date of disposals are as RPN
follows:
Chita forests operation
FIERMER
2012 2011
=2-—=F 2 ety
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HiaE BT T BT
Revenue WA /' - =
Cost of sales SHERA = o
Gross profit EF i i
Other income E A 8 451 12342
Other net (loss)/gain Hih (E518) U558 8 (1,284) 671
Selling and distribution costs SHE &9 SHB A cx 3
Administration expenses 1T (3,483) (6,295)
Other operating expenses Hit2ER 10 — (11,322)
(3,483) (17,617)
Loss from operations K 1R (4,316) (15,634)
Finance income BE WA - =
Finance costs MEEH B i
Net finance costs RbE B F5E 11(a) = 5
Loss before tax BR A% AT ESHE (4,316) (15,634)
Income tax FR18%: 14(a) = 595
Loss after tax BriiizEsIE (4,316) (15,089)
Gain on disposal of discontinued e B R IR 2 BRE AT S
operations before tax 8,819 5
Income tax 1S H i 25
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, H €& B 4% |F 752 Y -
net of tax HIBRFIIR 43 8,819 =
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations B 4% 1E %7 2 %,/ (&518) 4,503 (15,039
Attributable to: JEAh
Owners of the Company. ViN/NEIE YN 4,506 (15,029)
Non-controlling interests S (3) (10)
4,503 (15,039)
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15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 15. ERIEEK @)
Chita forests operation
2012 2011
~of s S A
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HfaE BT T BT
Cash flow from discontinued ERLEBCRER
operations
Net cash used in operating activities 48 IR S R R (536) (6,408)
Net cash generated from investing KEBBIHRSRATFRR
activities T e
Net cash generated from financing BMEEEIR S MAFE
activities 535 6,407
(1) (1)

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the discontinued
operations at the date of disposal are disclosed in Note: 43.

ERLEBRHERRZEERBEARA
B PIRE 43 H2 58

16. DIVIDENDS 16. RE
Dividends payable to the owners of the Company attributable to the REEAEMARNDEB AR ZRE
year:
2012 2011
—E——fF ZE——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Final dividend proposed after the end of the REEHREEERREZE 2
reporting period of Nil per ordinary share FREARARHREAES
(2011: HK0.45 cent per ordinary share) (ZZ2—%F  gREAER
FEH50.4511) = 22,804
Final dividend proposed after the end of the RS HREE BREZE L
reporting period of Nil per convertible SR AT E SRR E BT
preferred share (2011: HK0.084 cent per (ZZ—F : GRABRK
convertible preferred share) BEARB 1 0.08411) = 7,481
— 80,286

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has
not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

A The calculation of dividends payable was based on the number of ordinary
shares and convertible preferred shares on 28 June 2011.
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16. DIVIDENDS (continued)

Dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable to the

previous financial year, approved during the year:

16. R E (&)

ENARNRRGES AR

FEE—EMBEEWRAEEEAEL

2012 2011
el A =250
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT TT
Final dividend in respect of the previous financial REE—EHBRFEETRAERFEE
year, approved during the year, of ERE 2 R S FRE
HKO0.45 cent per ordinary shares (2011: Nil) AR B 0.451L
(Z2—F %) 24,683 o
Final dividend in respect of the previous financial B F— B BREEITRANEEE
year, approved during the year, of HoofE 2 REBRR B & AT
HKO0.084 cent per convertible preferred share B S BE B 0.084 11l
(2011: Nil) (ZF——F:F) 7,313 i
31,096 3

The final dividend relating to year ended 31 March 2011 amounted to
HK$22,691,000 was paid in September 2011. Dividend payable of
HK$1,710,000 and HK$7,595,000 were included in other payable and

amount due to shareholders respectively.

e e e e s = e T el |
Z REARR BB 822,691,000t E R =T
——F A I o IR BB 1,710,000

TC K A6 7,595,000 7T 5 BllET A Ath B U5k

8 N A R FRIA

17. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS OF 17. XRATEEABEEE

THE COMPANY

The consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the Company
includes a loss of HK$1,625,455,000 and HK$15,410,000 for the years
ended 31 March 2012 and 2011 respectively, which has been dealt

with in the financial statements of the Company.

ERARBHERERIEZAREFER A
Bt BReREz T &k -F
e R AN RS RS

¥ 1,625,455,000 7T M # 15,410,000 7T ©
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18. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 18. Sk (F518) BF

(@) For continuing and discontinued operations () FHEKEEBRRCRILER

110

(b)

The calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
is based on the (loss)/profit attributable to the owners of the
Company as follow and the reconciliation of the weighted
average number of shares as shown in Note (d):

SRERREE (B18), B IIRE
AT AR RHER AR (BE), &5
K5t (d) < PR {0 04 P19 8z ¥ BR

Al -

2012 2011
—B-—fF ZE-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T ST
(Loss)/earnings (E518) &R
(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of basic and FAAGT B GAREA R ETE
diluted (loss)/earnings per share (E18),/ BHlz (ER), &F
— (Loss)/profit attributable to the owners el NI =N o
of the Company (JB18),m A (2,327,909) 341,486

Diluted loss per share equals to the basic loss per share for the
year ended 31 March 2012 because the outstanding convertible
preferred shares and share options and other potential ordinary
shares in issue had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per
share.

For continuing operations

The calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share from
continuing operations is based on the (loss)/profit attributable to
the owners of the Company as follow and the reconciliation of
the weighted average number of shares as shown in Note (d):

FR A 1R AR T8 2 AT AR B S iR K B AR
DA R E M B BT B L R B
EXEEARBEYE BMEE-ZT
——HE=A=t+—HItEE2ERE
SEEEESNERELRES -

FECEXE
REFBEREXG 2 BREA NS
(E18) / BFIRBATRREIES
NG (B1R ),/ A B B 5 (d) 2 B
R P E BARETE

2012 2011
—_=——fF CeE e
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
(Loss)/earnings (Br]) &
(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of basic and RUGTEGREAREE
diluted (loss)/earnings per share (E518) /&R 2 (Ei18), &7
— (Loss)/profit attributable to the owners — RAREE AR (BE),/
of the Company i 4] (2,332,415) 356,515

Diluted loss per share equals to the basic loss per share for the
year ended 31 March 2012 because the outstanding convertible
preferred shares and share options and other potential ordinary
shares in issue had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per
share.
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18. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(©)

(d)

18. SR (&) B @)

For discontinued operations (c) BRIEEK
Basic earnings/(loss) per share EREREF - (FEE)
Basic earnings per share for the discontinued operations is B ILEB 2 BREARRF AERAS
HK0.08 cent per share (2011: basic loss per share of HK0.44 Bo08I(=ZE——%F : BIRERE
cents) which is based on the profit from the discontinued BEE0.441001)  HIBBEERIEER
operations of HK$4,506,000 (2011: loss of HK$15,029,000) and i A PR 4.506,000 L (ZE——F
the denominators used are shown in Note (d). B384 815,029,000 7T ) 51 & - M BT
Ao Bt RABIEE () ©
Diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per PR e e = e = e s e
share because the outstanding convertible preferred shares and FEREFER SRS 2 MARTTER]
share options and other potential ordinary 'share in issue had an HARGAE S IR M BB AR M DA N EL b B 37T
anti-dilutive effect on the basic earmings per share for continuing BRI BIRERE T B RS
operations for the year ended 31 March 2012. FE W EBREERANBENERE
AREF o
Diluted loss per share is equal to the basic loss per share for the B M R 1T {5 2 AT HA iR 8 o IR K B8
year ended 31 March 2011 because the outstanding convertible HERE 7 IR EAEIE R R s &
preferred shares and share options had an anti-dilutive effect on S S et e B e
the basic loss per share. Ez8RBEEEERESERERELRE
B
Weighted average number of shares (d) RIEFEITH
2012 2011
=¥-—=F =T 1
’000 ‘000
T Tk
Number of Shares RAEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BT ESREREFZ
for the purpose of basic earnings per share AR e 5,651,619 3,462,624
2011
—T——%
‘000
Fix
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BAUTESREREF Z
for the purpose of basic earnings per share B AR IS 3,462,624
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares HBpa B EEREEZ
arising from conversion of corvertible EhEataky e
preferred shares 2,977,901
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares B EE BT S LBk
arising from share options 7 6,499
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BRI E SR SR 2
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share TR T a2 6,447,024
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19. M1% - BERRHE

The Group A EE

Machinery,

engineering

Freehold Furniture and other

Lands and  equipment Motor- Construction
KA fixtures #3&  TRK vehicles in progress Total
¥Rt HFRREE HiR 1 AE EEIR st
(Note a) (Note b)
(Hizta) (Hfatb)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BETT BB BETT BB
Cost BA

At 1 April 2010 RZZE-ZFMA—A 195,307 1,963 1,948 3,158 = 202,376
Additions NE - 589 365 577 - (=531
Disposals HE = = (50) (215) e (265)
Exchange movement &R &8 30,366 16 128 274 = 30,784
At 31 March 2011 R By i e ] 225,673 2,568 2,391 3,794 - 234,426
At 1 Apri 2011 RZZE-——FNA—H 225,673 2,568 2,391 3,794 - 234,426
Acquisition of subsidiaries NG = 165 = = = 165
Additions NE - 2,108 2,596 - 2,024 6,728
Disposals HE - (1,760) () - L (1,765)
Exchange movement i i 2E) (22,729 33 (158) (324) - (23,244)
At 31 March 2012 i gl el s oy 202,944 3,048 4,824 3,470 2,024 216,310
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)  19. Y% - BERRE @)

The Group (continued) NEBE ()
Machinery,
engineering
Freehold Furniture and other
Lands and  equipment Motor Construction
KA fixtures #3E  TRK vehicles in progress Total
¥Rt SFRAREE Hithk e AE HEIR Mt
(Note a) (Note b, ¢)
(Hiita) (Hixb c)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BB BB BETT BETT BB
Accumulated depreciation RHE
At 1 April 2010 RZE—-FFMHA—H = 768 107 208 == 1,083
Charge for the year FEEHE - 387 396 667 = 1,450
Written back on disposals HER B - - @) (20) - (24)
Exchange movement EXEs - 2 21 48 - 7
At 31 March 2011 N o R P = e 520 903 = 2,580
At 1 April 2011 RZE=—FNA—-H = 515% 520 903 = 2,580
Charge for the year REEME - 414 439 801 o 1,654
Written back on disposals &R B o] - (1,028) @ - — (1,030)
Exchange movement EREH) - U (52) (141) = (200)
At 31 March 2012 R=E-=&=A=f-H = 536 905 1,563 - 3,004
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 March 2012 R = e 202,944 2512 3,919 1,907 2,024 213,306
At 31 March 2011 et e b e O T 1,411 1,871 2,891 — 231846
Notes: Kt -
(@  The freehold lands are held in Amazon Brazil where the 44,500-hectare nature (@) KA FERE T30 RO E PH 3R B4 44,500 A HE
forest is located. RRFRMETTEHD ©
(b) At 31 March 2012, the motor vehicles with-carrying amount of HK$196,000 (b) KRB =6 =F=F=H " EEESE

(2011: HK$533,000) are pledged for bank loan of HK$83,000 (2011:
HK$304,000) (Note 30).

196,0007% ( = — — 4 ' 7 ¥ 533,0007T )
ZAEDEARITERBRES3,000C(=ZF
——4F : ¥ 304,000 7T) 2 i (H3£30) °

(¢) During the year ended 31 March 2012, a motor vehicle of the Group financed (©)
by the finance lease was HK$350,000 (2011: HK$450,000). At the end of the
reporting period, the net book value of motor vehicle held under finance lease
of the Group was HK$471,000 (201 1: HK$529,000).

o e S e S SR e
SEZAEMEAMABE35000T(ZF
——4 : B A450,0007T) ° NIRE HEEE
B AEBEUREROFEZ AEZEE
FEAEEATI000TT(ZE=—&F 8%
529,0007T) °
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)  19. ¥1% - BERRXE &)

The Company b/ /N
Furniture
Leasehold and other
improvements equipment Total
HEWERE FRREMRE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
PEETIT ST ST
Cost AR A
At 1 April 2010 RZZE-ZTFMHA—H 1,062 7213 1,775
Additions NE & =L F
At 31 March'2011 and R A s e
1 April 2011 xS e 1,062 73 1,775
Disposals HE (1,062) (337) (1,399)
At 31 March 2012 e T e e ] - 376 376
Accumulated depreciation 25t
At 1 April 2010 RZZE—ZFWMA—H 425 339 764
Charge for the year KEEHE 212 109 321
At 31 March 2011 and T e el Sy e =V
1 April 2011 IE-—FMA—=H 637 448 1,085
Charge for the year REZHE i, 54 231
Written back on disposals &S B o) (814) (148) (962)
At 31 March 2012 T st b = e et = 354 354
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 March 2012 it =l - 22 22
At 31 March 2011 P e i e e ] 425 265 690
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20. EREE

The Group NEH
HK$'000
ST
Cost AR
At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 RZZE—ZTFMA—H
e e e R
—Z—FWMHA—H —
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 42) e RS B 188 X = (B 5 42) 47,594
At 31 March 2012 TR e i Hi e e 47,594
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses st ERBEEE
At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 RZIE-ZFMYA—H"
e s e e EL Y
e e S M S b =
Charge for the years NEFHE 2,389
Impairment losses recognised in the year FRERRBEREE 45,205
At 31 March 2012 Tt R 47,594

Carrying amount BREE
At 31 March 2012 RoT=

e e e 3]

At 31 March 2011

The Group acquired the patent for the “curved floor panels”,
outstanding sales contracts and the registered trademark “F74%)H”
through the acquisition of Originate Tech Global Investments Limited
(“Originate Tech”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Zhongshan
Operations”) on 2 August 2011 as disclosed in Note 42. These
intangible assets were valued by independent valuer as at the date of
acquisition at HK$48 million.

The patent has a finite life and will expire on 2 August 2017. The
patent was valued by Greater China Appraisal Limited (“GCA”), an
independent qualified professional valuers not connected with the
Group, with a fair value of HK$4,419,000. GCA adopted multi-period
excess earnings method at a discount rate of 18% to value the patent
which is based on a financial projection cover a period of approximately
5 years approved by management. The management estimated the
financial projection based on their experience and the average annual
growth rate for the forecast period is 3%.

Amortisation has been provided on a straight-line basis over the
remaining useful life of 6 years from the date of acquisition to 2 August
2017. The amortisation charge approximately of HK$268,000 for the
year is included in other operating expenses in the consolidated income
statement.

R S e e e ]

ML 42T E - RZE——F/\AZ
B AEEZBRBRIMREEEARA
Al ([AIRED) R P A R (el R L 275 1)
S [HARMAR | 2 BEFRE - REREE
BRREM R FaRM | - B G ER B
ZEBEAENKE B BMEGEREE
48,000,000 7T °

BREER-_ZE—tFENB-_BHEm &
FliEmEAEEIEEE 2 B IALKRE
¥GhEMmEEFEAR AT (EEFE])
i ERAFEAEE 4,419,000t o iEEE
FEENEEBRIERENSFEHRZ
B TER - IR Z AR B s A F A LABRIR
KA18% A BFIEME - EREBEREREZ
w8 DA K FE ORI B 2 39 I8 R R 3% AT
BIT5TE R o

BHELEGRERERBRREAE 2
—tFNA B Z6FHR TR AFHE
R R o R AR S B 8 4 75 %5 268,000 T B
FIALSRE SR HEMmEEAY -

Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011/2012 115



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2012 HiE - ——F=A=+—RHILFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

116

Outstanding sales contracts were unfinished contracts with a number
of property developers at the acquisition date. The outstanding sales
contracts were valued by GCA with a fair value of HK$17,251,000.
In valuing the outstanding sales contracts, GCA adopted a discount
cashflow method using a discount rate of 17.5% to value and forecast
and gross profit of each contract estimated by management.

Amortisation has been provided based on the percentage of revenue
recognised on the contract. The amortisation charge approximately of
HK$2,121,000 for the year is included other operating expenses in the
consolidated income statement.

Trademark is registered in China and is for the distribution of wood
flooring products. The trademark was valued by GCA with a fair value of
HK$25,924,000. GCA adopted a multi-period excess earnings method
using a discount rate of 18% and financial projection covering a period
of approximately 5 years approved by management. The management
estimated the financial projection based on their experience and an
average annual growth rate of 3%.

Trademark has an indefinite useful life. The management will assess
recoverable amount of the trademark and provide necessary
impairment on each reporting date. The impairment for the year
is included other operating expenses in the consolidated income
statement.

For the year ended 31 March 2012 (first year of operations after
consolidation into the Group), the results of Zhongshan Operations
incurred a net loss of approximately HK$18 million. The net loss was
primarily attributable to the rapid slow down of the property market and
failing property prices in the PRC. As a result of the uncertainties in the
PRC economy and continued depressed timber demand and prices,
the Group considers that the value of the intangible assets related to
Zhongshan Operations suffered impairment. Details of the impairment
are disclosed in Note 42.

The recoverable amount of the intangible assets relating to Zhongshan
operations segment cash-generating unit was based on value in use
and was determined with the assistance of an independent valuer.

The patent was valued by GCA with a recoverable amount of Nil. GCA
adopted multi-period excess earnings method at a discount rate of
19% to value the patent which is based on a financial projection cover
a period of approximately 5 years approved by management.

Outstanding sales contracts were valued by GCA with a recoverable
amount of Nil. GCA adopted a discount cashflow method using a pre-
tax discount rate of 18% to value and forecast and gross profit of each
contract estimated by management.

The trademark was valued by GCA with recoverable amount of Nil
adopted a multi-period excess earnings method using a discount rate
of 20% and financial projection covering a period of approximately 5
years approved by management.

The Group decided to fully impair the carrying amount of the intangible

assets, the patent, outstanding sales contracts and trademark of
HK$4,151,000, HK$15,130,000 and HK$25,924,000 respectively.
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21. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

. EYEE

The Group A&
2012 2011
S —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
At beginning of the year REY] 1,173,150 833,323
Transfer to inventories EEEEE (2,951) o
Changes in fair value less costs to sell RN BEEBRFIHEKA (150,419) 250,243
Exchange movement B b, 2 &) (106,731) 89,584
At end of the year RFLR 913,049 1:178,150

The Group’s forest assets, acquired through the business combination
of Amplewell Holdings Limited (“Amplewell”):and its subsidiaries
(“Amplewell Group”), are located in the Northwest of Brazil, the State
of Acre, Amazon Region (the “Brazil Forest”). At 31 March 2012 and
2011, the biological assets represent natural tropical forests. The total
area of the Brazil Forest is approximately 44,500 hectares. Under
the environmental laws in Brazil, 20% (2011: 15%) or 8,939 hectares
(2011: 6,675 hectares) of the Brazil Forest area is the permanent
preservation area and therefore is restricted from logging. At least
80% of the remaining area is designated as the sustainable forest
management area and the balance is the permissible clear cut area
that has no restriction on felling under the environmental laws of Brazil.
In the sustainable forest management area, minimum impact logging
techniques are used and forests are managed in a sustainable manner
which means that the harvesting rate is below the overall natural growth
of the forest. The main objective in sustainable forest management
program is to ensure the substance of the forests be preserved. The
maximum logging rate allowed under relevant regulations governing
sustainable forest management is 30 cubic meters per hectare, an
average, over a 25 to 30 year harvesting cycle.

Harvesting in Acre commenced in 2011 after a longer than expected
rainy season in 2010 ‘and the roads into the harvesting area were
repaired. However, on 27 March 2012, the board decided to suspend
harvesting ‘operations in Acre for 1 year until the operating environment
for UTRB is improved. As disclosed in Note 9, UTRB and its staff had
been harassed by the Alleged Agent of the Main Contractor in the tree
felling service project in Rondonia. Not only was the tree felling service
project adversely affected by the Alleged Agent, he has also created
a difficult and hostile environment for UTRB and its staff in Brazil.
Since the harassments began in February 2011, the Alleged Agent
harassed UTRB’s staff and their family with death threats in numerous
instances. The Group’s employees especially in Brazil were scared
and UTRB had experienced high turnover of personnel. As such, it
was decided to suspend harvesting operations in Acre to address the
concerns of its staff. For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group
recorded a revaluation loss on biological assets of HK$150.4 million.
The loss was primarily attributable to decrease in log prices; decrease
in remeasurement of allowable harvesting area; depreciation of Brazilian
Real against Hong Kong dollars; and increase in costs to sell.
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BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

The forest engineer adopted a new methodology in determining the
harvestable area of the Brazil forests in the technical report used for the
current year’s valuation. This new methodology or standard (Modeflora
— Digital Model of Forest Exploration) was developed locally in Brazil
by Embrapa (Brazilian Enterprise for Agricultural Research). Adoption
is not mandatory by the state but recommended to the forest engineer
professionals.

During the valuation process, GCA referenced to a technical report
on estimation of quality and quantity of commercial and potentially
commercial wood species and residues resulting from the forest
exploitation issued by CAAP FORESTAL (“CAAP”). CAAP performs only
once diagnostic sampling for the whole farm area under current State
regulation. 100% census of the inventory will be performed to obtain a
new operating license for a-UPA area. In general, it is common practice
by forest engineers to assume there is no change in the forest inventory
as the tropical natural forestry asset is very stable within five to ten
years, so there is not necessary to perform detailed sampling every
year. Rain forest is a long lasting asset if without human intervention
(Amazon forest is estimated to have existed for some 10 million years).
Temporary hostile climate, e.g. strong wind, heavy rain and flooding
do not change the natural habitat of the forest. Disease and fire might
affect the forestry assets, but to the best knowledge of the Company,
no known fire and abnormal wood disease were reported during the
periods covered under the valuation. Temperature might affect the
quality/volume of the forestry asset, but in a long term prospective
(which usually over decades) instead of affecting within a short period
of time.

Notwithstanding the above, CAAP obtains satellite image of the farms
in" August every year with spatial resolution of 15 m (49 ft). This is to
recognize if there is any abnormal situation (e.g., sudden large scale
clearing/disappearing of trees) in the farms. It indicated that any object
or abnormality with 16m in size will be shown on the satellite image.
CAAP also monitors the daily updates on burns and fires in Brazil forest
area: http://www.inpe.br/queimadas/.

The Brazil Forest was independently valued by Greater China Appraisal
Limited (“GCA”), an independent qualified professional valuers not
connected with the Group. GCA has experience in valuing similar
forestry assets. GCA has adopted a discounted cash flow methodology
in valuing the Brazil Forest. The following are the major assumptions
used in the valuation:

° a logging volume of 21.5 m® (2011: 21.5 m?®) per hectare in the
sustainable forest management program area.
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21. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

a discount rate of 15.8% (2011: 16.6%) based on the data and
factors relevant to the economy of Brazil, the industry of forest
business and the harvestable resources in the Brazil Forest, and
the weighted average cost of capital.

harvesting activities for the first 30-year cycle will resume from
the calendar year of 2013 and complete in 7 years (2011: 8
years). Revenue or costs from subsequent harvesting cycle are
not taken into account.

average logs price growth at a rate of 3% per annum (2011:
3% per annum) in the next 7 years (2011: 7 years) which is the
expected long term growth rate was estimated by reference to
the Consumer Price Index in USA.

the Group will obtain Forest Stewardship Council (the “FSC”)
certification in-2014. FSC certification demonstrates fulfillment
of social and ecological criteria, while increasing the prices
achievable for timber products. Based on current market
practices, the directors estimate that the Group can enjoy a price
premium of 15% over non FSC timber products from 2014 when
the Group obtains the FSC certification.

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its natural forest.

(i

(ii)

Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in Brazil in which
it operates. The Group has established environmental policies
and procedures aimed at compliance with local environmental
and other laws. Management performs regular reviews to identify
environmental risks-and to ensure that the systems in place are
adequate to manage those risks. The Directors are not aware of
any environmental liabilities as at 31 March 2012.

Supply and demand risk

The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in the
price and sales volume of logs. When possible the Group
manages this risk by controlling its harvest volume, according to
market conditions. Management performs regular industry trend
analysis to ensure the Group’s pricing policy-is comparable to the
market and the projected harvesting volumes are consistent with
the expected demand.
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22. GOODWILL 22. HE
The Group REH
Sustainable
forest Zhongshan
management Operations Total
(note i) (note i)
AR AR
EEEK LHITE 53 et
(Btazi) (Mtetii)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BEETIT BT
Cost AR A
At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011 RZE—ZTFHHA—H
and 1 April 2011 ST e S e
ZT-—FMWMA—H 1,686,883 - 1,686,883
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries U & B A R FTEEE & 77,353 77,353
At 31 March 2012 B e S e ] 1,686,883 ;853 1,764,236

Accumulated impairment losses ~ ZiHEEEE

At 1 April 2010, .31 March 2011 RZE-ZEFNA—H

and 1 April 2011 BT e S e F

SRt o = v4

Impairment losses recognised REA B HERREREE

during the year 1,384,765 (283 1,462,118
At 31 March 2012 A e SR e 1,384,765 K29 1,462,118

Carrying amount BREE

At 31 March 2012 IR —wi et = S e ] 302,118 5 302,118
At 31 March 2011 S S e = e B R 1,686,883 o 1,686,883
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22. GOODWILL (continued)

Notes:

(i)

Sustainable forest management

Goodwill was allocated to the Group’s cash-generating unit identified according
to the operating segment. Goodwill as at 31 March 2012 and 2011 was
attributable to the cash-generating unit that. comprises the sustainable forest
management segment.

For the year ended 31 March 2012, goodwill relating to sustainable forest
management segment suffered an impairment loss of HK$1,385 million
primarily as a result of the deferral of harvesting plan; drop in timber prices and
decrease in remeasurement of allowable forest area.

The forest engineer adopted a new methodology in determining the harvestable
area of the Brazil forests in the technical report used for the current year’s
valuation. This new methodology or standard (Modeflora — Digital Model
of Forest Exploration) was developed locally in Brazil by Embrapa (Brazilian
Enterprise for Agricultural Research). Adoption is not mandatory by the state
but recommended to the forest engineer professionals.

The recoverable amount of the sustainable forest management segment
cash-generating unit was based on value in use and was determined with the
assistance of an independent valuer.

Value in use was determined by discounting the future cash flows generated
from the continuing use of the unit. The calculation of the value in use was
based on the following key assumptions:

— Cash flows were projected based on past experience and financial
budget approved by management. Management estimated that the
cash flows after 9 years (2011: 9 years) are immaterial to the overall
recoverable amount of the unit because the management planned
to complete the harvesting and selling activities for the first 30-year
cycle of the Brazil Forest within 8 years. Therefore, cash flows after 9
years (2011: 9 years) are not included in the-value in use calculations.
Cash flows from year 5 to year 9 are extrapolated using an estimated
weighted average growth rate of 3%, which is consistent with the
expected long term growth rate of Consumer Price Index in USA.
Management estimated that there would be a negative growth of 63%
in year 9 as a result of the completion of harvesting and selling activities
for the first 30-year cycle of the Brazil forest.

= Revenue was projected based on management’s past experience and
their expectations for market development and the harvesting plan.

— Timber product average price growth at 3% per annum (2011: 3%
per annum). The expected long term growth rate was estimated by
reference to the Consumer Price Index in USA.

— A pre-tax discount rate of 27.84% (2011: 21.2%) based on the data
and factors relevant to the economy of Brazil, the forest industry, the
timber products in the Brazil Forest, and the weighted average cost of
capital.

— The Group will obtain FSC certification in 2014. FSC certification
demonstrates fulfillment of social and ecological criteria, while
increasing the prices achievable for timber products. Based on current
market practices, the directors estimate that the Group can enjoy a
price premium of 15% over non FSC timer products from 2014 when
the Group obtains the FSC certification.

(i)
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22. GOODWILL (continued)

122

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

Zhongshan Operations
The goodwill of HK$77,353,000 arising from the acquisition of Zhongshan
Operations represented the future economic benefits from the synergy effect of
the business combination.

The entire value of Zhongshan operations segment was considered impaired
as of 31 March 2012, and an impairment loss on goodwill of HK$77 million was
recorded: Details of the impairment are disclosed in Note 42.

The recoverable amount of Zhongshan operations segment cash-generating
unit was based on value in use and was determined with the assistance of
GCA.

The value in use was determined by. discounting the future cash flows
generated from the continuing use of the unit. The calculation of the value in
use was based on the following key assumptions:

— Cash flows for Zhongshan operations segment were projected based
on past experience and financial budget approved by management.
Management estimated that the cash flows after 5 years are immaterial
to the overall recoverable amount of the unit.

= Revenue for Zhongshan operations segment was projected based on
management’s expectation for market development and the existing
agreement with customers.

. The expected long term growth rate is 3% per annum was estimated
by reference to the Consumer Price Index in USA.

= A pre-tax discount rate of 22.70% based on the data and.factors
relevant to the economy of China, and the weighted average cost of
capital.

For the year ended 31 March 2012, goodwill relating to Zhongshan operations
segment suffered an impairment loss of HK$77 million. Zhongshan Operations
incurred a net loss of approximately HK$18 million in its first year of operations
since consolidation into the Group. The net loss was mainly due t6 rapid slow
down of the PRC property market and falling property prices in the PRC. As
a result of the uncertainties in the PRC economy and continued depressed
timber demand and prices, the Group considers that the value of the goodwill
related to Zhongshan Operations suffered impairment. Please refer to'Note 42
for more details on the acquisition of Zhongshan Operations.
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(ii)
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77,000,000 7T © # 1L SR EZRE B & &
2 8B A E A B IR F RE 4075 %5 18,000,000
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For the yearended 31 March 2012 B E =2 —_—F=A=+—HILFE

23. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

23. B RER

The Company
AT
2012 2011
—E——fF =T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T ok v
Unlisted shares, at cost FEETRR D - AR = T
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUL Y B~ B FRIH 2,555,161 2,619,978
2,555,161 2,519,978
Less: Impairment losses B REEE (1,618,236) (15,284)
936,925 2,504,694
3 Total investment cost are HK$10 (2011: HK$11). * BIRERR N BB (ZE——4 : B

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-

(@)
free and had no fixed repayment terms. In the opinion of the
Company’s director, these advances are considered as quasi-
equity loans to the subsidiaries. The carrying amounts of the
amounts due from subsidiaries approximate to their fair value.

(b)

The movement in the allowance for impairment losses during the
year was as follows:

1178) °

U BARFIESEER 2R N
SRR BT B D R R 2 A
HE - BUMEB AR FIAL RHE
ELE N FEES -

FAREBRREBE I EBHIMT

2012 2011

S e e

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Balance brought forward 7 HI 45 R 15,284 15,334

Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE 1,602,952 =
Write off s = (50)*

Balance carried forward FEEEe 3 1,618,236 15,284

As a result of deferral, decline in market prices of timber and the
unexpected operating performance of Zhongshan operations, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that an impairment
of HK$1,602,952,000 was made in 2012.

% During the year ended 31 March 2011, a subsidiary, which was inactive
in the current and prior years, was deregistered and the amount
due from this subsidiary was written off against the impairment loss
recognised in previous years in relation to this subsidiary.

HREEABEBARBILER
ZEERBRMNIBAE - RRRESE
RR ERZE-_FELEE
1,602,952,000 7T Z R fE °

5 BE-E - —FZH=+"HIFE
A —RIRAFRERBEFREEE
228 A FE WBOSEEM K
A B R 2 BB ArRBIEFE
BLAZHI B 23 FIAE R 2 SR (BT 1R T LA M
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23. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 23. B~ EHRER=E )

(c) Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (c) MIBATFRBUWT :
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of
registration and issued and equity attributable
operations paid up capital to the Company
Name KL/ R BRAR AT Principal activities
£ e BRRAFE REBL TEER
directly indirectly
HE of:
Amano Holdings Limited Cyprus 1,000 ordinary shares of = 100 Inactive
£y Euro1 each Tmax
1,000 i & 1Ak
BREE1ET
Amplewell Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary-share of - 100 Investment holding
R ERBRAR B A US$1 each REER
1B BB
BRAEBIET
Anex International Management Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100 = Human resources management
Limited BB HK$1 each ANERER
ZETEARERERAA THRE B
BRABSH1T
AW Holdings Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of - 100 Inactive
ZEERERAT BB HK$1 each Thex
1 BB
GREEES1T
Eastmark Holding Ltd. Samoa 3,350 ordinary shares of — 100 Investment holding
EED US$1 each REER
3,350 % B Ak
BRAE1ET
Firm Well Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of e 100 Investment holding
REBRRE RERUES USS1 each REER
1RSSR
BRAGEIET
Great Path Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 100 = Investment holding
LRERARE ERRUES US$1 each RarR
1R AR
BRAEEET
124 KRMEZRRBRDT —B—— ZE2-FFH
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23. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

()

—F=A=F+—HILFE

23. B A TR &)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

(c) MBATFBMOT : (4

Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of
registration and issued and equity attributable
operations paid up capital to the Company
Name KL/ R BETR KARER Principal activities
£ ES-iuk BRIRAGE REBDL TEEH
directly indirectly
Bi B
Manzhouli Yongbao Forestry Co., Ltd.* China Paid up registered capital - 100 Inactive
(Formerly known as H of US$75,000 TEEE
“Manzhouli Eastmark Wooden BAREMRA
Products Co.; Ltd *") 75,000% 7T
il EXRMEER AR
(ATfa DM 2R
BRAR)
New On Creation Limited Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares of - 100 Investment holding
HRERERAA BA HK$1 each RERR
10,000 R & &
BRABEK1T
Originate Tech Global Investments British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of - 100 Investment holding
Limited RERLES US$1 each REER
BRI RE AR AT 1R SBRR
SREBETET
SFH Management Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100 - General management
KREBBRAA &b HKS1 each —REE
1 REER
BRABBK1T
SFH Innovation Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of = 100 Construction and trading of
KXREIRBRAA] BA HK$1 each wooden building materials
100M% & ik AEEVRRAREE
FREEEE1T
SFH Trading Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of — 100 Timber and wood products
XRESHERAH BA HK$1 each trading
1L mik A RAHEREE
FRABBE1TT
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23. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

23. B A AR )

(c) Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (c) MIBARFEMT @ (&)
(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of
registration and issued and equity attributable
operations paid up capital to the Company
Name R/ MK BETR KA RE Principal activities
£ L BRBRAFE REBDL TEXH
directly indirectly
BE EfEd
SFH Trading (USA) Inc. United States of America 1,000 common stocks of - 100 Procurement business
gL US$0.001 each REXEK
1,000 & @A
FREH0.001ET
SFH Trading (Zhongshan) Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of - 100 Trading business
(Currently known as “SFH Homes &8 HK$1 each CUES S
Limited”) 1 RE AR
KREZ(Rl) BRAH BRAESK1T
(B8 KRR EAERERAR)
Susfor-Oasis Timber China Paid up registered capital - 100 Manufacturing and sales of
(Zhongshan) Co. Ltd.* H of US$314,922 timber products
HILTR RN AR E BB AR B REMER RHEMEEREE
314,922%
Total Integrity Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 2 100 Inactive
EBRUES US$1 each Tmex
1 AR
BRAEE1ET
Universal Timber Resources Brazil R$12,049,136 - 100 Sustainable management of
do Brasil Ltda. i 12,049,136 B2 R and investment in natural

(Formerly knowns as

“Universal Timber Resources

do Brasil Participacao Ltda.”)

(A7 [Universal Timber Resources
do Brasil Participacao Ltda. ])
(“Universal Timber”)

(TUniversal Timber])

*

The English translation of Chinese name is for identification purpose

only.
b Wholly-foreign owned enterprise registered in China.
126 KEMEERARAR —FB——/ZF-"FFH
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24. DEPOSIT FOR PURCHASE OF PROPERTY, 24, WEYE  BERREZTE

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Pursuant to a memorandum of understanding and its extension
agreement (collectively “MOUs”) entered into between UTRB and
Berena on 1 June 2009 and 28 March 2011, respectively, UTRB
paid a total advanced deposit of R$6,400,000 (or approximately
HK$30,336,000 as of 31 March 2011) to acquire a factory, machinery
and equipment. UTRB occupied the factory and used the machinery
and equipment from July 2009 to January 2012. Pursuant to the
MOUs, the advanced deposit shall be used to offset against the
purchase price in the event that a definitive agreement shall be entered
into for the purchase of the factory, machinery and equipment on or
before 31 March 2012 (the “Expiry Date”), or as rental payments if no
such acquisition agreement is reached.

On 27 July 2010, Berena entered into a loan agreement lending
R$3,000,000 (or approximately HK$14,220,000 as of 31 March 2011)
to UTRB with maturity on 27 January 2011. The loan agreement was
subsequently renewed on 28 March 2011 extending maturity to 27
January 2012.

No definitive acquisition agreement for the purchase of the factory
was reached between the parties on or before the Expiry Date.
On 1 January 2012, Berena and UTRB entered into-an agreement
(“Termination Agreement”) to offset the loan and its accured interests
payables of R$3,416,000 (or approximately HK$15,732,000 as of
14 February 2012) against the advanced deposit of R$6,400,000
(or approximately HK$29,477,000 as of 14 February 2012). The net
difference of R$2,984,000 (or approximately HK$13,745,000) would
have been rental expenses for the usage of the factory from July 2009
to January 2012. In addition, UTRB entered into an agreement on 30
December 2011 and paid R$320,000 (or approximately HK$1,364,000)
to purchase some machinery and equipment from Berena.

On 7 April 2011, Berena became a related company to the Group as
the ultimate beneficial owner of Berena joined the Group as part of the
senior management team.

R UTRBELBerena® Bl — T ZE AL FE N
Hom B = B e e i e a2
ISR H SRR (AR SRR ER
8% 1) - UTRB X N85 & & 6,400,000 &
DR(EN - E——F =A==+ BB
30,336,000 7T ) AU HE R 55~ #E 28 R =%

UIRBEZZTENEt AR =Z——4—H
ﬁ%&ﬁ%&@%%ﬁ& S5 o ARIERAR
S MR =E-—F=ZA=t+—RA(ER
H%Dizm%ﬁgﬁ%~%ﬁ&% Al
ERX e BETSERAERHEEER @ %
AR R AR E RS - AIZERS -

RZZE—FEL A =++H - Berenazl L
B Z & mUTRBfE 13,000,000 8 &8
BN T = = A=+ BAEE
142200007‘@) IR AT ——F—A

ZhtH - BERpmEERN =T —%=A
:+AE%§K mEER et E — T —=
G HI el o

IEm B Bk 2/l - S AW ERIEERER
SMIER WS G o R :E—ﬂ—av
Berena & UTRB T3zt ([ 4R IE %))
B H 25T R FILE 3,416,000 EEEEEE(&
RZZE——F =B 1V R 4% 15,732,000
7)) 5 $8 781+ 5T £ 6,400,000 5 25 BB (B
2= A+ B 4% 29,477,000
) 5%’*%%@’72984000%%5@(_}?%’]:
#13,7450007) REZZTTNFLAZE
—E-—F-AFRAREZHEERE - It
N C e Bl e e ey e SR P S P
3 Wk 0 I X 320,000 58 @ (4975
1,364,0007T ) [A]Berenalil B %5 T 123 & 284# o

R-ZFT——&FM A+t H " BARBerenaZ &
REERAEANALSE 2 EBEEBK
# Berenafk A4S B 2 BIE A A
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25. INVENTORIES

25. &

2012 2011
—E——F —E——%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HtaE BT T T
Timber logs [RAAHA @) 1,425 240,383
Sawn timber SEA (b) 48,126 —
Raw materials [R#4 ¥ @) 3,212 865
Work in progress e () 83 490
Finished goods R oh ©) 12,782 242
65,628 241,980

Notes: Bt
(@) The timber logs were harvested from the biological assets (2011: harvested (a) BARMIREDEEFRK(ZE——F

during the provision of tree felling services).

REHEEARRBERA)

(o) The sawn timber was purchased for trading purpose. (o) EMTIREEREMEA
©) These inventories were held for further processing or sale. (©) ZEFERBIEE-—DMISHERR
(@) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense is as (@) ERBRAZIZFESEINAT
follows:
2012 2011
—B——F ZT——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFESRAEE 112,083 248,902
Write down of timber logs (Note 10) WORRAAM (K7 10) 1,781 1,000
Write off of timber logs (2012: Note 9 and 2011: Note 8(ij) #issRAARM (=T ——4F : {9 K
ZF——4F i 8(i) 233,572 272,482
347,436 522,384
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

26. EWE 5 AR EMERRE

The Group The Company
RE PN

2012 2011 2012 2011
—E-——fF —=——fF pomt T —2——F
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ¥kt w BT T ookt u
Trade receivables U E SR8 955 518,693 — —
Other receivables H b EUFRIB 10,279 1,480 - —
Amount due from a director Bl —ZZEEIE 456 — - —
Prepayments and deposits RS HIERIES 6,282 4,116 3,011 1,435
17,972 519,289 3,011 1,435

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered

within one year.

The trade receivables as of 31 March 2011 related primarily to sales
to customers completed in March 2011 for logs and sawn timber
from Brazil, Africa and United States on ex-yard basis. Due to the
size of the orders, goods were planned to be shipped in multiple
shipments. While the Group was not responsible for arranging or the
costs of transportation, the Group agreed to defer part of the payment
according to the anticipated shipment dates. Please refer to Note 8(i)
and 9 for details regarding the write off of the trade receivables relating
to the sales of timber logs and sawn timber from Brazil, Africa and the

United States.

(@) Trade receivables

The aging analysis of the trade receivables as of the reporting

date, based on invoice date, was as follows:

P e 5 508 I H At e 3R TR 15 TR
R—FAkE -

R-ZE——F=A=1—HZEKEFX
BEESRR_ZE-——F=ATKEBR
B ERGERRERLERATPHERAE
B FMEERRZRARFEM Z2RS - &
RATBEZHRE  EmtEnREHMNE -
HRARBELATETEERZ LRI RRA -
AEBERBEREEEARER LD
e BRAMBHEREERN  JFMNREE
ZBRA AWM RS 2 B R E 5508
w15 - 2R 8() ML

(@) EWREZNE
REHAY - HEZAHFEZEK
B SR IBZ RN

2012 2011

—E-—F —E——%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T ST

0to 30 days 0£230H 922 512,845
31 to 60 days 31E260H 18 —
61 to 90 days 61290H - 827
Over 90 days Q0B 15 21
955 513,693

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit
and letters of credit, except for new customers where payment

in advance and cash on delivery are normally required. Invoices
are normally payable between 30 and 180 days after issuance.
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
has a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Further
details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in Note 44.

BHEF —RARNRERER A
Bedh AEEBARZSHETRPEER
HRAGRRER S - #R—RANE
HZ30E180HAXIT - BHEFR
BRERREER - AEELHARKE
Z M FORE AR IES - WERT
EEEHEGEITER - OREERE
EERE =R ERETHEHAHR
Bt ARAREEERRE-TFH
TBEERKTFE44
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

130

26. FEWE 5 ME R HAtb B WKIE

(&)
(@) Trade receivables (continued) (@ EBWEZFHEE)
Trade receivables over 90 days as of 31 March 2012 were fully i e e s s R
settled in April 2012 after year end. HNAECEKRESHRIBERELE
BER T — — &0 GREHEA -
(b) Impairment of trade receivables (b) EWEZREZRE
Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded BRI E 5518 2 REEE T (A
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that B BRAC B - MM AR E R AU E R
recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment H e RN  ARESES  EE
loss is written off against trade receivables directly. FEURE 5 SRIAMSH
(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired (c) YEBEZEWESMKIE
The aging analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually 7 £ 1R A R (B Bl Sl SR B R B 2 e
nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows: WEGHIAZ RERDITAT -
The Group The Company
AEME NG|
2012 208 2012 2011
SR T o e B T S e s
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT BET T BT T
Neither past due nor impaired 3 A 580 B 78 AR R E 28 513,678 - 3
Less than 1 month past due BEAVHR—EA 894 3 - -
1 to 3 months past due wmH—==18A 18 4 = <3
Over 3 months past due BHI= (8 A LA E 15 8 = =
S el R L L R s s /TR
955 513,693 o —
Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to B2 260 BR{E I AR (E 2 FE MR IR B 2
a number of independent customers that have a good track BNEFPER  RERAEEERMT
record with the Group for whom there was no recent history of FIEE RS EE - BTN E R RRi 8% o
default. Based on past experience, management believes that no RIBEAERS  ARNEEERIES
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances ANEH) - W FERTEERAINEEH
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and m - e R ENREE AR S AR
the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group {EHRERME - NEE W &R UL F 4
does not hold any collateral over these balances. SIS AEREAR -
KEMELZRERAT —B—— “E—_FFRH



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R M EE

For the yearended 31 March 2012 B E =2 —_—F=A=+—HILFE

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

27. RERBEEEY

The Group The Company
rEE NG|
2012 2011 2012 2011

T e I R s L BT TR s T et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT BT T BT

Cash at bank and on hand, BITRFEEE N

and cash and cash equivalents RErE Mgk E&

in the consolidated statement of Z2BHE&Rk

financial position BEEEY 7,760 23,679 2,166 1,423
Cash and bank balances classified DEAFEREZ

as held for sale (Note 28) BERRITER

(Kt5£28) == 1

Cash and cash equivalents in the REEERERERZ

consolidated statement of cash flows RERIREEED 7,760 23,680
Cash and bank balances denominated LA A R#%I{E >~

in Renminbi Re MRTTET 1,297 7

Renminbi is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange Renminbi for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

The interest rates on the cash at bank and deposits with banks ranged
from 0.005% to 8.4% (2011: 0.005% to 10.95%) per annum.

28. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS
HELD FOR SALE

In February 2010, the Group commenced negotiations to dispose of
the Chita forests operations in Russia as part of its ongoing strategy
to seek forest assets or operations with better return on investments,
hence improving the return to shareholders. As at 31 March 2011, the
assets and liabilities attributable to the Chita forests operations have
not been sold but were expected to be sold within twelve. months. As
such, the assets and liabilities of Chita forest operations were classified
as assets and liabilities held for sale and presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The sale of the assets and liabilities of Chita forests operations was
completed on 30 March 2012. Details are disclosed in Note 43.

AR AmABRSEMER - A -
AR rp B KB 2 SN 8 22 R 91 DA T A5 T
EERNEETEMATE AEEEESLE
BRIEBETINERBZRITHEARE LIRS

BITHRSRBOERZHAENTHF
0.005%%F8.4% ( =T — — % : 0.006% &
10.95%) ©

28. PERBEFEEERERE

RZZ-ZTF_F RNEEFABLLER
BERERMEHETER  (ERSRA
FEREMBZRMEEREB 2 KB
REE—HD KEMEARRER - R=F
——F=A=+—8H  REZRMEBENG
ZERBEREAEDAREL  BEHAEL @
AREL - Bt TIERMEBZEER
BEENERARKEFEEERAE IS
RN B MR R A Z

TERMEBZEERABRER T —=
FZA=THERHE - FBERMFE43H

= o
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28. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS
HELD FOR SALE (continued)

As at 31 March, 2011, the major classes of assets and liabilities of
Chita forests operations in Russia, which have been classified as held

132

PEABESEEEREE®

I e el e e = VR R N = ¥
FRELRENTERMEB 2EERE

for sale are as follows: BEEHEAT :
2012 2011
il I —E—fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HiaE BT T P T IT
Property, plant and equipment Y B MR - 74,019
Intangible assets mEE (a) - 152,506
Trade and other receivables FEME 5 5/ IE f oA FE W R IE = 505
Amount due from a non-controlling R — R FETE R AR R R TE
shareholder (b) - 52,797
Cash and bank balances BE RIRITEF 27 - 1
Assets classified as held for sale DEABRIEHEEE - 279,828
Trade and other payables FEASI B 5 3R IE R EoAth A< IR - 26,639
Other loans, secured BB HMER ©) - 4,131
Other loans, unsecured IR BB R (@) - 2,517
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEAE 34(b) = 37,569
Liabilities associated with assets HAOE AR IEEESERR
classified as held for sale ZBE - 70,856
Notes: Bzt
(a) Intangible assets @ BREEE

KRMEZRAMRDT

The Group acquired seven timber concession licences through acquisition
of Amplewell Group on 31 July 2009. These timber concession rights cover
approximately 242,745 hectares of forests situated within the Chita region in
Russia.

The timber concession licences have finite life which will expire in 2012 to 2032.
Under the terms of the timber concession licences, the Group has the right to
carry out harvesting activities. In addition, the Group is required to pay royalties
to the respective forestry services departments in Russia at a pre-determined
fixed sum calculated based on the volume by species allowed to be harvested
each year.

The timber concession rights were independently valued by GCA, with a fair
value of HK$168,182,000 at the date of acquisition. GCA adopted a direct
market data method to value the timber concession rights which was based on
the official price data published by the Federal Forestry Agency of the Ministry
of Agriculture of the Russian Federation.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, two timber concession rights covering
approximately 23,893 hectares of forest were expropriated by respective
forestry services departments in Russia due to defaults of payments of royalties
during the year. As a result, these two timber concession rights were written
off by the Group with the carrying amount of approximately HK$9,926,000
recognised as other operating expenses of discontinued operations.

—E—— /2 _FFRH

RZZTAFLA=T—H A5EFEBK
TR BB LB AMISEIE « ILEAM
FEETIETE S AR A /R B M [ AR AU 242,745
AHEZ FRK ©

ABEHFEBR - E——FE2_T=_F1
fE R ° BIBAMEFT R Z IR - ASEE
REEITIREES) » IO - AEBERIESE
TR TE 2 B8 M AR T EER RS
WL BB EESE NEFEE -

AMSHETEEFEBEL(GE  RKE
HEl 2z 2 FE A% 168,182,000 ° #
1B B % 5 4 BB 8 8 2 &0 (Ministry of
Agriculture of the Russian Federation) Federal
Forestry Agency HIZZ B A BRERHRMAE
B TS BUBOA TR AN M R R4

H T A s I e S N
RENERZHEFEE ZZE - MBEAMY
I 5 4 W & 4923,893 A B 2 FR AR 1 28 HT
THBA AR IS SO P R W e E ity - NEBE M
SHZMIEAMEETE - MEREEQEE
9,926,000 ST HER B E AR IEF 15 2 FoAth & &R
§i o
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28. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS
HELD FOR SALE (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

()

(d)

Amount due from a non-controlling shareholder

The amount was unsecured and interest-free..In the opinion of the directors,
the amount was expected to be realised within twelve months from the end of
the reporting period.

Under the repayment agreement entered between the non-controlling
shareholder and Amplewell, the non-controlling shareholder agreed to dispose
part of his shares in Winner Global Holdings Limited (“Winner Global”), a
substantial shareholder of the Company, and ordinary shares in the Company for
repayment of the amount due to the Group. The amount was also guaranteed
by a shareholder, Assure Gain International Limited (“Assure Gain”) which
owned 43.38% interests in Winner Global. Under the guarantee agreement, the
shareholder agreed to dispose sufficient shares in the Company to repay the
outstanding amount in the event of default by the non-controlling shareholder.

Other loans, secured

As at 31 March 2011 the loans were secured by the subsidiary’s building with
carrying amount of HK$3,139,000 and the personal assets given by a non-
controlling shareholder. The loans were bearing fixed interest rate at 3% to 5%
per annum. During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Ally Rise Group failed to
repay the loans on maturity dates and the amounts of loans became due as at
31 March 2011.

Other loans, unsecured

As at 31 March 2011, out of the amount of HK$2,517,000, HK$1,368,000
(“Loan A”) was bearing fixed interest rate at 5% per annum, HK$164,000 (“Loan
B”) was interest free and the remaining HK$985,000 (“Loan C”) was bearing
fixed interest rate at 16% per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Ally Rise Group failed to repay the
Loan A, Loan B and Loan C on maturity dates and became due as at 31 March
2011.

Wit -

(b)

(c)

(d)

28. P EABESEEEREE®H)

(%)

Bl — E R RRRE
ERAZERERARES - BEFRR - BH
FIRTARS B RS SRS B g =@ A
W o

B IRIEIE AR AR SR EL IR ET 3L 2 Bk ek

HFERBRRABLHERRADRAFERR
Winner Global Holdings Limited ([ Winner
Globall) z #8 5 Bz 0 & A8 A 8] E @ A% » A
BRERNEB ZHIE o BN AERR
Assure Gain International Limited ([ Assure
Gain]) ¥R + Assure Gain & Winner Global
Z43.38% K s o IRBHER T Z « W FEFEARAR
RERHE  BRRAZSLHERHZAARRK
MABEERREEE -

BERCEMER

N2 ——F=ZA=+—-H ZEEFUR
TE 1B /% 7 ¥ 3,139,000 7T < i /8 A A2 F &
—BIFEBRRREMZ BABEFEER - B
PIREEFNEIEESEFE - RBE-F
—REZA=+-HIFE SEFEELR
REMBERREER  BAXFERKR
T e gl SRR

EIEBZHMER
RZT-—F=/=+—8 ' #%2517,000
TLZACEE T - 11,368,000 L[ ERAL
REEFEFESELF S - BH164,000T([E
FBl) A% B - MR8 % 985,000 ([ &
FHCAZEE FFE16ET S -

HE-T-TE=A=+-ALEEN &
BB KN EBMEEERRA HHBR
EHC BMA-T——F=A=t+—Az
BIER % -
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28. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS 28. DHEARESELEEREE®
HELD FOR SALE (continued)

Notes: (continued) Hitat < (&)
(e) Litigations (e) HIEN
i) On 9 August 2010, the Arbitration Court of Zabaykalsky region of 0] R-_ZE-—ZENAALB BREH
Russia (the “Court”) initiated a procedure of observation (bankruptcy) (the Zabaykalsky {505z (DA 1) A ZLK
“Observation”) for ZLK. Within the period for the Observation, the Court ERBREE)EF(BR]) - RE
received certain claims from the several creditors against ZLK to repay =HRE  ARKE S RERAAZE
approximately 24 million Russian rubles (approximately HK$6.5 million) S ZLK {8 3 #924,000,000 ff 7 H &
of liabilities. These liabilities were included in the liabilities associated i (#7% % 6,500,00070) 2 B & ° R
with assets held for sale as of 31 March 2011. During the year ended e ey S e e =R S
31 March 2011, ZLK settled certain parts of these liabilities. ZLK as Bt AEBEGEEERRZAE -
part of Chita forest operations was sold before 31 March 2012 and all P B aaaee g =ape - F PG
liabilities related to the claims were transferred to the Buyer. Therefore E-ZKEERH D LZFAE - 2K
no such amounts are included in the consolidated statement of financial ERINBRMERZ —H5  ERZ
position of the Group as of 31 March 2012. Please refer to note (iii) for o e e f e et = T = TR ]
details on Completion. HRRZMARBEEERTES - A
SEHE=F-—F=A=+—HIF
FEZEAUBRARATEBIES
BeE -BHTKZFE  w2HE
(i) 7
(ii) On 11 February 2011, a lender (the “Lender”) of loans submitted a claim (ii) RaE e A A=
to the Court against ZLK to repay the alleged defaulted loan principal, HEEERZzERATERA D
interests with penalties of approximately- 40 million Russian rubles A AT 6 R ZLKE B 2 8 i R
(approximately HK$11 million) (the “Claim”), which was different from 2EFAG FMEETR SEH
the balance of approximately 21 million Russian rubles (approximately #340,000,000f % 87 & 10 (4975 1%
HK$5.8 million) in the records of the Company. According to the legal 11,000,0007T) ([H R ) * ARIRA
opinion issued by a legal advisor, the Court would probably validate the A ] 5 8% Ffi 51) 49 21,000,000 ff 7 Hi
total loan principal with interests of approximately 21 million Russian & 1 (4975 %5 5,800,000 7T ) Z #5 64 ©
rubles (approximately HK$5.8 million) which was the same as the REZEBBZRER =R A
records of the Company. These amounts were included in the liabilities B HGRE A& EF E.£721,000,000
associated with assets held for sale as of 31 March 2011. ZLK as 15 78 H7 7 (4978 % 5,800,000 7L ) 73
part of Chita forest operations was sold before 31 March 2012 and all B BARRE ZREE/R - RZF
liabilities related to the claims were transferred to the Buyer. Therefore s R S ST R
no such amounts are included in the consolidated statement of financial ERBEGEEEEBZEE - 2K
position of the Group as of 31 March 2012. Please refer to note (iii) for ERRERMEL 2 —BD  BRZ
details on Completion. T TFEZEA=ET-BAEL -mA
HERZMEEBEEETEN - &
SEHE-FT-——_F=A=+—-H1
FEZEAMBRRRALEDIES
e - BHTRZFE  w2HE
(i) o
(i) The Completion of the disposal took place on 30 March 2012. Upon (iii) HERRERSE == H
Completion, as a security for payment of the Considerations and other K o TR BEABEV-—HAM
obligations on the part of the purchaser under the disposal agreement, KRG A HEBTREANRGIE
the purchaser has executed a share charge in relation to the charge of A ERXAREBREITEFIREE
the entire issued share capital of Ally Rise. a2 EfBEZ R -

134 KEMEERARAR —FB——/ZF-"FFH



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R M EE

For the yearended 31 March 2012 B E =2 —_—F=A=+—HILFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

20. ENEZREREMENRE

The Group The Company
AEE RAT]

2012 2011 2012 2011

AR AR B T e e R e S R A e e

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

HteF BT T BT TT BT T BT TT

Trade payables BB S8 (a) 177,997 180,231 - —
Other payables and accruals -~ E- b &5 I8 &

st E 22,049 19,055 7,918 1,907

Amounts due to related FETRE:E A )

companies FIE (c) 12,264 — - —
Financial liabilities measured  #&Z1# sk A5t 2

at amortised costs ZHBEE 212,310 199,286 7,918 1,907

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be repaid or
recognised as income within one year or had no fixed terms of

repayment.

(@

Trade payables
An aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on.invoice date, was as follows:

B BB R 5 BB R B R ORI
R—FRBERRRAKA - AEETE
7 -

@

FE1+ B 5 FRIH
RBEDPEER  RERANE
A EBERNEHFTAZ BRI

AN

2012 2011
—E-—F —ET-—%
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BEEFIT
0 to 30 days 0E30H 5,200 130,566
31 to0 60 days 31260 H 2,717 o
Over 90 days (note (i)) 90 H BA L (K3E () 170,080 49,665
177,997 180,231

Note: Kiat -

Trade payables as of 31 March 2012 included HK dollars equivalent
amounts of HK$114 million and HK$10 million payable to two suppliers
for African timber and logs, and North American logs, respectively. The
logs were purchased and sold to PRC customers during the financial
year ended 31 March 2011. Please refer to Note 8(j) for details of the
purchases and the related sales.

In addition, trade payables also included equivalent R$10 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$45 million at 31 March 2012 and
HK$50 million at 31 March 2011). This sum represented service fees
payable to a subcontractor for a tree felling service project in Rondonia,
Brazil. UTRB had disputes with the subcontractor and it abandoned the
site. No further work was subcontracted to them after the year ended
31 March 2011 as UTRB was not assigned any area for clearing by the
hydropower plant of this project in the financial year ended 31 March
2012, and no amount was paid by UTRB either. UTRB is not aware of
any claims or lawsuits filed by the subcontractor at the relevant courts.
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ReaB—we = Aecht B e 2
SRIEBIE DRI B IEN AT &
FRAAE B DA R 3k = R R e i 2 B
- FRIE 4948 2 7 4 114,000,000 7T
K 5% 10,000,000 HE=-F——
FZA=+—HUMREERMEEZ
BABE FHEZF - 58 RiEH
B2 BRI ES() .

b Ah - BT B 5 FRIE 75 B 4E AR
#10,000,000% 3= B( 4 H =
- et e B = v
45,000,000 kR =T~ — &= A
=-+— Bz %50,000,0007) ° B
BeBEERMNREBEBZREDMNZ
KARBIBEE BN D BEZRIFE -
UTRBEE S BB £ F & HERE
25 - ARUTRBRBE T ——
FZA=1T—ALMBFEERKZE
B2 KOhBERESBETMESZ
EEIE WREETE——F=8
=t HIESEEBERRSE—F
S ETHE MUTRB IR & S H{E
FIE - UTRBIE N AR B 9D B B R 48
B AT iR 2 R R R ©
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29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

20. ENEZREREMENTIE

(#8)
(b) - Cash consideration payable for acquisition of (b) WEEYEEZEAFBRESKRE
biological assets
2012 2011
—EB——F ZE——%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
At beginning of the year REW - 26,598
Less: Settlement o EE = (29,071)
Exchange movement FEE 34, A — 2,473
At end of the year IS - =
(c) Amounts due to related companies (c) ENBEEATRE

The amounts were unsecured, interest free and had no fixed
terms of repayment.

30. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

BRAFERERR . 2B RERETE

30. EXRREE

The Group The Company
iy -1 | N
2012 2011 2012 2011
ot et 3 —F——F —§--F 3
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Hiet BETT BETT BETT BETT
Bank loans, secured ERBZBTER (@ 83 304 = =
Secured interest-bearing loan BEBZGEER (b} 7,206 = 7,206 =
Unsecured interest-bearing loan ERA7AEET (c), (2011: noted (a))
(ZE——F i3 0) 18,000 18,014 18,000 e
25,289 18,318 25,206 =
Carrying amount repayable: R THRERR 2 RAE -
On demand or within one year EERH—ER 25,289 18,230 25,206 i
More than one year but not BE-FETERMT
exceeding two years = = o =
More than two years but not BERFETEALTF
more than five years - 88 - =
25,289 18318 25,206 i
Less:  Amounts due within one year BoORBREETIA
shown under current liabilities A= B R (25,289) (18,230) (25,206) o
Non-current liabilties FnHaE 5 88 e &
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30. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

(@)

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had total banking facilities of
HK$83,000 (2011: HK$304,000) of which HK$83,000 (2011:
HK$304,000) had been utilised.

The bank loan of HK$83,000 (2011: HK$304,000) was secured
by the Group’s motor vehicles with a carrying amount of
HK$196,000 (2011: HK$533,000) (Note 19) and is bearing
interest at a fixed rate of 23.87% (2011: 21.27% to 23.87%) per
annum.

On 4 November 2011, the Company entered into a HK$12.8
million Term Loan agreement with an independent third party (the
“Lender”). The loan was guaranteed by Assure Gain International
Limited, a shareholder, and Mr. YIP Kam Kuen, an employee of
the Group. The loan carried monthly interest of one percent (four
percent per month in case of default) and had maturity falling two
months after the draw down of the loan. Based on subsequent
agreement, repayment were rescheduled into installments with
maturity extended. The entire loan plus accrued interests payable
were repaid in full on 15 June 2012.

On 19 December 2011, the Company and an independent
third party (“Investor”) entered into (1) the Equity Line Facility
Agreement (“ELF Agreement”) and (2) a Debt Facility Agreement
(“DFE Agreement”). Pursuant to the DF Agreement, the Lender
agrees to grant the Debt Facility to the Company, comprising
the Initial Loan in the principal amount of HK$30 million and the
Renewal Loan in an aggregate maximum amount of up to HK$80
million which may be re-borrowed up to a maximum of ten (10)
times to be granted by the Lender to the Company. The Initial
Loan was repayable in five installments with the last one falling on
the sixty-first trading day after the draw down of the Initial Loan.
There is no interest payable under the Initial Loan and Renewal
Loan. A draw down fee of 3.25% on the principal amount of the
Initial Loan and Renewal Loan is payable to the Lender upon
each drawn down. As of 31 March 2012, HK$18 million was
outstanding under the Initial Loan. The Initial Loan was repaid in
full on 6 June 2012.

30. ERREE®

@)

ARt R S e R S
EERITRE A5 83,000T(=
T EMER04 0007T) ¢ EH
G000 ZE— —F: B
304,00070) B EA °

RITE R BHEES3,000T(= T ——
& 1 B ¥304,0007T) JH A REE A
EEEI6,000T(ZE~ —F B
533,0007T) 2z A& B R E (MizE19)
TR« WIREE F AR 23.87E(=
T——&F 21 27TEZE23.87E )it L o

RZZE—=F+—ANAH ' AAF]HE
—ZBYE=H(EHFFINE—18
75 12,800,000 7T & #5 & FX 9 5% ©
5% 18 B 7} f Assure Gain International
Limited + —Z xR kAL EE SR
S AEREER - ZIBERIRE AT
1B RERATRLIE)
RIENEREMEAE BER - B
Higas  aERAHER
WERERH - 2 EEFEER KAt
MEER-E——F A +RBAEH
&t

AT ke e =l e R = A N
2By F=H (&L D)
N AN @ N = A D)
EEREGE ((EFERE]) - 1B
BESREHE  REERERAR
AFLEERE  EREEAEER
75 30,000,000 T Z ¥ & B R M 42
© R % A5 80,000,000 T 2 E #
B AIHEFRAARARESNGHE
Z+0)R - NI ERD AHEE -
B —HARDYLSERE T —E
RHHE T ERKREHERAT
B HEREBRRERDES XS
ERREFERARNEE 2 3.25% e
s e e e
2 B IE T A 75 118,000,000 7T
MAEE - YIFERER=E——F
NANBEEHER -
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30. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

@

On 27 July 2010, UTRB entered into a loan agreement with an
independent third party (the “Lender”) whereby UTRB borrowed
a loan of R$3,000,000 (the “Loan”) from the Lender for the
period from 27 July 2010 to 27 January 2011. On 28 March
2011, UTRB signed an extension agreement with the Lender
to extend the maturity date of the Loan from 27 January 2011
to 27 January 2012. The Loan is unsecured and bears interest
at 2.7% per month. The carrying amount of the Loan as at 31
March 2011 included the principal of R$3,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$14,220,000) and interest payable of
R$800,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,794,000).

On 27 June 2011, UTRB entered into an agreement with the
Lender whereby the Lender agreed to reduce the interest rate-of
the Loan from 2.7% to 0.5% per month, retroactively from the
date of commencement of the Loan.

On 7 April, 2011, the Lender became a related company to the
Group. The balance of the loan of HK$15,732,000 was offset
entirely on 14 February 2012. Please refer to Note 24 for further

details.

31. FINANCE LEASES PAYABLES

At 31 March 2012, the Group had finance leases payables as follows:

30. ERREE®

(d)

RZZE—F+A-++H UTRB
BBYE=ZF(EFDIILERR
& B UTRBE-Z—ZF+ A
o S et Ny o e e 8 | il
HHEIM M E 7 £ A 3,000,000 & 5
ZIER B ) e TR e
BAZ+N\B ' UTRBEE HFZTIER
WE ABERFHBEHE-T——
e S e S e T
—HA=++H - ERAEREERESH
BAER27EHE -NZT——F=
B=+—H X ERZEMEREAL
3,000,000 F 2@ (HHEER B
14,220,000 7t ) X J& 1 # £ 800,000
E IR E (WHEE A H3,794,0007T) °

ZE-——&#,xA=-++H " URB
BRI B BERRES
RZFARMEH27EHAEKRE0S
BB ERFASBHRRAER -

M R 5

=

i

18

A=T——EA+H  EAKAR
EEZBENR - ZBEERZEHB
B 582 ODD T s o e
At BEBEEE - BRAE — T
15 B2HEWE24 -

31. ENmMENRY
R-Z——F=A=1—0 ZEEZHE

R ERLWT
The Group KEE
2012 2011
== e ks
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
BREHSHRE BREHEHSEE SEH2BE SEHESES
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BET T BT BT
Within 1 year —FR 100 113 100 113
After 1 year but within 5 years —FREBERFA 250 281 350 394
350 394 450 507
Less: total future interest B BRI SR

expenses 2] (44) (57)
Present value of lease obligations  F #)&#EIH E 350 450
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32.

33.

CONSIDERATION PAYABLES 32. ERRE
The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—B-—=F =Tt
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
HtaE BET T BT
At beginning of the year F1] o —
Consideration for acquisition of WERB AR 2 E
subsidiaries 42 71,183 —
Waiver of consideration payable MRENRE (71,183) 5
At end of the year FIR o oy
Referring to Note 42, the Group acquired Zhongshan Operations on B 42T AEBER =2 ——
2 August 2011 for a total consideration of 769,230,769 shares of the FNAZBRBRILES BKER
Company. The total consideration was payable in three tranches with 769,230,769 B A A A1 Ik o MR EH =it
tranches 2 and 3 contingent upon meeting net profit guarantee by the S EHMEEZHRBIANREEFE
Vendor. As part of the acquisition, the Vendor guaranteed that Susfor- ERMATRER  HEEE - ERE—
Oasis must not incur any net losses for each of the three financial years o B IRFB KRN BT &
immediately after completion. For the year ended 31 March 2012 (first ZEAMBFEESFH TS ELEERFES -
year of operations after consolidation into the Group), Susfor-Oasis REE =S === BIEFE
had a net loss of approximately HK$18 million. As such, the net profit HAEEEHEEETTF)  KIRFTERMEL
guarantee was not met and tranches 2 and 3 under the acquisition BB 1T R 4% % 18,000,000 7T © E It -
were not payable. WHRRFBREEER - WMEBAS N IKESE =
RE=HKE -
SEASONALITY OF OPERATIONS 33. ¥ 2EHHER

The Group’s forest operations in Brazil is located in the Amazon and
is subject to weather conditions during the rainy season ranging
roughly from December to April each year. Forest logging activities in
the Amazon are substantially scaled down or stopped completely in
some areas. Log prices usually increase during the rainy season due
to diminished supplies. This affects many sawmill operators that have
to stock up logs and tie up significant working capital, but benefit
forest owners who can plan ahead to reserve stock pile prior to the
start of the rainy season. The Group incorporates this seasonality in its
forest management plan to avoid supply shortage as well as to take
advantage of seasonal price differentials in logs.
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34. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

140

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a)

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents:

34.

mEMBRR KR ZAER

(@) géﬁﬁﬁﬂk%%ZEﬂ%ﬁﬁlﬁﬁ

2012 2011
)~ e = TE - F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BETT
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax AEEFEBRBNEHEE
for theyear - 42,102
Balance of Profits Tax provision BT FEASTREEGR
relating to prior years 49,456 7,354
49,456 49,456
(b) Deferred tax liabilities recognised: (b) DRAEEHEEME:
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE MFRARER CBIETIBEE
consolidated statement of financial position and the movement &2 MR E D REFAEB T
during the year is as follows:
Classified as liabilities associated
Consolidated statement of financial position with assets held for sale (\ote 26)
FREBHRR FEREBELELERRHCAR(IIT2)
Chita forests operation
FERNER
Property, Property,
plant and plant and
equipment Biological Intangible equipment Intangible
VEN 1 assets ~Inventories assets Sub-total LER 1 assets Sub-total Total
K& ENEE (2t BYEE it e BIEE Nt @it
HKS'000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$:000
BETT BT BETR EETT BB BT BETT RETT ot Sw
At1 Apr 2010 66,528 242,659 = L 309,187 8141 29,906 38,047 347,234
Charged/(credited) to consolidated
income statement = 85,300 23,080 = 108,380 = (69) (695) 107,785
Exchange movement 10,087 26,687 = = 36,774 26 91 17 36,801
At 31 March 2011 76,615 354,646 23,080 - 454341 8,167 29,402 37,569 491,910
At1 Apri 2011 76,615 354,646 23,080 = 454,341 8,167 29,402 37,569 491,910
Acquisttion of subsidiaries = = - 11,899 11,89 — = - 11,899
Credited to consolidated income statement - (52,146) (23,080) (11,899) (87,125) = - - (87,129)
Exchange movement (7,717) (31,834) = a (39:551) (26) (90) (116) (39,667)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 43) - - - = - (8,141) (29,312) (37,453) (37,453)
At31 March 2012 RZZ-Z%=A=1-R 68,898 210,666 L o 339,564 = = = 339,564

At 31 March 2012, the Group has tax losses of HK$549,287,000 (2011:
HK$50,848,000) that are available for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised as it is not probable that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available for the
companies in which losses arose. The tax losses do not expire under
current tax legislation. The Group has tax losses of HK$16,410,000
(2011: Nil) available for offsetting against future profits that may be
carried forward for five years, for PRC enterprise income tax purpose.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other significant deferred tax
liabilities that is required to be provided for in the consolidated financial
statements for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011.

KEMELZRERAT —B—— “E—_FFRH
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35. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 35. BikERE
The Group and the Company AREERKADT
2012 2011
=F-=F o
HK$’°000 HK$’000
BET T BT
Issue of warrants BITRIBERE 8,730 =
Change in fair value NEEE (2,700) H
At end of the year RE 6,030 e

The warrants are measured at fair value at each end of the reporting
period. The valuation was carried out by GCA independently based on
Binomial Option Pricing Model.

R EBREREHRGEER 22 FER
EoHEREENER _BEAHEEER
BT ©

36. AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS 36. BREMKIE
The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—B—=F E R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
K BT T BETT
LOH Jiah Yee, Katherine (‘Ms. Loh”) MRELT([#4E)) (@) 16,738 10,004
Winner Global Holdings Limited Winner Global Holdings Limited
(“Winner Global”) ([Winner Global |) (b) 51,294 45:383
LIM Ping Wai M= (@) 7,930 —
New Premier Holdings Limited New Premier Holdings Limited
(“New Premier”) ([ New Premier]) (@) 56,385 60,442
Assure Gain International Limited Assure Gain International Limited
(“Assure Gain’) ([Assure Gain ) (e 17,624 15,748
Corporate Insights Limited ERREEEAR AT
(“Corporate Insights”) (TEm)) ) 645 o
Splendid Asset Holdings Limited Splendid Asset Holdings Limited
(“Splendid Asset”) (['Splendid Asset |) ] 60,258 —
210,874 131627
Notes: Bt

(a) The amount was unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable
on 31 December 2014. On 1 March 2012, an extension agreement was signed
and the maturity date was extended to 31 December 2014. As at 31 March
2012, Ms. Loh was also an executive director of the Company.

(b) The amount was unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable
on 31 December 2014. On 1 March 2012, an extension agreement was
signed and the maturity date was extended to 31 December 2014. Ms. Loh is
beneficially interested in 43.39% of the share capital of Winner Global.

() The amount was unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable
on 31 December 2014. On 1 March 2012, an extension agreement was signed
and the maturity date was extended to 31 December 2014. Ms. LIM Ping Wai
is benefically interested in 100% of the issued share capital of New Premier.

BRZAR/EER REFXEFERA
ResalE = B = B e ip ==
——FZA—H  BEEFERGH  m2H
B EpEE T CUEase iR Begies
E—CE=A=t—H ELZLNMAEKRF]
ZHITES -

BHEREAEIEE  BREFIRSEFERA

R=ZB-—NE+=-A=+—REE - R=-_F

——f=A—8 BEIICERWE " maH

HERS SR = A=l b
B 258 Winner Global 2 I 7< 43.39% °

ERREAEER BREMEKSEFBRA
RZF-—OF+-A=+—HEE -R=F%
—ZH®=A—B BEF:IERHE mIH
AEEE—ZT—NE+ZH=+—8 M%
Bz + & 25 B New Premier & 217 & AN

2 8% -
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36. AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS

37.

38.

142

H=H e SR RS

continued)

Notes: (continued)

@

The amount was unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable
on 31 December 2014. On 1 March 2012, an extension agreement was signed
and the maturity date was extended to 31 December 2014,

The amount was unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable
on 31 December 2014. On 31 December 2011, an extension agreement was
signed and the maturity date was extended to 31 December 2014. Ms. Loh is
beneficially interested in 100% of the issued share capital of Assure Gain.

The amount was unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable
on 31 December 2014.

The amount was unsecured, bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable
on 31 December 2014. On 1 March 2012, an extension agreement was
signed and the maturity date was extended to 31 December 2014. Ms. Loh is
beneficially interested in 100% of the issued capital of Splendid Asset.

36. BIRRE

I (45)

Kiet - (&)

(@)

BRAREAEIEF  EHEFRSEFERA
R-E—WFE+-A=+—HEE - R_Z
——F=A—H8 BEIEERZ M3 H
BEES =SNG =H=% = He

ERSRIERERR - ?ﬁiﬂ%S@%ﬁ%&ZE
RZZ—HEF+_A=+—HEE -R=Z
g g T e L EikaETﬁf’Jm'

MEPAEEE—_S—NME+tA=+—
E o BRE X+ E A Assure Gain2FE
BATRRAS ©

ERFAREER  HEFN KRB ERA
e e e SR Ry

FRARELAEER  RFEFNESEFERA
RZE-MOF+_A=+—HEE -R=F
——F=A—R ' BEEICERRE MEH
BEEE=T =& A=t 2
i = ﬁnf?ﬁﬁSplendKj Asset BB /TR AR &

AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY 37. Bt —XBEARNE
2012 2011
==-_F b T
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Mzt BET T BT
Value Creation Partners Company
Limited @) 2,048 —

g Bt -

(@) Value'Creation Partners Company Limited is a company controlled by Ms. Loh, (a) ~ Value Creation Partners Company Limited /3
an Executive Director of the Company. The amount was unsecured, bearing “REARBMTERELZ L EH 2 AR
interest at 5% per annum and repayable on 31 December 2014. On 1 July EAREREER RFEFNESEFERE
2011, an extension agreement was signed and the maturity date was extended AT el et B [ sy e R
to 31 December 2014. —— S+ A—B BEIJERRH  mMEH

AERE=ZF—ME+t=A=+1+—H"

PROMISSORY NOTES 38. A RE

The Group and the Company AEBRAQF

2012 2011
—g--% -T—&
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT

At beginning of the year REH] 6,388 24,617

Accrued effective interests RETEBRFE 129 847

Less: Repayment o EE - (19,076)

At end of the year R4 6,517 6,388

KRMEZRARDT =F
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38. PROMISSORY NOTES (continued) 38. ENEE @)

The Group and the Company (continued)

On 31 July. 2009, the Company issued promissory notes in an
aggregate principal amount of HK$232,000,000 as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Amplewell. The promissory notes
bear interest at 2% per annum. The interest shall be repaid together
with principal in one lump sum upon maturity on 31 January 2011. On
1 September 2010, the Company entered into a letter with the holder
of the promissory notes to extend the maturity date of the promissory
note to 31 July 2012. On 1 September 2011, further extension to 31
July 2013 was granted from the holder. The promissory notes may be
assigned or transferred (in integral multiple of HK$1,000,000) to any
third party (other than a connected person as defined in subject to the
Listing Rules) subject to the Listing Rules and the applicable laws. The
Company may repay all or part:of the principal amount and interest
at any time prior to the maturity date (i.e. 31-July 2012) by giving the
holder not less than seven days’ prior written notice. specifying the
amount and date of repayment provided that the amount shall be at
least HK$1,000,000. Otherwise, the payment of principal and interest
payment of promissory notes shall be made in full upon the maturity
date.

The fair value of the promissory notes at the date of issuance was
HK$191,911,000, which was determined by GCA. Valuations were
made on the basis of effective interest method which is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability
and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate used in the calculation of the
fair value is 15.74%.

The promissory notes are held by a substantial shareholder. On 23
September 2009, the Company made repayment of promissory
notes with carrying amount of HK$84,529,000 at par value for
HK$100,000,000. On 2 November 2009, the Company made
another repayment of promissory notes with carrying amount of
HK$90,188,000 at par value for HK$105,000,000. The excess of the
repayment amount over the carrying amount of HK$30,283,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2010 was accounted for as distribution to the
shareholder.

On 12 April 2010, the Company made another repayment of
promissory notes with carrying amount of HK$19,076,000 at par value
of HK$20,822,000. The excess of the repayment amount over the
carrying amount of HK$1,746,000 for the year ended 31 March 2011
was accounted for as distribution to the shareholder.

Given that the Company has the legal obligation to settle the full face
value of the promissory notes for the aforesaid acquisition, the directors
considered that it is transaction with shareholder in the capacity
as owner. The excess shall be accounted for as a deemed capital
distribution to the shareholder and charged to-the contributed surplus
account.

AEERADT(E)
R-ZETAELHA=+—H  ANRAAIZET
R4 48 %8 A7 B 232,000,000 7T 2 A& 2
B ERKEMRZBHINRE - ANEE
BEFE2EFHE - FIBERAER-Z
——F—A=+—H3H FEEXBE
B -R-E—FTFNA—H  KNAFEK
NEBEFE NI — DR - SERNER
e e R R o B S o
H-RZE——FNLA—H" BEFEEA
RTE—FIETEHEE S —=Ft A
=+—H EFELMRAUREREEZ
BT #AS =55 7] LAE ¥ 1,000,000 7T
ZEREGERIESEETENE=S 8
TR BIFTRE 2 B8 A TBRIN o RAF]
R R Rl e e s S s )
Z AT EEER BRI D AT LT
B ARABRABEAZETLREENS
SEMBM JBMEEZEBENENKA
HY - MR 2 AR BB 1,000,000
T BRI ANEEZAE RFEERE
HHE(E

ANEERBETEHZAFTEALSE
191,911,0007% @ JyAREETEER] © (&
IR BBRRERAEL  HEAMEVBEE
SIS B EBEK A KRR EEARE D B F
BIWARFERT 2% st BEQAFER
BEBHZEAE15.74E o

ENEER—RETEREFE - R _Z
ENENBZT =0 AATHIREERK
100,000,000 JT /8 38 BR T {E /8 ¥ 84,529,000
TZAENEE -R_ZETNhF+—A_H
ARA B BITIEEES 105,000,000 TEE
BR TH {E 7% #5 90,188,000 7T Z &t 2 1% - &
FEoT-TE=A=+—HILEE EE
SRR T R E 2 £ 58 % 30,283,000 7T
ABRFIER R 5K ©

RZZE—ZEFWNA+=-H AREIBTTE
T B /5 # 20,822,000 7t & & R m (B 78 ¥
19,076,000 T2 AN EIR - HE T ——
F=A=+t—HIFE EELERLE
E{E 2z 2588 1,746,000 T ABR S IR
DK °

ENARBAEFEER Ll 22U BE
NANZECEE EZRB/UTIAES
ABMEFRETZRS - BESEEA
RIMERIERREA DK - AN EHRBH
ARHIRR ©
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39. SHARE CAPITAL
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39. IgRA

Number of
convertible
Number of preferred
ordinary shares of
shares HK$0.01
of HK$0.0533 per share
per share SREE
BREE 7##%0.01 T
7% 0.0533 1T AL Total
ZERYA BERHA #st
Note ‘000 HK$'000 '000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HiaF TR BT iR BT BT
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011 REZ—B4NH-H -
and 31 March 2012 e S e S
k- Fer b B e | 8,437,500 450,000 27,534,000 275,340 725,340
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR
At 1 April 2010 R-E—ZFmA—H 2,326,454 124,078 19,877,708 198,777 322,855
Placing of new shares (k=711 (a) 412,000 21,973 - — 21,973
Convertible preferred shares issued for HEEENABETEE
settlement of consideration payables BERH ) - - 1,402,000 14,020 14,020
Conversion of convertible preferred shares HARRRELR © irrekral) 94,491 (9,449,130) (94,491) =
Shares issue upon exercise of share options - 1T{E B R iER 21T IR (@ 8,908 476 - - 476
At 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 SHE SRR
A=A 4,519,074 241,018 11,830,578 118,306 359,324
Conversion of convertible preferred shares AR E TR © 1,714,447 91,437 (9,143,717) (91,437 =
Shares issue upon exercise of share options - 17 88 i iE 8 B TAD @ 190 10 - - 10
Consideration shares issued for HREHE AR RN ERS
the acquisition of subsidiaries (e 380,000 20,267, — - 20,267
Issuance of shares pursuant to BERARERITRE
the equity line facility Ui 88,653 4,727 o i 4,727
At 31 March 2012 ST Here s 6,702,364 357450 2,686,861 26,869 334,328
Notes: Kt -
(a) On 26 May 2010, the Company entered into a subscription agreement (@) T e R e e S L A G U

KRMEZRAMRDT

with NWS Financial Management Services Limited (the “Subscriber”), a
subsidiary of NWS Holdings' Limited who is an independent third party to
the Group, pursuant to which the Company has agreed to allot and issue
to the Subscriber, the subscription shares of 412,000,000 at HK$0.50 per
subscription share (the net price per subscription share amounted to HK$0.46).
The aggregate nominal amount of the subscription share amounted to
HK$21,978,000. The Company completed the subscription” of 412,000,000
shares on 2 June 2010. The net proceeds raised from the subscription were
approximately HK$190.6 million. The said subscription shares rank pari passu
in all respects with the issued ordinary share of the Company, including the
right to receive all dividends and distributions. The closing price per share of the
Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 26 May 2010 (being the date
on which the terms of the subscription agreement were fixed) was HK$0.53.
The directors of the Company believed that the said subscription provided not
only capital to assist the Group in achieving its corporate objectives and goals,
but also allowed the Group to gain a strategic partnership with the Subscriber.
The net proceeds from the subscription were used for business development
and as general working capital.

—E—— /2 _FFRH

AEBZBLIBE= A EEEBRA A
B8 N M B 2 FINWS Financial Management
Services Limited ([ 28 A 1) 5T 23355 i
Bt - AR BRI ERSRRERD S 0.50
TC A1 3R 88 A B % K 317 412,000,000 1% 32 &
D (ERABERG 2 BIRFEARBK0.46
7o) o R (D 2 E{ELFEE 21,973,000
Lo ARBERZZE=TFNAZAZEKR
f%412,000,000 R i 1 = RBHEFIH Z AT IS0
TE 58 49 /5785 ¥ 190,600,000 7T © F 3t ;R BE
RONRETEERRAFEETEBREAR
Finfy - BEREIERERD IR ZEF
RZEBE-ZFAA-+ B (AEERER
HIERE B) AR A IR FEE 2R BT AT iR 2 UK
MEASRBE053TT - ARRIESREE
LEMRBTNMEAREEBENRE S AR BEK
HAPEER MoASBEFARRE AR
REEBHRAR - REBMERBZERANEL
BERRER—MBEEES -
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39. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

On 31 January 2011, the Company allotted and issued 1,402,000,000 second
tranche-of the Convertible Preferred Shares to Winner Global for the settlement
of part of the consideration payable under the Acquisition Agreement.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, an aggregate of 1,714,446,877 (2011:
1,771,711,912) new ordinary shares of HK$0.0533 each were issued upon
the conversion of 9,143,716,696 (2011: 9,449,130,212) Convertible Preferred
Shares of HK$0.01 each.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, 190,000 (2011: 8,907,500)
options were exercised to subscribe for 190,000 (2011: 8,907,500) new
ordinary shares of the Company at a consideration of HK$71,000 (2011:
HK$3,341,000) of which approximately HK$10,000 (2011: HK$476,000) was
credited to share capital and the balance of HK$84,000 (2011: HK$4,402,000)
was credited to share premium account. HK$23,000 (2011: HK$1,537,000)
has been transferred from share option reserve to the share premium account
in accordance with policy set out in Note 3(p)(iii)).

On 2 August 2011, the Group completed the acquisition of 100% of Originate
Tech Group at a total consideration of 769,230,769 shares of the Company.
The total consideration was divided into 3 tranches with the first tranche of
100,000,000 shares and second tranche of 280,000,000 shares issued at
completion. The second tranche of 280,000,000 shares were held by the
Company-in escrow on behalf of the vendor and would have been released
upon meeting of net profit guarantee by the vendor in three years after
completion. The details of the acquisition and net profit guarantee are outlined
in Note 42. As a result of failure to meet the net profit guarantee, the Company
is currently holding the second tranche shares awaiting disposal by the
Company. Proceeds from the disposal of these shares shall be returned to the
Company in accordance with the terms of the acquisition agreement.

On 19 December 2011, the Company and an independent third party
(“Investor”) entered into (1) the equity line facility agreement (“ELF Agreement”)
and (2) the debt facility agreement (“DF Agreement”). Under the ELF
Agreement, the Company may require the Investor to subscribe up to
HK$350million, subject to a floor price of HK$0.149 per share (“Floor Price”),
worth of the Company’s shares during a maximum of 3-year period after the
commencement date of the ELF Agreement. Pursuant to the DF Agreement,
the Investor agreed to grant an initial loan of HK$30 million (“Initial Loan”)
and additional term loan of up to HK$80 million (“Renewal Loan”). On 21
December 2011 and 19 January 2011, the Company and the Investor entered
into supplemental ELF Agreements reducing the maximum commitment
amount from HK$350 million to finally HK$115 million. The Company issued
19,351,556 shares to the Investor as commitment fees for the facilities. As
of 31 March 2012, 88,653,637 shares were issued to and subscribed by the
Investor under the ELF Agreement.

39. BRA& )

Hret - ()

(®)

e o o el o = L s SN
Winner Global g # % 2 1T 1,402,000,000 i
FE AR EERAEZKRBHBERATZ
FETALAE o

S s SR = et o e = = o~ Z
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B 2517 2 55 — #£ 100,000,000 & B 10 &2 58 —
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“HBRDUFHE - HERZRMD ZFAEK
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(TRAREWH]) X QB E s ([E
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ERBEENRARE H#FR B BHERS
= FHRRE B ERZ /7B % 350,000,000
TR0 (BRERBZREASTRRM A
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40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company terminated the share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 9 September 2002 (“Old Scheme”) and adopted a
new. share option scheme (“New Scheme”) pursuant to an ordinary
resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at the special
general meeting held on 27 November 2009. There was no share
option granted under the Old Scheme. The principal terms of the New
Scheme are as follows:

146

(@

(b)

(c)

KRMEZBRER AR

Purpose

The purpose of the New Scheme is to provide incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operation and to recruit and retain high caliber
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group, and any. entity which any member of the Group holds any
equity interest (“Invested Entity”).

Eligible participants

Eligible participants of the New Scheme include the Company’s
directors and other employees of the Group or Invested Entity,
any customers, supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any: Invested Entity who, in the sole discretion of
the Board have contributed or. will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group or any Invested Entity.

Maximum number of shares

The total number of shares (i.e. 670,236,433 ordinary shares)
which may be issued upon exercise of all options granted and
to be granted under the New Scheme represented 10% of the
total number of issued ordinary shares of the Company as at
the date of passing the ordinary resolution on 11 April 2012
(being the date on which the mandate limit of the New Scheme
was refreshed) and represented approximately 9.5% of the total
number of issued ordinary shares of the Company as at the date
of this report.

—E—— /2 _FFRH
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40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(d)

()

(f)

(9)

(h)

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant
The maximum number of shares issuable under the New Scheme
to each eligible participant within any 12-month period, is limited
to 1% of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company in
issue at any time.

Any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any
of their respective associates, which would result in the ordinary
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in excess of 0.1%
of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any time and
with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000 within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

Option period

An option shall be exercised within 10 years from the date of
grant or such shorter period as the directors may specify at the
time of grant.

Acceptance of offer

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Exercise price

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of offer of the share options;
and (i) the average closing prices of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The validity of the New Scheme

The New Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on 27
November 2019 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with
the terms of the New Scheme.

No share option was granted during the year ended-31 March 2012.
In assessing the theoretical aggregate value of the share options
granted and fully accepted during the year ended 31 March 2011, the
result of Binominal Option Pricing Model performed by GCA was used.
In total, approximately HK$Nil (2011:"HK$23,319,000) and HKS$Nil
(2011: HK$7,835,000) was recognised as share-based payment for
employees and consultants, respectively for the year ended 31 March

2012.
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40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

40. BEREESHE(2)

(@) - Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their @  EARTTERARESE & AR nEFE
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: BT EE ST
Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding
at 31 March
2011 and
Outstanding 1 April 2011 Outstanding ~ Exercisable
at1 April R=%--% at31 March-  at31 March
Exercise 2010 ZR=t-H 2012 2012
Date of Exercise price RZZ-%E R=E--% R=F--F R-%--%
Grant period per share WA-H  Granted  Exercised Lapsed mA-A Granted  Exercised lapsed =A=t-RH =A=1-R
RLes 2] BRITRE AR E&i B BY3 AR 2R GG d BAX BATE At
13 January 2010 13 January 201110 HK$0.940 13,247,988 = - (402439) - 922359 - = (1,313,908 ~ 1,909,686 1,909,686
3-%% 12 January 2020 0T
S B=h ZZ-—f£-ft=R%
“ER4-A1CH
13 January 2010 13 January 2012 to HK$0.940 13,247,988 - —(40243%) 922359 - = (7313904 - 1,909,688 1,909,688
I3-%F 12 January 2020 ER0U0T
=Rit=H "B CE=R1ZHE
ki S
13 January 2010 13 January 2013 to HK$0.940 13,247,990 = = (4024399 9223591 = = (7313900 1909691 -
Z5-%% 12 January 2020 AE09407
T o e
TRIRE-AtH
13 January 2010 15 July 201010 HK$0.940 5,105,428 =5 = = 5105428 = = 3 5,105,428 5105428
ZE-TE 12 Jantary 2020 AH09407T
i ZE-RELATHAZ
2 RE-RiH
13 January 2010 15July 2011 to HK$0.940 5105427 - - - 5,105,427 - - - 5,105,427 5,105,427
Z3-%F 12 January 2020 00T
—Hr=h 2 iR il
—E-FF-A1ZA
7May 2010 15.July 2010 to HK$0.710 - 5105427 = B 5,105,427 = = o 5,105,421 5,105,427
=2-2E 6 May 2020 EH0TI0T
EAtA IZ-REATRAR
ZZITFRANA
7May 2010 7 November 2010.to HK$0.710 — 2,000,000 = = 2,000,000 z — (2,000,000 = k.
~E-TF 6 May 2020 ER07107
TAtA “3-TET-AtRZ
Z22ERA5A
7May 2010 13 January 2011 to HK$0.710 - 9381644 - (5700232 - 3,681,412 < — (2515141} 1,166,271 1,166,271
5-%f 6 May 2020 BEOTI0T
TAtA “E—-%-f1zH%
ZEZEERARA
7 May.2010 7May 2011 o HKS0.710 — - 4100677 — (1290266 . 2872411 = — . [o0M6753 825658 - 825668
T 6 May 2020 BE0TI0T
TALA ZZ—-FRAtAZ
“ECRERARA
7May 2010 15July 2011 1o HK$0.710 — 5105428 = = 5105428 - - = 5105428 5105428
3 6 May 2020 AE0TI0T
TA+A ZT-—£tAtRAZ
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e R M EE

For the yearended 31 March 2012 B E =2 —_—F=A=+—HILFE

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

40. BBRRAESTE (&)

(@  Movements in the number of share options outstanding and @ HARTTEIEARESE REEEMmET
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: BHiTEE 28T - (8)
(continued)

Number of share options
BRE%E
OQutstanding
at 31 March
2011 and
Outstanding 1 April 2011 Outstanding  Exercisable
at1 April RZ2--% at31 March ~at31 March
Exercise 2010 ZA=1-H 2012 2012
Date of Exercise price W-Z-Z§ R=%--% RZB-2F RZ%--F
Grant period per share mA-A Granted  Exercised Lapsed  BA-A Granted  Exercised Lapsed =A=t-H Z=A=t-H
REAH (i | SRITEE HALTHE BRE Bt BAN  HAfE B BT BN HATE e
7May 2010 13 January 2012 to HK$0.710 - 9,381,646 - (7402042 1,979,604 - - (813333 1,166,271 1,166,271
—2-%% 6 May 2020 AE07107
TALA z
7 May 2010 7 May 201210 HK$0.710 — 4162678 - (1,290,266) 2872412 & - (2046,753) 825,669 3
-2-T% 6May 2020 EEOTIOR
LALH ZZ-_ERRTAZ
ZZITERARB
7May 2010 13 January 2013 to HK$0.710 — 1.9,381,654 = (1402043 . 1979611 = - (813,335 1,166,276 -
Z3-%% 6 May 2020 AEOTI0T
TAtH ZE-SE-R{ERZ
CECEERANA
TMay 2010 7May 201310 HK$0.710 = 4162,680 - (1290260) - 2872414 - — (2,046,755 825,659 -
—5-%% AEOTI0T
Gil:ids
14 September 2010 - - 14 September 20100 HK$0.375 — 79,850,000 * (8,907,500) (600,000)- * 69,842,500 B (190,000) - (6,100,000) - -~ 63,652,500 63,552,500
“3-%3F 27 November 2019 EE0I5T
hA+EA ZZ-ZENATRAZ
ZE-NE1-R
i
18 February 2011 30 June 2011 to HK$0.42 — 1,701,809 - - 1,701,809 - — (1,701,809 = -
3% 17 February 2021 AR
ZEWAL:! “E-—EnA=THE
50 S SRl
18 February 2011 31July 2011 to HK$0.42 = 213529 - = 213529 - = (273,529) = X
. 17 February 2021 04T
ZRTAB SR —FrA=t-HR
ZE--F-A+tA
18 February 2011 6 September 2011 to HK$042 = 333,333 - (333,333) - - - - - -
—Erf 17 Feoruary 2021 #8047
ZATA “R—FNANEE
“F--EfttA
18 February 2011 5 December 2011 to HK$0.42 - 266,666 = - 266,666 = + 266,666) = T
% 17 February 2021 ER04TT
ZATAR B o
e Sy el
18 February 2014 16 December 2011 to HK$0.42 — 143338 - - 1,433,333 - = - 1,433,333 1,433,333
BT 17 February 2021 BR042m
ZAtNR S s = )
22 -FAT4H
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e R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2012 HiE - ——F=A=+—RHILFE

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

40. BEREESHE(2)

(@ Movements in the number of share options outstanding and @  EARTTERARESE & AR nEFE
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: EITEEZEBIT - (&)
(continued)

Number of share options
BREHE
Qutstanding
at 31 March
2011 and
Outstanding 1 April 2011 Outstanding  Exercisable
at 1 April R=--% at31 March  at31 March
Exercise 2010 =f=5=H 2012 2012
Date of Exercise price W-E-%F k=5--% R-8-ZF R-8-ZF
Grant period per share mA-A Granted  Exercised Lapsed  BA-H Granted Exercised Lapsed =A=t-B =A=t-H
b=l 4] BROEE HATE Bk B BAY  HAGE Bk BT BAY - HAGE Bt d
18 February 2011 2 January 2012 to HK$0.42 - 333,333 - - 333,333 = - (333,333 - -
2% 17 February 2021 BB
ZATAR TE-CECHCRR
bt S - ol
18 February 2011 9 January 2012 to HK$0.42 3 433,333 + = 433,333 ar o5 (433,333) i =
2 -F 17 February 2021 BE0LT
ZATAR “5-Z5-AARE
i s e
18 February 2011 30 June 2012t HKS$0.42 = 1,701,809 = = 1,701,809 = = (1701,809) = =
=5 17 February 2021 5047
ZATNR “3-ZENA=tHE
o S el
18 February 2011 31 July 201240 HKS$0.42 - 213,529 - - 213,529 - - (273,529) - -
3% 17 February 2021 B0
ZAtAE SR-TErAEt-A%
kSl el
18 February 2011 6 September 2012t HKS$0.42 = 333,333 = (333,333) = = = = = =
3 17 February 2021 B8042T
ZATIR IZ-FfRREE
i el il
18 February 2011 5 December 2012 fo HK$0.42 - 266,667 = = 266,667 - = 266,667) o e
= 17 February 2021 L\
ZATNB ZE-CET-ARAZ
ZE--£-RAHEA
18 February 2011 16 December 2012 to HK$0.42 = 1,433,333 - - 1,433,333 - - - 1,433,333 -
e 17 February 2021 047
ZRtNB e 5l Y
e ondih Bl
18 February 2011 2 January 2013 to HKS0.42 - 333333 = = 333333 = ~ (333,333) = =
3 17 February 2021 BR0427
ZRTIA SERs oA HE
b S e |
18 February 2011 9 January 2013 to HK$0.42 = 433333 = - 433,333 - - 433,333) - -
3% 17 February 2021 B4
ZA+NB “F-ZE-ANEE
it S Sl
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e R M EE

For the yearended 31 March 2012 B E =2 —_—F=A=+—HILFE

Y
40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 40. BB RESHE (a)

(@  Movements in the number of share options outstanding and @ HARTTEIEARESE REEEMmET
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: BHiTEE 28T - (8)
(continued)

Number of share options
BREHE
OQutstanding
at 31 March
2011 and
Outstanding 1 April 2011 Outstanding  Exercisable
at1 April R=8--% at31 March  at 31 March
Exercise 2010 ZH=t=H 2012 2012
Date of Exercise price R-E-E& R=%--% R=8-ZF R-%-zF
Grant period per share mA-A Granted  Exercised Llapsed  BA-H Granted  Exercised Lapsed =A=t-A =B=1-A
RLAH i | BROKE  HATE BRH Bt AR HAfE B Bty BRM MR ks
18 February 2011 30 June 2013 to HK$0.42 - 1,701,810 - - 1,701,810 - = [1,701810) - -
3—F 17 February 2021 AR
ZRtNA
18 February 2011 31 July 2013 to HK$0.42 = 213,530 - 3 213,530 - & (273,530) = =
s 17 February 2021 AR
ZA+AR i S8 o o et = )
i Sy K ol
18 February 2011 6 September 2013 to HK$0.42 = 333,334 - (333,334) - - - - - -
et 17 February 2021 BR04TT
ZATNA ZE-ZERANAE
i S Sy ol
18 February 2011 5 December 2013 to HK$0.42 - 266,667 = - 266,667 - - (266,667) - -
e 17 February 2021 AR
ZRtAR Z2-SE4-RRER
o S Sl el
18 February 2011 16 December 2013 to HK$0.42 = 1,433,334 = = 1,433,334 - = = 1,433,334 =
3 17 February 2021 BR042T
ZA+AR S el |
EXR--EZATHA
18 February 2011 2 January 2014 to HK$0.42 = 333,334 = - 333,334 = - (333,334) = -
EE 17 February 2021 BT
ZATAR “ZT-M5-AZRZ
SEC
18 February 2011 9 January 2014 to HK$0.42 = 433,334 - = 433,334 - - (433,334) - -
b L 17 February 2021 04T
ZRTAR “E-PME-ANBE
EES oA
49954821 146,519,850 . (8,907,500) (38,048,306) 149,618,865 = (190,000 (49,349,796) 99,979,069 92,385,117
Weighted average exercise price:  JNETII7((E « HKS0.940  HKS0.500 - HKS0B75 - HKS0.770- HK$0496 —  HK$0375 - HKSO7H8 - HK$0521 - HK$0510
BH0907  EB0S0T ER0IET AKOTOT %046 - BEOYST AROTBT AR0SNT  BE05107
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e R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2012 & —ZE——

H=H e SR RS

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b) - The vesting period for the share options is as below.

40. BEREESHE(2)

b) BREZEBHET -

No. of share
Date of grant options granted Vesting conditions
B A ERHERERE FERY
No. of shares
options vested Vesting date
EEEEREHA HEAH
13 January 2010 10,210,855 5,105,428 15 July 2010 =2 —FF+ A+ HH
ZZE-EdT AT =H 5,105,427 15 July 2011 =2—=F+ AT HH
45,040,069 18,398,633 13 January 2011 —F=—%&—H+4=H
13,320,716 18 Jamignr oD e B e B =
13,320,720 IS laRkB R0 8 s = e et
7 May 2010 10,210,855 5,105,427 15July 2010 =2 —Z &L A +HH
—E-ZFHA+tH 5,105,428 15 July 2011 _;f~¢tﬂ+ﬁa
14,488,035 2,000,000 7 November 2010 ZZ—ZF+—FtH
4,162,677 7May 2011 Z2——F R A +H
4,162,678 7May2012 —E——_F R A+tH
4,162,680 7May 2013 =E+=FH A+H
28,144,944 9,381,644 18 Jantaly 201 i =E e —=H =
9,381,646 13 January 2012 —E——F—H+=H
9,381,654 18:Janliah201 3sH s == - A= =
14 September 2010 79,350,000 79,350,000 14 September 2010 —ZE—TF A +MH
“E-ZTFNATIA
18 February 2011 5,105,428 1,701,809 80June 2011 —E——%NA=+H
b o S T 1,701,809 30 June 2012 ZFE——&FNA=1+H
1,701,810 30 June 2018 —F— =%/, A=+H
820,588 273,529 31 July 2011 —f——itﬂ =
273,529 31T dlly 2012 =T A== Hr e
273,530 31 July 2013 = f——itHEwL—El
1,000,000 333,333 6 September 2011 = ——%F L B75H
833333 6 September 2012 —Z— —F N B/ H
333,334 6 September 2013 —E—=F A A/~H
800,000 266,666 5 December 2011 —=Z——%+=-AAH
266,667 5 December 2012 —ZE——-%€+=-HAH
266,667 5 December 2013 =E—=F+ - AAH
4,300,000 1,433,333 16 December 2011 ZF——&+ = A +/5H
1,433,333 16 December 2012 —FE— =&+ A +/<H
1,433,334 16 December 2013 _3—:¢+Zﬁ +7XH
1,000,000 333,333 2 January 2012 =% fi i
333,333 2 Januay-20i3 == A = 8
333,334 2 January 2014 :2 mE-A=H
1,300,000 433,333 9 January 2012 —E——F—FA .5
433,333 9 January 2013 = 2— R H
433,334 9January 2014 —ZE—NF—ANH
Total share option granted 201,770,774
ERLERELY
Less: Lapsed (92,694,205)
/ﬁk 5 %)&
Exercised (9,097,500)
Bt
Outstanding at 99,979,069
31 March 2012
e et S S o o
MARTTE
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e R M EE

For the yearended 31 March 2012 B E =2 —_—F=A=+—HILFE

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

40. BBRRAESTE (&)

(continued) (o). (&)
The option outstanding as at 31 March 2012 have a weighted REE = = e Em R T e
average remaining contractual life of 7.81 years (2011: 9.25 BIREZ NETHS®R TELHFHA
years). 781F(ZFE——%F :9.25%F) ¢
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for FREITEERENTTE B E 2 i
share options exercised during the year was HK$0.375 (2011: THREAB K037 T (ZE——
HK$0.428). F : BH0.4287T) o
No other share options granted under the New Scheme were S e g e e )
cancelled during the year ended 31 March 2012 and 2011. The =+t—HLEFE  SEEMBEN
Group had no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or B E 2 B c AE B E
settle the options in cash. ERENEERAANRESERE RN
HEARE o
The fair value of services received in return for share options €  ARHBIEREZ RIEAFEIZR
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share ZERLBEREZ ATEAE - BE&
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share B 2 at A FEER B A
options granted is measured based on binomial option pricing EEERAGE - BIREZELFHE
model. The contractual life of the share option is used as an input B AZERN 28 - MTERRET
into this model. Expectations of early exercise are incorporated FERstAZEXNHEEEBEN 2H -
into the binomial option pricing.
Date of grant
REBH
18/2/2011 14/9/2010 7/5/2010 13/1/2010
—®—F ZF-%F "¥-FF  —¥T-%F
—A+AR AB+mA  EAtH -—A+=A
Fair value of share options and R RE 2 A A
assumptions MR
Share price R (& HK$0.415 HK$0.375 HK$0.65 HK$0.94
BE0.41570 B 0.37570 A 0657L BrE0947T
Exercise price 1T{E(E HK$0.42 HK$0.375 HK$0.71 HK$0.94
BE0.42 T BE0.3757 A 0.71 BE0.94T
Expected volatility (expressed as ~ FBEAE 18 (1R 1%
weighted average volatility “IEAHEEE
used in the modeling under AR RS AT
binomial option pricing) INHE kg ) 55.67% 70.650% 70.53% 70.572%
Option life (expressed as BB MR A
weighted average life used (IR¥E =B e
in the modeling under TE B R TR FE B
binomial option pricing model) FiT{se B pnAE 35
EHY) 10years®  10years®F  10years®  10years®
Expected dividends TEERRR B HKS$NIl HKS$Nil HKS$NIl HKS$NIl
BT T BEZIT BEZT BT T
Risk-free interest rate (based on % & K| 2 (LA + 4
10-year Hong Kong Exchange HIEBINEES
Fund Notes) EBRAE) 2.868% 2.017% 2.670% 2.799%
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e R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #;

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(©

(continued)

e ]

ZHEZA=t-HIFE

The expected volatility is based on annualized standard
deviations of the continuously compounded rates of return on the
share prices of five comparable companies in Hong Kong and
Brazil Exchange with similar business operations. No. dividends
are expected as the Company had no history of payment of

dividends.

Share options were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date fair
value measurement of the services received. There were no

market conditions associated with the share option grants.

41. RESERVES

@

154 KRMEZRBRAD A

40. BEREESHE(2)

()

i
o

TEEPRIEDARBERE AR SR S
It ERBEEZEZ AR ELR
RAZBEEEHRFREEA LR FE
REZREE - AR ARRIBEIL &
RN IS RRER - RFAEI T & R fE

HCEe

R TIRIBIRF R M Rt o %
M AT APREBURFBS IR H B2
DR o 5 R B 3 R Y 7 T 45 16

i o

A, #E

The Group (@ A~&£H
Ceptdl ~ -Exchange Share Non-
Distributable -~ redemption - fluctuation option controling
Share - Contributed fesene resene fesene fesene Refalned Interests
premium suplus AR RAEES ERRY Bfe profits ~ Sub-total 3 Total
hiteE - B8RS B B 1 B REEH M RRER &5t
Notes HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
Wit AT AETL.  #%Tr oAETn -RETm o BETm o AETm . A%Inm o RETr o BETo
At 1 Aprl 2010 2,009,852 54710 2216 8,000 667 2,005 106,203 2,183,713 62" 2,183,775
Change:in equity for 2011
Proft for the year - = - = = - 341,486 341,486 7 341,493
Exchange differences on translation BEENEAR
of financiel statements of overseas BRE
subsidiaries ZERES i 2 - - 86,007 - - 86,007 1 86,014
Total other comprehensive income i i - - - - 86,007 - - 86,007 7 86,014
Total comprehensive Income for TEERANGEE
the year = - - - 86,007 - 341,486 427,493 14 427,507
Transactions ith owners HEBAIRS
Placement of new shares REEHRIA 184,027 - - - - = - 184,007 - 184,007
Shares issue expenses (15,450) - - = - - - (16,450) - (16,450)
Issuance of convertiole preferred shares BT AREER 107934 (48,021) - - = - - 79913 - 79913
Deemed capital distriboution arising from FiES
setflement of promissory notes 38 - (1,746) - = - - - (1,746) - (1,746)
Deemed capital contrbution arising from TERRAS AR
waiver of ialities by a substantial FELEETE
shareolder i] - 5,000 - - - - - 5,000 = 5,000
Equity-settled share-based payment IR E 2B . - - - - 31,154 - 31,154 - 31,154
Forfeiure of shere options Rk = - - - - 2311 231 - = =
Shares issue upon exercise of share options 17 EEEFE 4,402 - - - = (1,587) 5 2865 - 2,866
Totaltransactions with owners BREAES 300913 (44,767) - - - 27,306 231 285,763 - 285,763
At 31 March 2011 2,310,765 10,003 2216 8,000 86,674 29311 450,000 2,896,969 76 2,897,045
Note: - () ~ On 31 March 2011, Winner Global and a subsidiary of the el ke P s S s =

Company signed an agreement (the “Waiver Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Waiver Agreement, Winner Global agreed
to waive the consideration payable of HK$5,000,000
unconditionally. The directors considered that the waiver of
the liability was a transaction with the owners and shall be
accounted for as a deemed capital contribution from the

shareholder and credited to contributed surplus account.

—E—— /2 _FFRH

Winner Global £278 A & — 5
B AFIN — 17 s ([ 3%
&) o IRBEHR LI - Winner
Global [F & £ & 14 # % FE X
{8 7 %5 5,000,000 70 ° = F R
B ReBBEBN —HEES
AZRS  BUKARE 2R
EFERAARR « Wrt ABEH
BEREE ©
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e R M EE

@

For the yearended 31 March 2012 B E =2 —_—F=A=+—HILFE
41. RESERVES (continued) 4. #HEE
The Group (continued) (@ ZA£8#H)
Shares
held by
Company.
for
settlement
of acquisition Distri- Capital Exchange Share Non-
consideration butable  redemption fluctuation option controlling
Share ~ ADEREH  Contributed reserve reserve reserve reserve Retained interests Total
premium hBRE surplus THAK RA®E EiRD BRE profits Sub-total  FERKER equity
RiEE RS RéRH & L i B REER it i fLE
Notes HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
Hz RRTR ARTR ERTR AMTR AYTR TR AT EMTR AR 8T RETR
At 1 Apri 2011 2,310,765 - 10,008 2216 8,000 86,674 29311 450,000 2,896,969 76 2,897,045
Change in equity for 2012
Loss for the year - - - - - - - (2,327,909) (2,327,909) @ (2,327,912
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHEAA - - - - - 6377) - - (6:377) 1 6,364)
Bxchange differences on BEENNELR
tranlaton of fnancial statements HHREL
of overseas subsidiaries EHEE = & = 3 s (68,659) - - (68,659) - (68,659)
Total other comprehensive loss H2EHRGE - - - - - (75,036) - - (75,036) 13 (75,023)
Total compreensive loss TEFREREER
forthe year x : 5 s, - (75,086) Sy (240204) 0 (40293
Transactons with owners SEENETLRS
Consideration sheres fssue for WRENEAR
acquisiton of subsidiaries FARERD 39 137,053 (115,920) - - - - - - 21133 - 21,133
Issuance of shares pursuant fo the RERTRERARG
equity ine facilfy 3900 10,772 = - - - - - - 10,772 - 10,172
Dividends declared in respet of e
previous period 16 - - - - - - - (31,996) (31,996) - (31,996)
Forfeiture of share options PUE T = = = - = = (6,751) 6,751 = = =
‘Shares isste Upon exercise of AEEREREIR
share options 390 8 - - - - - (23 - 61 - 61
Eqity-setfled share-based payment IREEEZRIOHR - - - - - - 3013 - (3013) - (3013)
Tota ransactions with owners HREAETIRAHE 147,909 (115,920 - - - - (9,787) (25,245) (3,043) - (3,043)
At31 March 2012 REE-CE=R=+=8 2,458,674 (115,920) 10,008 2,216 8,000 11,638 19,524 (1,903,154) 490,981 86 491,067
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #;

41. RESERVES (continued)

156

e ]

ZF=A=1T-HItFE

4. #EE

The Company (b) AT
Shares
held by
Company
for
settlement Capital Share
Share  of acquisition Contributed Distributable redemption option  Accumulated
premium  consideration surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
KATREH
WEERE
R EE fiske = BAR&K THAREE RARERE BRERG itk &5t
Notes - HK$'000 HK$'000 - HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Wit - BRI AEfr  EETm o BETm o BETm o BETn BETT BT
At 1 April 2010 R=F-ZEMA~F 2,009,852 —o4-T 119701 2216 8,000 2,005 (259517) 1875270
Loss for the year FEER £ 2 = e < e (15,410) (15,410)
Placing of new shares RETRS 184007 = Al b 3 1 = 184,027
Shares issue expenses RARIRX (15,450) e 5 k! = = = (15,450)
Issuance of convertible ERmARELR
preference shares 127,934 - (48,021) - - - - 79913
Deemed capttal contrbution RERAS R = E (1,746) - & = = {1,74)
Equity-settled share-based payment WREEE 2B A5 i o T A i 31,154 < 31,154
Forfeiture of share options BB RE = £ = e £ [2.311) 2,311 -
Shares issued upon exercise of ROEEREREIRR
share options 4402 - - - - (1,537) - 2,865
At31 March 2011 =T B e 2,310,765 < 62,947 2016 8000 29311 072618 2140623
At1 Aprit2011 R=Z-~%MAH 2310765 = 62047 2216 8000 29,311 [272616) 2140623
Loss for the year FERE i L e A & — (1625455 (1,625455)
Consideration share ssue for-acquisition of HREHBARRTRERD
subsidiaries 396 137,053 (115,920) = 5 = = T 21,133
Dividends dleclared in respect of AT RRS
the previous period 16 - - - - - - (31,996) (81,996)
Fouity-settled share-based payment RELE 2R3 = B — L& = (3013) = (3,013)
Forfeiture of share options R RE = - = x - (6,751) 6,751 -
Issuance of shares pursuant o BERAREETRG
the equity line facility 39(f 10,772 - - - - - - 10,772
Share issued Upon exercise of REBREREARG
share options 39(d) 84 - - - - (23) - 61
At31 March 2012 AT e 2458674°  (115920) 62947 2216 8,000 19504 (1923316 512125
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For the yearended 31 March 2012 B E =2 —_—F=A=+—HILFE

41. RESERVES (continued)

()

Nature of purposes of the reserves

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed
by section 40 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981. The
share premium account of the Company is distributable to
the owners of the Company in the form of fully paid bonus
shares.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
excess of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation in
June 1991, over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange thereof. Under the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981 (as amended), the contributed
surplus is distributable to shareholders in certain
circumstances.

Distributable reserve

Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 15 July 20083,
the share premium account of the Company was reduced
by an amount of HK$103,948,000 to Nil and of which
HK$98,953,000 was applied towards the elimination of
the accumulated losses of the Company as at 31 March
2008, with the remaining balance of HK$4,995,000 being
credited to a distributable reserve of the Company. The
reduction of share premium account was effective on 6
October 2008.

Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve represents the amount paid
by which the Company’s issued share capital has been
diminished on the cancellation of the shares repurchased.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of the overseas subsidiaries. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in Note 3(t).

Share option reserve

Share options reserve comprise the fair value of the
estimated number of unexercised share options granted
to employees of the Group recognized in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments
in Note 3(p)(iii).

41. ZE

()

REZHERE®N

(0

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

R =1E

B aBERsEAXARE
S N R A
2o ANAIRMaERAERE
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41. RESERVES (continued)
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()

(d)

(e)

KRMEZBRER AR

Nature of purposes of the reserves (continued)

(vii)  Shares held by Company for settlement of acquisition

consideration

As set out in Notes 42 and 39(e), the Company issued
shares for acquisitions of Originate Tech during the year.
At the end of the reporting period, 280,000,000 shares,
valued at HK$0.414 (the issue price) per share amounting
to HK$115,920,000 were held by the Company awaiting
disposal. Proceeds from the disposal of these shares shall
be returned to the Company in accordance with the terms
of the acquisition agreement.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2012 and 2011, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for the distribution to the owners of the Company
calculated in accordance with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981
(as amended) was HK$492,601,000 and HK$2,111,312,000
respectively.

Capital risk management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher level of borrowings
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound ‘capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in: light
of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net
debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose the Group defines
net debt as total debt (which includes loan notes and other
financial liabilities) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less bank
deposits and cash. Adjusted capital comprises all components of
equity less unaccrued proposed dividends.
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41. RESERVES (continued)

(e)

Capital risk management (continued)

41. ZE

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group’s strategy,
which -unchanged from 2011, was to maintain the net debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio as low as feasible. In order to maintain or
adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to the owners, return capital to the owners, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The debt-to-adjusted capital
ratio at 31 March 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

(e)

EXRERER (8

R e o B e s s e g
B AEBEFRE_FE-——FEHEA
BIRES - RO RE A ERF R TR
B REFERNKTE - BRI
B E  AEEAFAERAEG A
NzBRESE  MHEAAREER
BITHROBIELEEERE - N=E
R e e e S e
BB EFHEEARLEAT

2012 2011

TR R

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T ok S

Trade and other payables FEST B 55008 K Bt FE T 30E 212,310 199,286
Loans and borrowings ERXREE 25,289 18,318
Consideration payables JERIRE = I
Finance leases payables FEfT R E TR LY 350 450
Amounts due to shareholders JERT AR R 5K IE 210,874 131,527
Amount due to a related company. BN —XKE R a5IA 2,048 5
Promissory notes NS 6,517 6,388
Total debt (vt 457,388 355,969
Add: proposed dividends hn s BRAR S = 30,285
Less: cash and cash equivalents BB MREEEY (7,760) (23,679)
Net debt B H5 449,628 362,575
Total equity L e o 875,395 3,256,369
Total capital RN 1,325,023 3,618,944
Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio B F R CAEE R X 34% 10%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to

externally imposed capital requirements.

AR EA RN B ARG ESINR
HEMEY B AR TEFTARIR
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42. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

160

On 2 August 2011, the Group obtained control of Originate Tech and
its subsidiaries (collectively “Zhongshan Operations”) by acquiring 100%
equity interest and voting rights in Originate Tech from Mr. Li Zhixiong
(“Mr. Li"). Zhongshan Operations are engaged in manufacturing and
sales of timber products including but not limited to wooden floor
panels, doors and furniture. Mr. Li was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 2 September 2011.

Net Profit Guarantee and Contingent Consideration

The total consideration for the acquisition of the Zhongshan Operations
was 769,230,769 shares of the Company and was divided into three
tranches. The first tranche of 100,000,000 shares was issued at
closing to Mr. Li. The second tranche of 280,000,000 shares (also
issued at closing but held by the Company) and the third tranche
(remaining balance) are contingent upon meeting net profit guarantee.
Mr. Li guaranteed that audited net profit after tax on IFRS basis will
not be less than HK$300,000,000 for the three years after completion,
and that Susfor-Oasis must not incur any net losses for each of three
financial years immediate after completion.

Rationale for the Acquisition

As a veteran in the PRC timber industry, Mr. Li had more than 20 years
of experiences in sales and manufacturing. He was the president of
Zhongshan New Oasis, a PRC company specializing in manufacturing
and selling of wooden flooring products to property developers in
the PRC prior to the acquisition of the Zhongshan Operations. He
is also the registered holder of a patent for “curve flooring”. Under
his management, New Oasis (a brand under which Zhongshan
New Oasis manufactured its flooring products) was ranked 3rd, in
flooring category, by “Top Ten Brands in China” in May 2011 and
was awarded “China’s 500 Most Valuable Brands” of the year 2010
by the World Brand Laboratory. Also, Zhongshan New Oasis had an
extensive network of distributors and an experienced team in sales,
manufacturing and quality control in the PRC.

The Board believed the acquisition was a perfect marriage where the
companies complemented each other well. The Group had its own
forest resources and specialized in sourcing logs and timber products
from different parts of the globe, but had no significant presence in
the PRC, the largest timber consumption-market in the world. Mr. Li
had little overseas access or experience in direct sourcing of timber
raw materials. The acquisition allowed the Group to buy into a ready
platform of local expertise, distribution network and customer base in
the PRC, matching its own overseas sourcing expertise.

The Board was optimistic about the prospect of the timber and wood
processing and timber sales in the PRC having taking into account the
continuous growth of gross domestic product and sales. of floor panels
(which is one of the major products of the Zhongshan New Oasis) in
the PRC in recent years.
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42. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Rationale for the Acquisition (continued)

The following summarises the acquisition-date fair value of
consideration transferred and the acquisition-date fair value of each

major class of consideration:

42, WEEHI B 2 7 (@)

W2 B2 ()
UTHtEBmAERKBRERZAFE
REZRERIREREBERHZAFE:

HK$’000
ok
Fair value of first tranche ordinary BRTEHITREBRERGD ZATEE
consideration shares issued 41,400
Fair value of second tranche ordinary DETE_HERERRERMHO ZAFRE
consideration shares issued 30,898
Fair value of third tranche ordinary BFEBETE=TRRRERD ZAFEE
consideration shares to be issued 40,285
2688

The fair value of ordinary consideration shares are based on the
published share price of HK$0.414 per share as at 2 August 2011.

The following summarized the recognised amounts of identifiable

assets acquired and liabilities assumed as at 2 August 2011.

EBERRBROZAFEEDNIRER -
— F®N\AZHEAHKRESRERK0.414
JCRTE ©

FRBER RN EENAZAEER -
——FA\A-BZEERTHBLIIAT

Acquiree’s
carrying
amount
before
combination
& ftan Fair value
WUEERS  adjustments Fair value
ZAREE AR ERE AFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BB T BB T

Property, plant and equipment e N 165 - 165
Intangible assets ELEE - 47,594 47,594
Cash and cash equivalents B MBS EEY 897 — 897
Inventories 7E 567 — 567
Other receivables H b EUGRIE 179 - 179
Trade and other payables ERE SFUER

H fth fE T 5008 (2,273) s (2,273)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIERE e (11,899) (11,899)
Total net identifiable assets AR FEEETE (465) 35,695 35,230
Goodwill [EES iy SO,
Total consideration HBIR(E 112,583
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42. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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42. WEMB A F @)

Goodwill arising on acquisition WBEE2BE
HK$’000
BT I
Consideration transferred B ERE 112,588
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired B TR BRI EEZ AT E (35,230)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEEEZEE 77,353
Cash and bank balances acquired of k2R & MRS EEBY 897

The goodwill of HK$77,353,000 arising from the acquisition of
Zhongshan Operations represented the future economic benefits from
the synergy effect of the business combination. The acquisition allowed
the Group to buy into a ready platform: of local expertise, distribution
network and customer base in the PRC, matching its own overseas
sourcing expertise.

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes.

The Group incurred acquisition related costs of HK$330,000 relating
to legal and professional fees and other charges which have been
excluded from the cost of acquisition. The acquisition related costs
have been recognised as expenses during the year ended 31 March
2012, within the ‘administrative expenses’ line item in the consolidated
income statement.

Zhongshan Operations contributed revenue of HK$79,518,000 and loss
of HK$18,262,000 for the year. Had the acquisition occured on 1 April
2011, the revenue and loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2012 would have been HK$115,616,000 and HK$2,328,365,000
respectively. The directors consider these pro-forma numbers to
represent an approximate measure of the performance of the combined
group on an annualised basis and to provide a reference results for
comparison in future periods.

After the completion of the acquisition, the vendor has the responsibility
to report and pay the tax for the gain on disposal of shares in PRC and
the buyer has the responsibility to withhold the tax. If the tax authority
cannot recover the tax from the vendor, it may lodge an assessment
on the buyer to pay the tax. The estimated tax liability amounted to
approximately HK$9,900,000.
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42. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 42. WIBHIE 2 & ()

Impairment of Zhongshan Operations and Acquisition
Goodwill

Subsequent to the acquisition, Zhongshan Operations carried out
the business, which was previously carried out by Zhongshan New
Qasis, of selling wooden flooring and products to property developers
in the PRC. In addition, according to the business plan, Zhongshan
Operations was to operate two new lines of business, namely timber
wholesale market; and franchise retail network selling its wooden
flooring and other products.

Unfortunately, the results of Zhongshan Operations was disappointing
and incurred a net loss of approximately HK$18 million during the
financial year ended 31 March 2012. The net loss was primarily
attributable to the rapid slow down of the property market and falling
property prices in the PRC. Home prices began declining in and around
September 2011 and many developers in the PRC began offering
significant discounts in order to raise cash. The above created a difficult
environment for all of our three business lines.

Project Sales

Many of the contracts for sales of flooring products to the developers
were delayed or put on hold without definite time when they will come
on line again. In addition, as home prices declined, many developers
are demanding prices-to be discounted from all of their vendors. The
profit margin for many potential projects became too thin or simply
vanished and therefore could not materialize.

Franchise Operations

The Company planned to turn approximately 70 of the traditional
distributors of flooring for Zhongshan New Oasis into franchisees with
standardized shop front, unified prices and selling only our products.
While preparing for such change, Zhongshan Operations opened 4
directly operated shops in Shenzhen and Zhongshan. Performances for
all of the 4 shops were poor and sales were dismal and all incurred net
losses. The shops were closed subsequently. The macro environment
of sluggish property market and general poor. market sentiment
affected this “start up” business greatly.

PILEBZBRERBEEE

RURER - LR L A AP L FTAR
MEe 2% BT BEEEREHEE
AUIR AR ERR © 1IN - RIBEEHFE
FILEB B IRRMIBRER - BIAM AL E
miIZHE RAMIRE R M2 fn 2 Fr T EE
TEME -
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E518 4975 % 18,000,000 ¢ ° $% 158 /% 518 2
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BRI TE  FZ2HhEBERRARREEE
BHIRHEER - LB RLSESEET=
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42. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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Impairment of Zhongshan Operations and Acquisition
Goodwill (continued)

Timber Wholesale Market

Timber Wholesale Market aimed to take advantage of the Group’s
overseas sourcing ability and network and Zhongshan Operations’
geographical advantage. Zhongshan and its neighboring Shunde
formed one of the largest wooden furniture and flooring centers in
the PRC. As general economy and housing market was turning south
in 2011 and 2012, wholesale timber prices were also declining. The
shrinking margin could not bear the additional cost of transportation
of logs and timber to one central location at our facility in Zhongshan.
Zhongshan Operations had to store and sell the logs and timber at the
ports in the PRC. Also, Zhongshan Operations was facing resistance
from potential renters as the centralized inventory concept was not able
to materialize. Those distributors that had originally agreed to relocate
to our premises now reneged on their commitment and adopted a
wait-and-see attitude. As such, the timber wholesale market did not
commence operation.

As a result of the uncertainties in the PRC economy and continued
depressed timber demand and prices, the Group considers that
the value of the assets related to Zhongshan Operations suffered
impairment and recorded net loss of HK$42 million (comprising waiver
of contingent consideration payable of HK$71 million, reversal of
deferred tax liabilities of HK$12 million, recognition of impairment loss
on goodwill of HK$77 million, and recognition of impairment loss and
amortization on intangible assets totalling HK$48 million).

On 27 June 2012, Mr. Li entered into an agreement with the Group
confirming that the net profit guarantee under the acquisition was not
met. It was further confirmed that the Group does not owe any further
amounts to Mr. Li. 280,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company-issued
under Tranche 2 are being held by the Company pending disposal in
the market at its discretion. The Company plans to sell these shares in
due course subject to the market conditions. All net proceeds from the
disposals of the above shares shall-be retained by the Company.
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 43. HEM B F
ARBRBE_F-—F=A=+-A1
G 5 U 65 L 0 AR L EL TR SRR AR -
RSB AEFERIINT -

The Group discontinued its Chita forest operations at the time of
disposal of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2012. The
net assets at the date of the disposals were as follows:

HK$’000
TEME T T
Net assets disposed of FTHEEERE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - B K 71,597
Intangible assets BIARE 152,099
Trade and other receivables FEUS ' 5 SR IE Ko H b FE W RRIR 1,020
Amount due from a non-controlling shareholder FEU — % FEFEAR AR SR 7N IE 53,176
Cash and bank balances RE MIRTTHERR 1
Trade and other payables FEASHE 5 5R0E K M R A 3RE (28,475)
Other loans, secured BEM 2 B ER (3,989
Other loans, unsecured i e~ = (2,431)
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBEE (37,453)
205,545
Non-controlling interests IR R 13
205,558
Exchange reserve I 1 (6,377)
199,181
Disposal costs &SRR e
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 15) HEMB AR 2 W (Mt 15) 8,819
Total consideration BRE 208,000
Satisfied by: XA
Promissory Note (note i) R (M) 208,000
Total consideration BR(E 208,000
Cash and bank balances disposed of Frit BN & RIRITEHE R (1)
207,999
Cash consideration receivable FEYCR &R (E (208,000

Net cash outflow arising on the disposal

HEEE St FE

(1)

Note:

(i) A promissory note was issued by the Buyer of Chita forests operations on 30 (
March 2012 in lieu of cash payment. The note is interest free and matures nine

months after Completion.

Hist :

FRBRMEBZE TR _E—Z—F=A=+
BETEANEERERS MR - ZRBERAR
BERFERENEATH
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, bank balances and cash, loans and borrowings, finance
lease payables, trade and other payables, financial liabilities, promissory
notes, amounts due to shareholders and amount due to a related
company. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risk associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

166

@

KRMEZBRER AR

Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank deposits
and trade and other receivables.

For trade and other receivables, management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on
an ongoing basis. In respect of trade and other receivables, credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 30-180
days from the date of billing.

Debtors with balances that are more than 6 months past due are
requested to settle all outstanding balances before any further
credit is granted.

None of the Group’s financial assets are secured by collateral or
other credit enhancements.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations was all in Asia Pacific. The Group had concentration of
credit risk by customers as for 100% (2011: 99%) and 96% (201 1:
34%) of the total receivables were due from the Group’s five
largest customers and the largest customer respectively as at 31
March 2011.
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

@

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2011, the Group was exposed to concentration
of credit risk on an amount due from a non-controlling
shareholder of HK$52,797,000 which was classified as assets
held for sale in Note 28. Under the repayment agreement
entered into between the non-controlling shareholder and
Amplewell, the non-controlling shareholder agreed to dispose
part of his shares in Winner Global and ordinary shares in the
Company for repayment of the amount due to the Group. The
amount was also guaranteed by a related company, Assure Gain
International Limited, which owned 43.38% interests in Winner
Global. Under the guarantee agreement, the related company
agreed to dispose sufficient shares in the Company to repay the
outstanding amount in the event of default by the non-controlling
shareholder. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk was significantly reduced.
As the amount due from a non-controlling shareholder was part
of the assets held for sales in Chita forest operations which was
sold before 31 March 2012. Therefore, as at 31 March 2012, the
Group is not exposed to this concentration of credit risk on this
amount.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance. Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group
as set out in Note 46(c), the Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the Group or the Company to
credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of
these financial guarantees at the end of the reporting period is
noted in Note 46(c).

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables
are set out in Note 26.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands, subject to-approval by the
holding company’s board. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from bankers to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

44, BIEBABERE @

(@

(b)

BEERE (@)

T e e s S R I e
ESK sl D EARBIERE
BEZEWIEZERBRERIBBE
52,797,000 AR EERBEF 2
B o BIEIEIERRAR BB MRRT S 2
B EEBRBRREELSED
Winner Global J¢5 & AR a) E i@k -
LMEZEMNAEEZE - Z 8
JINER # A Winner Global 43.38% &%
2 #83& /) 7] Assure Gain International
Limited #& £& © RIRER B - &
AElRBELEZARFRGEE
R AME B IE AR AR R 2 R K o BhUE
AAREERANEEZEERBE
AIEBEIE o A FEUS FEIE AR AR 5 5k 1E
e St e S = Lt et = - i
BZRBRMER LI EFECE
B A REE s H=e
B AEBEHERZHNEEZEER
P& 2 B o

Bia s ERBRIGCHBREARERE
BEMBEENZREMBRRERZE
E1E o Bk I 5F 46(c) AT 8 4~ 5 B 1E H
Z TS HEIRIN + ARG B AR
HER  BERNEESAREEZ
EERK - REPEEEARZE
M EREYH 2 &5 EERBRENE
46(C) #FE ©

R F T REBREEFRKE
RTBEEFRZIRT  RBERZ
EERBRAR -

BRASEREEKE S FIAREME
WHAMRLZ ERRR  HE—F
AHENBEHNHIE26

AEBANENCEBERARTAR
HRSEREH  BREBEEFAE
NBREREFR - EAFERARZ
EESHENFRE - ARBIZBER/TE
HIEERE RERRSESHFRAR
ERETEERE - BRER RN
SMEBERBITAGHER TRMEE
HE  NENEEHRRBEERHANRE
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

44, BIEREERE @)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REESEERE)
The following table details the remaining contractual maturities TR AEE RA DT EITEMTE
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s and the BERREEARAE HHEIBE 4 E
Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities which are based on B IR EAAARMIRAERE(H
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments HEIASANR (B ZE - BIiRE
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates RIWEHEEEH ZRBITHR)HESE
current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date ZRBESZ ) A RARER RAA R R]
the Group and the Company can be required to pay: WESEHNSEH RS
The Group NEHE
2012
P
Total
Weighted contractual Within More than More than
average undiscounted 1 year 1yearbut 2 years but
effective cash flow oron less than less than
interest rate Carrying &SHKXBE demand 2 years 5 years
EF amount ReRE —FR% —F% MmE#
(YRS HRE{E Eok EER BRER BRER
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETR
Trade and other payables ENESFER
Hi et 508 - 212,310 212,310 212,310 = 2
Finance leases payables B RERLY 4.58% 350 394 113 113 168
Promissory notes ANEE 15.74% 6,517 7,800 - 7,800 -
Loans and borrowings B REE 0%-60% 25,289 25,865 25,865 - -
Amounts due to shareholders S 5% 210,874 239,906 - - 239,906
Amount due to a related company. JEff —REFER 7 5% 2,048 2,330 = = 2,330
457,388 488,605 238,288 7,913 242,404
2011
—2——F
Total
Weighted contractual Within More than More than
average undiscounted 1 year 1 year but 2 years but
effective cash flow oron less than less than
interest rate Carying ~ AHRER demand 2 years 5 years
A5 amount BeneE —FA% —Fk [k
BHE EEE et EEK ERER BRERA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ok ok e BT ok BT
Trade and other payables EEESFER
H MR — 199,286 199,286 199,286 — -
Finance leases payables [ERRERLD 4.58% 450 507 113 113 281
Promissory notes ANER 15.74% 6,388 7,676 ik 7,676 =
Loans and borrowings ERREE 6% - 18,318 19,093 18,970 123 =
23.87%
Amounts due to shareholders FERTRRER R 5% 131,527 141,917 - 141,917 -
355,969 368,479 218,369 149,829 281
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 44. HEEEEE &)
(b)  Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REEERES(E)
The Company AT
2012
—_E—_F
Weighted Total
average contractual Within More than
effective undiscounted 1 year 1 year but
interest cash flow or on less than
rate Carrying S #IARBEE demand 2 years
InREFg amount HRERE —FAZR —F#
BIERFIZE IREE HE EER EWER

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
A¥TT  E¥TR E¥TrT  E¥TR

Trade and other payables ENEZHREXR

H A FEA TR - 7,918 7,918 7,918 -
Loans and borrowings BRMEE 0%-60% 25,206 25,770 25,770 -
Promissory notes A EE 15.74% 6,517 7,800 - 7,800
39,641 41,488 33,688 7,800
2011

—E——fF

Weighted Total
average contractual Within More than
effective undiscounted 1 year 1 year but
interest cash flow oron less than
rate Carrying & H#IAREETR demand 2 years
DN amount  HR&mE - —FARK — 1%
R = BREE k) EEX BRFEA

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ok VIR g b v L - UL L i

Trade and other payables BRNEZHIEKR

Hofth & 1 IR - 1,907 1,907 1,907 -
Promissory notes EONES 15.74% 6,388 7,676 — 7,676
8,295 9,583 1,907 7,676
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

44, BIEREERE @)

(c) Foreign currency risk (c) SMERB
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk related primarily to REBZINER BT BEUEBEER
cash and-cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade EﬁW%EMM% M%ZZEi&
and other payables that are denominated in currencies 'other ZEY  EWESFIBEREME
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities. % ﬁ AR et B 5 37008 Kk H b e
NFRIBER °
(i) . Exposure to currency risk (). EXEE
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the TEREFNAEB R RS HAEE
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from ERMKRBELNBEEREER 2
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency REEBUINEE A E 2B ER
other than the functional currency of the entity to which BEIBERATEERRE -
they relate. Differences resulting from the translation of the ERTEEEAREERNTE
financial statements of the entity within the Group into the B mEmE BAERZNE
Group’s presentation currency are excluded. BEEZER -
2012 2011
e ZE——%F
United United
States States
Dollars Euros Dollars Euros
ETT BT XTI BT
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T PEWEFIT BT
Trade and other receivables & E Z 7 IE &
E A fEURIR 1,118 5 142,050 372,078
Cash and cash equivalents R4 RIS EEY 2,239 4 4,647 -
Trade and other payables &2 5 FIE K&
H i e 5k IE (16,858) (113,743) (11,144) (120,583)
Overall exposure to P B B8 5 M A b
currency risk (13,501) (113,734) 135:058 251,495

170 KRMEZERERA R

=B e

—EER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R M EE

For the yearended 31 March 2012 B E =2 —_—F=A=+—HILFE

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Foreign currency risk (continued)

(i)~ Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in
the Group’s (loss)/profit after tax (and retained profits) that
would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables

()

44, BIEBABERE @

SNEE LB (49)

(i)  BREDH

TRINMERSHREE B Y
AEBBEAREZINEER
HIRE(CE - RRABEMR
REBERTE  AEEKRHK
& (ER) CRFI (RREBEM)

remained constant. BEEEZENRFES) -
2012 2011
—E-C—F —F——%F

Effect on Effect on
loss after profit after
Increase/ tax and Increase/ tax and
(decrease) retained (decrease) retained
in foreign profits in foreign profits
exchange HERBIZ exchange HERFI&
rates EiER rates Al K
M RE = R A SN [ 5 R 4 A
EFH(FEE) ZEEg tA (PR s
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
United States Dollars b 1% 113 1% 15182
(1)% (113) (1)% [1:z182)
Euros ER 78 5% 4,748 5% 10,500
(5)% (4,748) (5)% (10,500)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group’s entities’ (loss)/profit after tax and
equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation
purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis excludes differences that would result
from the translation of the financial statements of the entity
within the Group into the Group’s presentation currency.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for the year
ended 31 March 2011.

ERFAEVN DM ERLRE R
SEETEERESA 26
ERGENIRBENRAEED
ZERMERETARE S
RMBREE (BB), & Fl kg
S RNT BB -

EHBURE DT TR SN B
RERBEHNTER RS R
BEBASEMRBZENET
B <78 & B F AR SN E [
e BN TEERAEE
NERZUBHERESTE
B2V ERMELER - Lt
DTN ERET ——F=
H=T—BULSEHERZEE
#ETT »
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) - Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from financial
liabilities issued at a fixed rate that expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as monitored
by management is set out below. The Group does not expect
any changes on interest rate which might materially affect the
Group’s result of operations.

During the year, the Group and the Company had not entered
into any interest rate swap contracts.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the

Group at the end of the reporting period:

Fixed rate borrowings:
Finance lease payables

Promissory notes

Loans and borrowings

Amounts due to shareholders
Amount due to a related

company

EEMEE
FE BB
A ER

ERREE

AR
B — B
ARHA

44, BIEREERE @)

(d) FIZ=mEb
N5 [ 2 F R JE fiy = 222k B R [E] T A
EETWEBAEEAmME A FET
ERbpz BB EE - BEEMEREY
REEFEFBHN X > AEETE
HRg IR AR A A AR B LS 2
BB E R 2 FIEEE) o
TR AEBERARQ A& AR
FZ=pE IS4 o
() FIEFE
FREFIIAREBNSRE AR
HRZHMEBER -
2012 2011
=% & = e
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
B A= BT
% HK$°000 % HK$'000
BT T BETFT
4.58% 350 4.58% 450
15.74% 6,517 15.74% 6,388
0% - 25,289 6% - 18,318
60% 23.87%
5% 210,874 5% 131,527
5% 2,048 — —

(i) Sensitivity analysis

All of the borrowings of the Group which are fixed-rate
instruments are insensitive to any change in interest rates.
A change in interest rate at the end of the reporting period
would not affect profit or loss.
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

44, BIEBABERE @

(e)

(f)

Natural risk

The ability to harvest wood and the growth of the trees in the
forests may be affected by unfavourable local weather conditions
and natural disasters. Weather conditions such as-floods,
droughts, cyclones and windstorms and natural disasters such
as earthquakes, fire, disease, insect infestation and pests are
examples of such events. The occurrence of severe weather
conditions or natural disasters may diminish the supply of trees
available for harvesting, or otherwise impede the Group’s logging
operations or the growth of the trees in the forests, which in turn
may have an adverse effect on the Group’s ability to produce the
products in a timely manner and maintain sufficient operations.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period,
grouped. into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair
value is observable.

° Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities.

. Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within -which the fair value
measurement is categorized in its entirety is determined on the
basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement in its entirety.

(e)

(f)

B R E R

ERMARKAM REN RAEARER
AR BT RIERBRAKEZT
MFE - RN - 522 - B
B - BEMEAXEMME - AK
R~ B RERBEZFEEHH
F - HIRBERBAMA R ELE B RL
S AL G B A AR ORI AR A » 3
PR R BRI HF ERMAM
ARER - A e N A S BIRE A
ERBERENERTHNEE -

RMBRARAER 22 FE

|

TREHNREHREEBRATE
SEZMBIAZ DT » WREAF
BZABERERBRE—EZED
5o

«  FE-BAFENENEMER
45 AR A B S 2 $RE
(F{EEABE) Fi18 AFE

=
Log

«  E-EAFENEDEMS-
BSRIE A2 AT ELSE (AR
SRA%E (A B 15 H) B
AR A AR AR
S ATENE -

s FEEAVEMHENIEGOR
WIEN A BETBBE 2 A
B o B 1 2 AR B A B OF
ARG ABE) 2 (A R
FiEATEE -

NHEFEEATEEBT ZER D
BENENEAFEAEERNEE
EAZEEBRBAREETE -
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

44, BIEREERE @)

The Group and The Company REEEARNT
2012 2011
—B-zf 3
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
5-E B2 E=E o e F-E F=E &t
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BMTr o BMTR  BMTR  BMTn A%t ARt O BBTh - BBt
Financial liabities at fair BRTEABRR
value through profit or loss ZE%aE
Financial liabilties BHEE - - 6,030 6,030 - - - -

There were no significant transfers between instruments in Level
1 and Level 2 during the year.

Reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurements of financial

RERN  E-BREZEZTAEBR
WEBARER

BB EECE=ZE A FETEZHE

liabilities
HK$’000
FEWET T
Issuance of warrants BT R 8,730
Change in fair value RIEEES) (2,700)
At 31 March 2012 I e e b | 6,030

(g) Fair value

The directors of the:‘Company consider that the carrying amounts
of the current financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements are not
materially different from their fair values because of the immediate
or short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The carrying
amounts of the loans and borrowing, amounts due to the
shareholders, amount due to a related company, finance lease
payables and promissory notes approximate their fair values.
The fair values of the loans and borrowings, amounts due to the
shareholders, amount due to a related company and finance
lease payables are estimated as the present value of future cash
flows, discounted at the current market interest rates for similar
financial instruments.
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45. COMMITMENTS

@

Commitments in respect of capital expenditure
At therend of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
in respect of capital expenditure outstanding but not provided for

45, EiE

BEREFRXZEE
AEERREHARAEE AR E R
B THIRERBYBNGAMBERE

(@

in the consolidated financial statements as follows: B 7 R E -
2012 2011
=R —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T PRI
Contracted, but not provided for BERT4B RS
— Acquisition of forest, forest concession ~ — UREEFRAK - FRARAFFFHE -
rights, a wood processing plant, —RAM NI
investment in a flooring company and R=RHIRARZIZE
exclusive production rights (Note i) MR EERE (HED) - 331,800
— Acquisition of forest, sawmill and — USEEZRAR ~ 87 NHR B A AE TR
fiberboard processing facilities (Note ii) DT (K &) o 379,200
— Acquisition of subsidiaries — WEEHT B AT = 380,000
— Purchase of property, plant and — BEWE  BEKLE
equipment 692 -
692 1,091,000
Notes: Hfet

On 12 February 2010, the Group entered into-a term sheet (the
“Term Sheet”) to acquire the entire equity interests in a company (an
independent third party) incorporated in Brazil holding among others
approximately 98,000 hectares of forest area in Brazil, up to 800,000
hectares of forest concession rights in Bolivia, a wood processing plant,
investment interests in a flooring company and exclusive production
rights. The Term Sheet is legally binding and pursuant to its terms, the
consideration of the acquisition shall be R$70,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$331,800,000). The consideration shall be payable by
installments as follows: (i) R$45,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$213,300,000) to be satisfied upon completion of the acquisition
and (i) R$25,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$118,500,000)
to be satisfied by payment in cash in United State dollars on a date
falling within three years after completion. Accordingly to the terms of
the Term Sheet, the consideration may be reduced, if the net profit
after tax for each of the three years after completion shall be less than
R$10,000,000.

The term sheet was terminated by approval of directors of the Company
on 30 March 2012. Therefore, there was no capital commitment as at
31 March 2012.
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RZE—ZTF_A+t-H A£EH
RIS RER (TMERE D) + WiE—
RERZFMKZIZAR(ABYE=
) B EBR AR RS A REA (Eh
B ) B4 98,000 A B 2 FRME -
3£ 800,000 A LB 2 3% i 4 35 FRANIF AT
B —RXAMMNIMR - R — KR A
A2 BB R BREERE ° &
BRBAORS - REBEGH - KER
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45. COMMITMENTS (continued)

45. EIE @)

(@) Commitments in respect of capital expenditure (@ BREARBEIZEEGE)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Hiat : (48)
(ii) On 1 November 2009, the Group entered into a legally binding (ii) RIZBEZNE+ A8 ~&H
Memorandum of intent (“MOU”) to acquire the entire equity interests in NP EERORN 2 BRI R
a company (an independent third party) incorporated in Brazil holding Bok((RRETE])  WE—R
freehold forest area of approximately 137,000 hectares in Brazil, a REAFMRYZ A (ABYE=
sawmill and a fibreboard processing facility. Pursuant to the terms of FIZEERAREZ  ZAaRER
the MOU, the consideration of the acquisition should be R$80,000,000 KAFEH #137,000 A B Z HRME
(equivalent to approximately HK$379,200,000). The consideration shall —KIFERBEN — KRG ER TR -
be payable as follows: (i) R$27,000,000 (equivalent to approximately BIEFRETEZET WERKE
HK$127,980,000) to be satisfied by cash on the completion date #80,000,000 % 5 f ( KV 4H & R /B 15
of the acquisition: (i) R$26,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 379,200,0007t) ° RBZAA TR
HK$123,240,000) to be satisfied by the allotment and issue of new A4 ().27,000,000F s B (L HEE
shares of the Company on the completion date of the acquisition and A #5127,980,000 7T ) AUk BE 2Bk B
(iiy R$27,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$127,980,000) to HILAIE & S 15 5 (i1)26,000,000 2 35 F
be paid in 6 instalments, falling due on a half-yearly basis, with the first (4938 & 1 /8 #5123,240,000 7T ) A UL
instalment falling due after 12 months form the completion date of the B SEAK B HADABD 38 BT AN R #T AR
acquisition. 19 244+ R (i))27,000,000 F 35 88 (49
HE R B 127,980,000 78) D7~ HisE
5 FFFRERAR - GEBRUEE
ek B ERREET 12 (8 A& B EASZ 1+ -
The MOU was terminated by approval of directors of-the Company on Ro-EBE-—-F=-A=1+8 FEEs
30 March 2012. Therefore, there was no capital commitment as at 31 SRAANTEETIATIUALILE -
March 2012. itr LA e R SR A
B
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) REFHLHEIE
The Group leases certain of its office premises under operating REBRBRKEHROBERE THAE
leases. Leases for these properties are negotiated for terms M - ZEVMEZ L KERE AT
ranging one to three years. SRR
At the end of the reporting period, the total future minimum lease REEPREBEE B - ARBEDATREHE
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as EHNEN 2 EREHSREN
follows: T
The Group The Company
EE KA E]
2012 2011 2012 2011
A e s ST e oL e e e e T e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR  OBETRT  OBMTFR BETR
Within one year —FER 3,478 2,495 3,463 1,970
In the second to fifth years, b
inclusive (BREEMST) 5,873 i 5,873 =
9,351 2,495 9,336 1,970
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45. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(c)

Minimum royalty payments
The total future minimum royalty payments payable under the
terms of the timber concession licences were as follows:

45. EIE =)

()

RIESFEE K
IRABAM S FHERE 2 (R B IR B
ZREFMERNREBAOT

2012 2011

—EB——F —T——%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T ST

Within one year AN - 3,028
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EERF(BIEEEMRE) - 11,704
After five years AFE - 30,209
= 44,941

The terms of the timber concession licences ranges from 3 to 23
years. As at 31 March 2012, no timber concession licence was
held by the Group due to disposal of Ally Rise Group during the
year.

46. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@

(b)

Litigations in relation to Ally Rise Group

As at 31 March 2011, Ally Rise Group had two outstanding
litigations and the details are disclosed in note 28(e). On 30
March 2012, Ally Rise Group was sold and the contingent
liabilities transferred to the buyer of the Ally Rise Group. The
details of the sale is outlined in Note 43.

Claims against the Company

A third party (the “Plaintiff”) asserted claims against the
Company: for salaries in amounts equivalent in the aggregate
to US$901,539 (approximately HK$7,022,000), together with
certain other employment benefits, by reason of the alleged
breach by the Company of two separate but concurrent
contracts of employment that the Plaintiff asserted were entered
into between the Plaintiff and the Company in April 2009. The
Company disputed the existence of any contracts, whether
of employment or otherwise, between itself and the Plaintiff.
Arbitration proceedings commenced on 30 October 2009 and
hearing was scheduled for the week of 19 September 2011. The
Company defended itself vigorously in those proceedings. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the claims were at a
preliminary stage and no provision has been made in respect of
such claims as of 31 March 2011. The above matters were dealt
with under arbitration proceedings which hearings were held at
the Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre (“HKIAC”) from 19
to 21 September 2011.

The Company received a final award from the HKIAC on 5 March
2012. The arbitral tribunal made an order that the Claimant’s
claims against the Company are dismissed and that each party
will bear its own legal costs and the costs of the arbitration.

AT R Z PR F3E234F o
AL s e e e T e A
NHEAAEE  BAKBEYERSE
AMASFHERE -

46. REE

@

(b)

EHAAREZ RN
REB—G=A=t-0 A2%
B 5 WE AR - FEEEA A

og(e) R S s e e SR
FEEDEY  MAAABEEET
GAEEZET - BRABEE 2B
= BEAKIEE4S

HARAQNARREZHEER
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46. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

178

()

(d)

KRMEZBRER AR

Corporate guarantee

As at 31 March 2012, the Company had given unconditional
guarantee to a financial institution to secure finance leases
payables granted to a subsidiary to the extent of HK$500,000
(2011: HK$500,000). The extent of the finance leases payables
utilised by the subsidiary at the end of the reporting period
amounted to approximately HK$350,000 (2011: HK$450,000).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair value of
the financial guarantee contract of the Company is insignificant at
initial recognition and, the directors of the Company consider that
the possibility of default by the subsidiary is remote and, in case
of default in payments, the net realisable value of the net assets
of the subsidiary can recover the repayment of the outstanding
principals of the finance leases payables together with the
accrued interest and penalty. Accordingly, no provision has been
made in respect of such guarantee.

Partnership harvesting agreement

On 18 July 2011, UTRB entered into an agreement (the
“Partnership Harvesting Agreement” or the “Agreement”)
with R2R Industria e Comércio de Produtos Florestais Ltda.
(“R2R”). Under the Agreement, UTRB will harvest logs on forest
area supposedly owned by R2R under a Sustainable Forest
Management Plan and pay R2R Florestal a total of R$9,602,000
(or approximately HK$41 million) by installments. R2R was
responsible to obtain the necessary harvesting permit- (“AUTEF”)
within 30 days of the Agreement. R2R was late in presenting
the AUTEF to UTRB and failed to produce documentations that
support its ownership of the subject forest area. In addition,
UTRB’s harvesting team discovered various environmental
crimes in the subject forest area during its preparatory inspection.
A total sum of R$840,000 (or approximately HK$3,869,000)
was paid by UTRB under the Agreement while the remaining
balance was withheld due to the above breach and irregularities.
In the meantime, R2R sent various notices demanding for
performance under the Agreement. On 17 January 2012, UTRB
served a termination notice to'R2R and demanded for the return
of the deposits paid. On 23 February- 2012, R2R sent UTRB
an amicable settlement offer where reducing the outstanding
balance to R$1,621,000 (or approximately HK$6,910,000) as
final settlement for the immediate termination of the Agreement.
According to the opinion of inhouse and external legal counsels,
UTRB has adequate legal ground to terminate the Agreement,
demand for the return of the deposit and ask for penalties.

—E—— /2 _FFRH
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46. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(e)

Class action case in connection with the
hydropower plant in Rondonia, Brazil

On 19 October 2010; Procurador do Trabalho, Procuradoria
Regional do Trabalho da 142 Regiéo (the “Ministry”) began a
class action investigation into potential misconducts or breach
of relevant labor laws by all companies that operated in the
hydropower plant in Rondonia State, Brazil. UTRB was one of
the many companies that provided services directly or indirectly
to the hydropower plant in Rondonia. In February 2012, UTRB
voluntarily requested a review of its operations by the Ministry
in connection with its provision of clear cutting services at the
hydropower plant. There was no wrong doings of breach of law
discovered under the review by the Ministry. In“order to avoid
being held liable for potential liabilities or labor claims as a result
of other companies’ wrong doings under Brazil labor laws, UTRB
is negotiating to enter into a Term of Adjustment of Conduct
Agreement (“TOC”) with the Ministry. Under the proposed terms
of TOC, UTRB will agree to abide by the labor laws of Brazil in
Rondonia. In exchange, it will not be responsible for any claims
or breach of labor laws by other companies involved with the
hydropower plant in Rondonia. On 23 July 2012, a final TOC
was signed by UTRB and delivered to the Ministry. The TOC was
accepted and signed by the Ministry on 19 September 2012. It
should be noted that there is no active operations by UTRB or
any of the Companies’ subsidiaries at the hydropower plant in
Rondonia.
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47. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

180

(@)

KRMEZBRER AR

On 7 June 2012, the Company together with Amplewell Holdings
Limited, Acenergy Limited and Great Path Limited, all wholly
owned subsidiaries of the Company, (collectively the “Borrowers”)
entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with 'Risso
Investments Limited (the “Lender”), an independent third party.
Under the Loan Agreement, the Borrowers may borrow up to
HK$50 million within a 12-month period commencing the date of
the Loan Agreement. Interest rate is 18% per annum and maturity
in one lump sum 18 months after the first draw down under the
Loan Agreement. Notwithstanding-the above, the Borrowers may
prepay any loan amount outstanding after 12 months from the
first draw down without penalties. The loan is secured by share
charge in favor of the Lender over the entire issued share capital
of Acenergy Limited. As of 20 December 2012, the Borrowers
have drawn down HK$30 million under the Loan Agreement, of
which HK$15 million is still in escrow.

On 26 June 2012, the Borrowers entered into a supplementary
agreement (“Further Loan Facility”) providing further loan facility
of HK$40 million in the event if a trade creditor in Brazil lodge
any official claims against UTRB for payment of fees accrued.
This Further Loan Facility is valid and effective for a period of 18
months from the agreement date above and is subject to formal
loan agreement similar to the Loan Agreement in (a).

During the financial year ended 31 March 2011, the Group
entered into purchase agreements to procure African logs
and timber, and North American logs from two independent
suppliers separately for sums of Euro10,980,000 (equivalent
to HK$113,729,000) and US$1,282,000 (equivalent to
HK$9,953,000). On 31 May 2012, the Group entered into
agreements with two suppliers separately terminating their
respective purchase agreements amicably. The suppliers took
back the logs and timber with no further liabilities due from the
Group. Please refer to Note 8(f) for details of the terminations.
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48. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 48. EXBEEALIRS
AEERANFE DERAEATETATR

The Group had the following transactions with related parties during the

year. 2 o
(@) Key management personnel remuneration () FEEBEABZFM
The key management personnel of the Group are the directors AREBFBZFEEBEAEARAFTES
and employees of the Company. Details of their remuneration as RIEE o W73k & b 7512 P & (A 1
set out in Note 12 to the financial statements are as follows: EXNMZMEFBIT
2012 2011
—E-—F —T——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T ok v
Salaries and other short-term employee o K HME HE S 87
benefits 7,312 5,240
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET SR 29 23
Share-based payment LARR 5 3241 (2,403) 13,369
4,938 18,632

(b) Financing arrangement

(b) MEZH

The Group

Amounts due

to related parties
ESEEALRIE
2011 2012 2011
e e L R T R e R R
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

BETT BT T BT

2012

TRy e o

Notes HK$’000
HteE BET T

rEM

Related
interest expenses

HEFERX

Amounts due to JER AR R SR8 ()
shareholders 210,874 TRER o 8,463 4,937
Amount due to JEf —REFERAF] (i)
a related company I8 2,048 — 48 703
Loan from a related KE—K@ERA] (i)
company ZE® = = 1,164 i
212,922 L8524 9,675 5,640
Notes: Bt -

0] The interest.expenses charged on amounts due to shareholders were
calculated at 5% per anhum. The outstanding balances of the amounts
due to shareholders at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in
Note 36.

(ii) The interest expenses charged on amount due to a related company
was calculated at 5% per annum. During the year ended 31 March
2011, the interest on amount due to a related company was fully
repaid. The outstanding balances of amount due to a related company
as at 31 March 2012 is disclosed in Note 37.

(iii) The interest expenses charged on loan from a related company was
calculated at 0.5%. per month. Details of the loan are disclosed in
note 30.

(i)

PR BCRIR 2 F B R S Ty R F 7 K
SEFHE o BAIARRRIRN S HifE
S B2 i K (R A8 BATE I 5 36 3%
e

EH:+*EI¢¢!§ ; }TEH*%EE%@
RAFBZN S EBEERE - Bl —
%Eﬁ@ ‘]TAIEE/\—gi—ﬁE A
=+ B2 MAREEEREMREST R

B o

RE—FRBERARZERZFEHAX
BIREGAFROSEE - ERZF
IERMIES0 K EE »
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48. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

182

48. ERBEEALIRS &)

(continued)
(c) Other related party transactions (c) HMBEEALXRS
2012 2011
SR i e
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
HaE FBUET T BT
Interest on promissory notes AN ZEZFE (i) 129 847
Rental expenses ik 573 (i) 13,745 L
Reduction of interest payable HU R FE S L2 (iii) 2,932 =t
Purchase of machinery and equipment B E S Nk (iv) 1,364 -
Sales to a related company M—XEEARHEE 14,385 =
Purchase from a related company M—XBEBEAFEE 48,340 =
Notes: Kiat :

(i)

()

This represents interest on promissory notes issued to-Winner Global
and was calculated at a coupon rate of 2% per annum (effective interest
rate: 15.74%). The outstanding balance at the end of the reporting
period is disclosed in Note 38.

This represents the difference arising from the net-off of write off of
deposit for purchases of property, plant and equipment and waiver of
loan and borrowing due to a related company. Details are disclosed in
Note 24.

This represents the reduction of interest rate from 2.7% to 0.5% per
month, retroactively from the date of commencement of loan from a
related company.

This represents the purchase of machinery and equipment from a
related company. Details-are disclosed in Note 24.

In the opinion of the Company’s.directors, the above transactions
were conducted on terms mutually agreed by the Group and the
related parties.

KRMEZBRER AR

—E—— /2 _FFRH
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49. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 49.
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

1,
N

(e
[l

1]

H
xR
i

31

£

-

Hid | |
24 (L4
T |

Nduall
| ¥+
Food

WK

P4

B2 - g

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised IFRSs AREEWVERFEEBIATEBMBERMRE
that have been issued but are not yet effective: ik B AT R S ST R B AR R s s B
Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2009— BRI HREEN —EENFE-T——FA
2011 Cycle? ZIEET B Bl M s 5 2Rl 2
FEYE?
Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures — Transfers of Financial BB HREER RE - PHEEECES
Assets' FTRZIER]
Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets B BI SRS 2R WE - BEVBEER
and Financial Liabilities? FTHR 2B s fE?
Amendments to IFRS 7 Mandatory Effective Date of IFRS 9 and BB R REER BRI ERE LR E R
and IFRS 9 Transition Disclosures® FTRREREE  RHENE R RREE
HEERE O FEs
ZIER]
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments® BT mEER  BETAS
Fo5k
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements? BB  SGAMK@RE?
F 105
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements? BIRRBIRS RS ER  BATH
F115%
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities? BERIEREER  HtEREm I BE?
F 125
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement? BB SRR AT{EFE?
E135%
Amendments to I1AS 1 Presentation of Items of Other e A A HE2mEBAIEER 2®S
Comprehensive Income® F15% 28]
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax — Recovery of Underlying Hr et EIERITE — WEEEEE
Assets* FA2% 2 BT
IAS 19 (as revised in 2011)  Employee Benefits? =] REREH2
F195%
=
IIERT)
IAS 27 (as revised in 2011)  Separate Financial Statements? il | B RE2
F 275
i e
IIERT)
IAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint B &t REBENT R A
Ventures? 085
(R=F—=%
Z«({/ ET)
Amendments to IAS 32 Offsetting Finance Assets and Financial BIp et A BETBEERTEARS
Liabilities® F 22 IEET
IFRIC-Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase BRI BRERE BAERSLEERBRZAHF
of a Surface Mine? Z88 DN
—RREE20%
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011. 1 R=B——F LAz RARIEES
A Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 2 ;i%% —=F—A—HBg82ERRZEEH
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015. 3 ;i%%z —HFE—RB—H=sizBRBZz2EEH
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012. 4 ;i%%l ——F— BB BRARZEEH
5 Effective for annual periods beginning‘on or after 1 July 2012. 5 ;ﬂz%% ——E+ A Bz BB EEH
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. 6 ;i%% —HmE—B-—HeiZ BRBZEER
FEﬁ/EEﬁ\T £
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49. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

184

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2012 (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets

The amendments-to IFRS 7 increase the disclosure requirements for
transactions involving transfers of financial assets. These amendments
are intended to provide greater transparency around risk exposures
when a financial asset is transferred but the transferor retains some
level of continuing exposure in the-asset: The amendments also require
disclosures where transfers of financial assets are not evenly distributed
throughout the period.

The directors anticipate that the application of the amendments to IFRS
7 will affect the Group’s disclosures regarding transfers of financial
assets in the future, if any.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 amended in
2010 includes the requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial liabilities and for derecognition.

Key requirements of IFRS 9 are described as follows:

° IFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement to be subsequently measured at amortised cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent reporting periods. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair values at the end
of subsequent reporting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9,
entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held
for trading) in other comprehensive income, with -only dividend
income generally recognised in profit or loss.
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49. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2012 (continued)

IFRS 9 financial Instruments (continued)

o The most significant effect of IFRS 9 regarding the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities relates to the presentation
of changes in the fair value of a financial liability (designated as
at fair value through profit or loss) attributable to-changes in the
credit risk of that liability. Specifically, under IFRS 9, for financial
liabilities that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss,
the amount of changes in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a
financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss. Previously, under IAS 39, the entire amount of the
change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as at
fair value through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of IFRS 9 in the future will not
have significant impact on amounts reported in respect of the Group’s
financial assets and financial liabilities.

New and revised standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued, including IFRS
10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12, IAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and IAS 28 (as
revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described below:

IFRS 10 replaces the parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements that deal with consolidated financial statements
and SIC 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 includes
a new definition of control that contains three elements: (a) power
over an investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to use its power over
the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. Extensive
guidance has been added in IFRS 10 to deal with complex scenarios.
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49. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
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STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2012 (continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures (continued)

IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC 13 Jointly
Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by Ventures. IFRS 11
deals with how a joint arrangement of which two or more parties have
joint control should be classified. Under IFRS 11, joint arrangements are
classified as joint operations or joint ventures, depending on the rights
and obligations of the parties to the arrangements. In contrast, under
IAS 31, there are three types of joint arrangements: jointly controlled
entities, jointly controlled assets and jointly controlled operations.

In addition, joint ventures under IFRS 11 are required to be accounted
for using the equity method-of accounting, whereas jointly controlled
entities under IAS 31 can be accounted for using the equity method
of accounting, whereas jointly controlled entities under IAS 31 can be
accounted for using the equity method of accounting or proportionate
accounting.

IFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that
have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/
or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in IFRS 12 are more extensive than those in the current
standards.

These five standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 April 2013. Earlier application is permitted provided that all of
these five standards are applied early at the same time.

The directors anticipate that these five standards will be adopted in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual period
beginning 1 April 2013 but is not yet in a position to state whether
they would have a significant impact on its results of performance and
financial position.
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49. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2012 (continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax — Recovery of
Underlying Assets

The amendments to IAS 12 provide an exception to the general
principles in IAS 12 that the measurement of deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities should reflect the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the entity expects to recover the
carrying amount of an asset. Specifically, under the amendments,
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model
in accordance with IAS 40 Investment Property are presumed to be
recovered through sale. for the purposes of measuring deferred taxes,
unless the presumption is rebutted in certain circumstances.

The amendments to IAS 12 are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2012. The directors anticipate that the application
of the amendments to IAS 12 in future reporting periods may result
in immaterial adjustments to the amounts of deferred tax liabilities
recognised in prior years regarding the Group’s investment properties
of which the carrying amounts are presumed to be recovered through
sale.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
other new and revised IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Five Years Financial Summary

EFEBERE

For the year ended 31 March 2012 HiE - ——F=A=+—RHILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (VA& # 271))

RESULTS 4
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1t—HLFE
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
—B——F .- ZZT-FTF TTNEF ZFT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT BT BT IT BT
Revenue WA 115,616 866,655 342,580 178,061 222,854
(Loss)/profit attributable to the ZxA Bl S AFE(S
owners of the Company. (E518), %A (2,327,909) 341,486 273,303 (12,707) (112,892)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 March
=B =
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
SRR AT s SR s N
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T BT BT BT BT T
Total assets BEE 1,727,833 4,186,991 3,338,236 237,960 L3565 32
Total liabilities wafE 852,438 930,622 831,606 57,618 1,283,928
Net assets FEE 875,395 3,256,369 2,506,630 180,342 1,077,604
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to the ZiN/NGIE 2PN
owners of the Company FEfh R 875,309 3,256,293 2,506,568 166,228 658,187
Non-controlling interests eI IR AR R 86 76 62 14,114 419,417
Total equity “arER 875,395 3,256,369 2,506,630 180,342 1,077,604
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